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Distributions Declared		

144,586
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123,552

p
p
p
p
p
p
p

Excellent safety record
Industry-leading flight completion rate
Record passenger load factors
Solid cost control initiatives
Robust information management, communication and maintenance systems
Strong demand for aircraft charter services
Consistent monthly cash distributions

Aiming Higher
Jazz is Canada’s airline, operating more flights and flying to more Canadian
destinations than any other. Under a long-term Capacity Purchase Agreement
(CPA) with Air Canada, we act as a contract carrier operating flights on
Air Canada’s behalf to and from smaller communities across North America,
as well as larger centres during off-peak times.
Our long-term agreement with Air Canada provides a stable and sustainable
source of distributable cash for our Unitholders. Looking ahead, our focus
is to build on this solid foundation by strengthening and expanding our
relationship with Air Canada while growing our business in other areas that
capitalize on the considerable experience and expertise of our people.
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jazz at a glance

employees

4900

Our technical
	operations team
is highly skilled in
the maintenance
and modification
of regional aircraft.

9.7 M

pa s s e n g e r s
carried

We’re
on solid
ground
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Jazz is Canada’s largest
regional carrier

An integral part of Air
Canada’s network strategy

Jazz is the second largest airline
in Canada, and the country’s
largest regional carrier.

Under our long-term agreement
with Air Canada, we act as a
contract carrier whereby Air Canada
purchases substantially all of our
fleet capacity at predetermined rates.

We cover Canada and the United
States like no other regional carrier,
and operate to more Canadian
destinations than any other airline.
Jazz’s dedicated team of more
than 4,900 employees and its
fleet of 137 Dash 8 aircraft and
Canadair Regional Jets serve over
80 destinations in North America
with more than 810 weekday
departures.
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For Air Canada, the agreement
provides commercial flexibility,
lower costs, and connecting traffic
to main airport hubs. For Jazz,
the agreement reduces our business
and financial risk, generates
predictable and sustainable longterm cash flow, and provides a solid
foundation on which we can grow
our business going forward.

	

At Jazz, we have
considerable
expertise and
proven success
at designing,
managing and
operating a regional
airline business.

137
aircraft
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Proven expertise in the
regional airline industry

A leading provider of
charter services

A skilled
operations team

The global regional airline business
continues to grow as large network
carriers increasingly focus on
travel between major cities and
concentrate their operations in
fewer hub destinations.

Our Jazz charter service is
dedicated to providing customized
and flexible transportation services
that meet the needs of a diverse
clientele including corporations,
sports teams, incentive travel and
a host of others.

Our technical operations team
performs regional jet and
turboprop line maintenance,
heavy maintenance and
modifications for our fleet as
well as for other airlines, aircraft
manufacturers and lessors.

At Jazz, we have considerable
expertise and proven success at
designing, managing and operating
a regional airline business, providing
safe, convenient and affordable
service over short and medium
routes connecting smaller cities
to larger centres and hub airports.

Jazz’s charter aircraft deliver costeffective travel to locations less
served by commercial airlines while
reducing travel time and potentially
avoiding overnight accommodation
and other costs.
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building on opportunity

We’re positioned
for growth
At Jazz, we are focused on growing our business prudently
and responsibly by capitalizing on the proven experience,
success and expertise of our more than 4,900 professionals.
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components
of our strategy
for growth

A stable
growth platform
Under our long-term Capacity Purchase Agreement
with Air Canada, Jazz is protected from many of the
business risks associated with operating an airline,
including fluctuating revenues from ticket sales,
passenger load factors, fuel costs, airport charges and
uncontrollable cancelled flights. The CPA provides Jazz
with stable, sustainable and predictable cash flows while
also generating profit opportunities through incentive
payments for on-time performance, flight completion,
baggage handling and customer satisfaction.

Relationships with
other airlines
Jazz is not restricted from participating in additional
capacity purchase agreements with other airlines.
The opportunity exists to develop similar arrangements
with other large network carriers looking to capitalize
on our proven success and significant expertise in
operating regional airline services.

Expanding our
charter services
A wide range of enterprises and institutions are
increasingly recognizing that aircraft charter services
can provide a cost-effective and more efficient means
of transportation. Jazz is committed to expanding our
charter business by providing the highest levels of safety,
service and performance to our growing list of clients.

Regional airline
consulting services
As one of the world’s largest regional airlines,
Jazz can provide consulting services to other regional
airlines in a number of areas, including airline and
aircraft start-up, management and operations. As the
aviation industry’s fastest growing sector, regional
airlines around the world are looking for proven
expertise to help build their business.

A full range of
airline services
Jazz has built a highly skilled and experienced team
of professionals dedicated to safety, quality and
operational excellence. Capitalizing on this expertise,
we can provide numerous services to the global
aviation industry, including ground handling, regulatory
and non-regulatory operations training, airline and
aircraft start-up assistance, flight dispatch services,
maintenance, repair and overhaul services, and a
wealth of other offerings.
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report to unitholders

D. Randell
P Joseph
President and Chief Executive Officer

We’re looking
beyond
2008 was another year of solid operating and
financial performance as once again we achieved
all of our stated goals and objectives. Importantly,
we took a number of steps to build on the strong
foundation provided by our relationship with
Air Canada, to reduce our costs, and position
us for growth in the years ahead.

Solid performance
Operating revenues increased 9.4% for the
year ended December 31, 2008, primarily
due to a 1.0% increase in billable block
hours and a 20.1% increase in pass-through
costs. Performance incentives paid under
our Capacity Purchase Agreement with
Air Canada were relatively stable during
the year at $15.7 million or 1.7% of Jazz’s
Scheduled Flights Revenue. This represents
71% of the maximum incentives available
under the CPA contract, in line with the
78% performance achieved in 2007.
Importantly, other revenues rose by 61.9%
to $13.4 million in 2008, driven primarily by
new ground handling contracts and record
revenues from our expanding air charter
services. One of our key objectives going
forward is to leverage the significant
expertise and skills of our people to build
revenues outside the CPA, and we saw
progress in 2008.

In light of the changing business and
economic environment experienced during
the last half of the year, our focus on cost
reductions took on a fresh urgency, and we
were pleased that controllable cost reduction
initiatives implemented and identified during
2008 resulted in annualized savings of just
under $7.0 million. Our continuing efforts to
monitor and improve our fuel management
processes also resulted in savings of
approximately $8.0 million through fuel
consumption reduction initiatives in 2008.
These achievements bode well for continued
solid cash flow performance going forward.

jazz growth
strategy

To realize its potential,
Jazz must look beyond
the domestic market.

2008 was also another year in which we
met our commitment to Unitholders. Our
payout ratio was 85.5% for the year as we
continue to distribute $1.01 per unit annually.
In addition, with the completion of ACE
Aviation’s disposition of its remaining
ownership in Jazz in 2008, Jazz is now a
widely held public income trust generating
a significant yield for investors.

The process
has started

We made solid progress
during 2008 in building
business outside our
CPA with Air Canada,
including new ground
handling contracts and
record revenues in
our charter service.
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“	

Our long-term CPA with Air Canada provides
Jazz and its Unitholders with a very stable
foundation on which to build our business
going forward.

”

A key factor driving our solid financial
performance is the continued commitment
by everyone at Jazz to operate safely,
efficiently, reliably and profitably while at
the same time providing our customers with
the highest levels of service. Despite the
challenging economic environment and more
severe weather than we have experienced
in years, our people delivered on these
goals, and we were very proud to be among
the best North American regional airlines
in controllable on-time performance and
controllable flight completion during the year.

Building on a stable foundation
Our long-term CPA with Air Canada provides
Jazz and its Unitholders with a very stable
foundation on which to build our business
going forward. As Canada’s largest regional
carrier, we play a unique and integral role
in Air Canada’s network strategy, essentially
acting as a contract carrier serving markets
that do not have sufficient passenger traffic
to support Air Canada’s larger aircraft,
while at the same time offering greater flight
frequency in high-density markets with our
smaller aircraft and lower costs. Our pointto-point service on lower-density routes also
provides additional convenience as customers
can bypass busy hub airports.
For our Unitholders, Jazz is protected from
the cost volatility that has impacted so many
of our competitors, including such items as
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fuel and airport fees. These costs are
passed directly through to Air Canada
and fully recovered by Jazz. The agreement
also provides guarantees on the use of the
covered aircraft, and runs for another seven
years with options for further extension.
In short, the CPA protects our cash flows,
provides stability of our cash distributions,
and gives us a solid foundation for our
business to grow.

A changing environment
It is no secret that the economic and credit
market crisis experienced during the last
half of 2008 has affected the global airline
business, and Jazz is no exception.
In reaction to this changing environment,
we have taken a number of steps to further
reduce our costs and enhance our operating
efficiency. With Air Canada’s announcement
of a reduced schedule, we adjusted our
controllable costs primarily through workforce
reductions that were accomplished mainly
with mitigation programs. In addition,
we implemented a freeze on all hiring and
overtime, unless critical to our operations,
and suspended all non-regulatory training.
We also continue to review all of our
overhead and operating costs with a view
to finding additional reductions and
efficiencies going forward.

9.4%

increase
i n o p e r at i n g
revenues

Despite these changing dynamics, the
regional airline business remains one of the
strongest segments of the North American
aviation industry. As large network carriers
react to the reduced economic outlook,
they are further narrowing their focus on
scheduled flights to large cities, reducing
the number of shorter haul flights, and
concentrating their operations in fewer hub
destinations. As a result, demand for regional
airline services to carry passengers between
the network carriers’ major centres and
smaller outlying cities, as well as between
cities to bypass busy hubs, remains robust.
Regional airlines like Jazz also offer
significantly lower operating and aircraft trip
costs compared to those incurred by the
network carriers. Over the last decade,
regional airlines have accounted for an
increasing percentage of the US domestic
air travel business, and we are confident
this market share will continue to grow
over the long term, both in Canada and
the United States.

Positioned for the future
A number of achievements accomplished
during the year position us strongly for
continued progress in the years ahead.
We completed the second phase in the
implementation of our new maintenance
and engineering software system in 2008.
This new, fully integrated solution provides

significant enhancements in such areas as
inventory and supply management,
maintenance operations, ground support
equipment, record keeping and document
control, and much more. The new system
will improve our processes and procedures,
reduce costs, and deliver a “world-class”
maintenance and support program.
We implemented a new, more efficient
corporate safety structure and organization
by integrating all safety and quality-related
functions across our entire organization.
The initiative has allowed us to increase
our focus on safety and concentrate on
specific areas where improvements are
needed. Ultimately, we will realize improved
processes and procedures as well as
reduced costs and greater consistency.
To further enhance our proactive approach
to safety, we completed the third of four
phases in implementing Transport Canada’s
Safety Management System (SMS) to provide
for goal setting, planning and identifying
standard safety procedures in all areas of
our business. This new approach has already
generated a number of benefits, such as an
approximate 60% reduction in bridge damage
in 2008 through the use of new Mobile Bridge
Adapters for our regional jet aircraft.
All clear

In reaction to the changing
economic environment
experienced late in 2008,
we have taken a number
of steps to further reduce
our costs and enhance
our operating efficiency.
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96 %

of jazz employees
are unitholders

Another significant accomplishment in 2008
was the successful testing of our new
alternate Systems Operations Control Centre,
a key component of our business continuity
plan designed to ensure we have systems
in place should any disruption occur to
our main Halifax operations site. In keeping
with our goal to strengthen our operational
foundation, we also installed a new
information system data centre with its
own back-up system. These new, fully
redundant locations are a vital part of our
high availability systems strategy to support
operations. In order to provide more robust
and reliable information services while
reducing overall costs we have implemented
server “virtualization.” Virtualization allowed
Jazz to eliminate multiple larger physical
servers throughout the company and replace
them with ’virtual’ servers. By eliminating
the number of physical servers, we reduced
costs associated with data centre space,
power and cooling, server administration,
and the capital costs for replacing these
servers at the end of their five-year lifespan.
2008 was another year in which we
also met our commitment to our people.
Through our new Jazz Snapshot sessions,
we communicated directly and in-person with
more than 70% of our employees to update
them on developments at their airline and to
further engage them in our plans for the future.
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We launched a universal email system for
all frontline employees, and developed our
new JazzNet intranet to ensure all of our
people remain connected and up to date
on all developments at Jazz. Our Employee
Community Involvement Program continues
to be successful, another of our ongoing
commitments to remain an integral part of
the communities we serve. We also improved
our recruiting process and procedures to
attract and retain only the best people in our
industry. We were also pleased to further
align our employees with Unitholders through
a gift of 10 Jazz trust units to each employee
with more than one year of service. Currently,
over 90% of Jazz employees are Unitholders.

Solid growth opportunities
To capitalize on the long-term growth
opportunities in our markets, we have
developed a number of strategies aimed
at enhancing value for our Unitholders.
Our focus is to continue strengthening
our relationship with Air Canada through
the CPA while expanding our business in
other areas that leverage our considerable
skill and expertise in operating a regional
airline business.

“	

Our focus is to continue strengthening our
relationship with Air Canada through the CPA
while expanding our business in other areas that
leverage our considerable skill and expertise in
operating a regional airline business.

”

First, we will continue to work with
Air Canada to increase their utilization
of Jazz services and network capabilities
under our CPA while maximizing the
incentive payments we receive for our
industry-leading operating performance.
Second, our charter business, which
operates outside the scope of our CPA,
provides a significant opportunity to increase
revenues. With the addition of two Dash
8-300s to our charter fleet, we are expanding
our charter services in a number of client
segments and geographic markets.
Third, at Jazz we possess a highly skilled
workforce trained in the operation of one
of the world’s largest fleets of regional
aircraft. The regional market is growing, and
with our operations close to major potential
customers, there is a strong opportunity to
capitalize on the capacity and skills of our
technical operations team.
Finally, we are always looking for new
strategic partners to expand our services
and operations. New capacity purchase
agreements or extended charter agreements
with other airlines, both inside and outside
of North America, provide an opportunity
for growth. In addition, the opportunity exists
to provide various consulting and operating
services to other airline operators to build
our revenues over the long term.

Looking ahead
Our goals going forward remain consistent
with our past success. We will continue to
deliver on our commitments outlined under
the CPA with Air Canada while maintaining
our focus on operational efficiency and
reducing our costs. At the same time, we will
invest to grow other business opportunities,
and will remain very disciplined as we
diversify Jazz.
In closing, I would like to thank everyone
at Jazz for their ongoing hard work and
dedication. In our fast-changing business,
it is the effort and professionalism of our
entire team that continues to deliver the
strong operating and financial performance
demanded by our customers and our
Unitholders. Looking ahead, I am excited
about our future and confident in our ability
to maintain this strong track record.

Joseph D. Randell
President and Chief Executive Officer
Moving forward

Once again in 2008,
we were among the
best North American
regional airlines in
on-time performance,
helping us to maximize
our incentive revenues
and drive growth
going forward.
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chairman’s message

We’re building on
a solid foundation
We remain confident that Jazz is well positioned
to generate stable performance through the economic
challenges currently being experienced. More importantly,
your management team is taking a number of steps
to enhance Jazz’s presence and to capitalize on
opportunities for growth in the years ahead.
I am pleased to present my first Letter
to Unitholders as Chairman of Jazz Air
Income Fund.

achievements and I commend the great
people at Jazz for keeping safety and
customer service as their top priorities.

Despite the significant cost challenges
faced through the first half of the year, Jazz
generated another year of solid operating
and financial performance in 2008. Revenues
derived from our unique relationship with
Air Canada, the foundation of our business,
remained strong, while revenues outside of
this agreement rose. Management is evolving
a number of strategies to further build
business, and progress on this front was
made during the year.

Looking ahead, we remain confident that
continuing to focus on the long-term growth
opportunities will build a stronger Jazz in the
future. We are strengthening our relationship
with Air Canada by examining ways they can
increase their utilization of our services and
capabilities. We have expanded our charter
fleet, growing this aspect of our business.
We are leveraging the skills and experience
of our people to build our presence in
the market, and looking for additional
growth opportunities through new strategic
partnerships, new contracts, and consulting
and operating services.

In response to the economic slowdown,
Air Canada actively managed down their
network capacity resulting in a reduced
demand for Jazz services. I am pleased
to report that management, in cooperation
with collective bargaining units, proactively
implemented mitigating strategies to
effectively right-size the organization while
minimizing layoffs. Steps were also taken
to reduce costs and enhance operating
efficiency. We also realized cost
improvements while at the same time
generating an industry-leading controllable
flight completion rate, and leading all
North American regional airlines in ontime performance. These were significant
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In closing, on behalf of the Board I would
like to thank the employees and management
of Jazz for their outstanding efforts in a most
tumultuous year in our industry. We look
forward to building on our relationship with
Air Canada and developing new opportunities
for expansion and growth.

Richard H. McCoy
Chairman

corporate governance

Boards of Directors and Trustees

Left to right: Richard H. McCoy, G. Ross MacCormack,
John T. McLennan, Katherine M. Lee, Bryan L. Rishforth,
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The following management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) of Jazz Air Income Fund (the “Fund”)
and Jazz Air LP (“Jazz” or the “Partnership”) is prepared as at February 10, 2009 and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements of Jazz Air Income Fund and the notes therein for the year ended December 31, 2008 and the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements of Jazz Air LP and the notes therein for the year ended December 31, 2008. The audited consolidated financial
statements of Jazz Air Income Fund and Jazz Air LP are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in Canada.
The Fund is entirely dependent upon the operations and financial condition of Jazz. The earnings and cash flows of Jazz are affected by certain risks.
For a description of those risks, please refer to page 42 – Risk Factors.
This MD&A is in all material respects in accordance with the recommendations provided in the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”)
publication, Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and Other Flow-Through Entities: Guidance on Preparation and Disclosure.
Except where the context otherwise requires, all monetary amounts are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars.
For further information on the Fund’s public disclosure file, including the Fund’s annual information form, please consult SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Caution regarding forward-looking information
Forward-looking statements are included in this MD&A. These forward-looking statements are identified by the use of terms and phrases such as
“anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “predict”, “project”, “will”, “would”, and similar terms and phrases, including
references to assumptions. Such statements may involve but are not limited to comments with respect to strategies, expectations, planned operations
or future actions.
Forward-looking statements relate to analyses and other information that are based on forecasts of future results, estimates of amounts not yet
determinable and other uncertain events. Forward-looking statements, by their nature, are based on assumptions, including those described below,
and are subject to important risks and uncertainties. Any forecasts or forward-looking predictions or statements cannot be relied upon due to,
amongst other things, changing external events and general uncertainties of the business. Such statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed in the forwardlooking statements. Results indicated in forward-looking statements may differ materially from actual results for a number of reasons, including without
limitation, energy prices, general industry, market and economic conditions, competition, insurance issues and costs, supply issues, war, terrorist attacks,
epidemic diseases, acts of God, changes in demand due to the seasonal nature of the business, the ability to reduce operating costs and employee
counts, employee relations, labour negotiations or disputes, restructuring, pension issues, currency exchange and interest rates, changes in laws, adverse
regulatory developments or proceedings, pending and future litigation and actions by third parties, as well as the factors identified throughout this MD&A
and in, particular, the Risk Factors section of this MD&A. The forward-looking statements contained in this discussion represent Jazz’s expectations as of
February 10, 2009, and are subject to change after such date. However, Jazz disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required under applicable securities regulations.
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Overview
Jazz Air Income Fund
The Fund is an unincorporated, open-ended trust
established under the laws of the Province of Ontario
by a declaration of trust dated November 25, 2005 and
amended by an amended and restated declaration of
trust dated January 24, 2006 (the “Fund Declaration of
Trust”). The Fund qualifies as a “mutual fund trust” for
the purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada). The principal
and head office of the Fund is located at 1000 de la
Gauchetière Street West, Suite 2100, Montréal, Québec
H3B 4W5. The Fund has been established to acquire
and hold, directly or indirectly, investments in Jazz and
its general partner Jazz Air Holding GP Inc. (“Jazz GP”),
a regional airline, and such other investments as the
trustees of the Fund (the “Trustees”) may determine.
Jazz Air LP
Jazz is the largest regional airline and the second largest
airline in Canada after Air Canada, based on fleet size and
number of routes operated. Jazz forms an integral part of
Air Canada’s domestic and transborder market presence
and strategy. Jazz and Air Canada are parties to the Capacity
Purchase Agreement (“CPA”), pursuant to which Air Canada
currently purchases substantially all of Jazz’s fleet capacity
based on predetermined rates. Under the CPA, Jazz provides
service to and from lower density markets as well as higher
density markets at off-peak times throughout Canada and
to and from certain destinations in the United States.
Jazz operates scheduled passenger service on behalf of
Air Canada with approximately 817 departures per weekday
to 56 destinations in Canada, and 30 destinations in the
United States, with an operating fleet of 133 Covered
Aircraft as of December 31, 2008. Jazz and Air Canada
have linked their regional and mainline networks in order to
serve connecting passengers more efficiently and to provide
valuable traffic feed to Air Canada’s mainline routes.
Under the CPA, Jazz operates flights on behalf of
Air Canada at set rates which are paid to Jazz based
on a variety of different metrics that are substantially
independent of Passenger Load Factor. Air Canada
controls and is responsible for scheduling, pricing,

product distribution, seat inventories, marketing and
advertising and customer service handling at certain airports
staffed or administered directly by Air Canada. Air Canada
is entitled to all revenues associated with the operation of the
Covered Aircraft on the schedule specified by Air Canada.
Under the CPA, Jazz is paid fees based on a variety of
different metrics, including Block Hours flown, cycles (number
of take-offs and landings) and passengers carried, in addition
to certain variable and fixed aircraft ownership rates. Also,
Jazz is entitled to repayment of certain pass-through costs
specified in the CPA, including fuel, navigation, landing and
terminal fees and certain other costs. Jazz is also eligible to
receive incentive payments for successfully achieving certain
performance levels on a quarterly basis related to on-time
performance, controllable flight completion, baggage handling
performance and overall customer satisfaction.
Pursuant to the terms of the CPA, Jazz and Air Canada
agreed to re-set detailed rates (subject to the terms of
the contract, including the controllable target margin
requirements described generally in page 34 – Economic
Dependence) applicable to the period commencing on
January 1, 2009 and ending on December 31, 2011.
Subsequent to December 31, 2008, Jazz successfully
reached an agreement with Air Canada regarding the
establishment of new rates for Controllable Costs that will
become payable by Air Canada under the CPA in the next
three-year period (2009 to 2011, inclusive). The new rates
are retroactive to January 1, 2009.
Jazz is directly affected by the financial and operational
strength of Air Canada and its competitive position. For
further discussion, please see page 42 – Risk Factors.
Jazz has historically experienced greater demand for its
services in the second and third quarters of the calendar
year and lower demand in the first and fourth quarters of
the calendar year. This demand pattern is principally a result
of the high number of leisure travelers and their preference
for travel during the spring and summer months, thereby
increasing the flying hour requirements of Air Canada. Jazz
has substantial fixed costs that do not meaningfully fluctuate
with passenger demand in the short-term. Jazz revenues
under the CPA do not fluctuate significantly with Passenger
Load Factors (refer to page 34 – Economic Dependence for
further discussion of the CPA).
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Organizational structure
The following chart illustrates, on a simplified basis, the structure of the Fund (including the jurisdictions of establishment and
incorporation of the various entities) and the indirect investment by the Fund in Jazz as at December 31, 2008.

Public

100%

Jazz Air Income Fund
(Ontario)

100%
Jazz Air Trust

100%

(Ontario)

99.999999186%

On January 24, 2008, ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. (“ACE”)
sold 13,000,000 Units, thereby reducing its ownership in
the Fund to 9.5% of the issued and outstanding Units.
As a result, ACE no longer had the ability to appoint the
majority of the board of directors of Jazz GP pursuant to
the Securityholders’ Agreement among the Fund, the Trust,
the Partnership, Jazz GP and ACE (the “Securityholders’
Agreement”). The Securityholders’ Agreement was
terminated by agreement among the parties effective as
of February 7, 2008.
On May 28, 2008, ACE sold its remaining 11,726,920 Units
and, to the knowledge of the Fund, presently retains no
ownership interest in the Fund.
Distribution Policy
The Fund intends to make distributions of its available cash
(based on distributions received indirectly from Jazz) to the
holders of Units (“Unitholders”) (refer to Caution regarding
forward-looking information and page 42 – Outlook). Any
such distributions will be made to Unitholders of record on
the last business day of each month, within 15 days of the
end of each month, net of estimated cash amounts required
for expenses and other obligations of the Fund, cash
redemptions or repurchases of Units, and any tax liability.
Distributions to the Unitholders declared amounted to
$30.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2008
($30.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2007)
and $123.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008
(2007 – $107.2 million).
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Jazz Air Holding GP Inc.
(Canada)

Jazz Air LP
(Québec)

0.000000814%

Distributions received by the Fund from Jazz, resulting from
its investment in LP Units and distributions payable by the
Fund to its Unitholders, are recorded when declared.
Jazz intends to make equal cash monthly distributions to the
holders of LP Units of record on the last business day of each
month, net of estimated cash amounts required for interest
expense and maintenance capital expenditures and other
obligations of Jazz (refer to Caution regarding forward-looking
information and page 42 – Outlook). In accordance with the
limited partnership agreement of Jazz, priority distributions are
to be made to the Fund in order to cover the Fund’s operating
expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2008, no
priority distributions were declared by Jazz, as no material
operating expenses were incurred by the Fund. Priority
distributions in the amount of $0.9 million declared in 2007
were paid to the Fund in the first quarter of 2008. The Fund
will reimburse Jazz from the proceeds of a priority distribution
once paid by Jazz.
The board of directors of Jazz GP periodically reviews cash
distributions in order to take into account Jazz’s current and
prospective performance.

Reconciliation of the Jazz Air Income Fund consolidated statement of income (loss)
		

Year ended December 31, 2008

		
			 Consolidated
			
Jazz	Fund	Statement
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 		
$
$
$

Operating revenue		
Operating expenses
Salaries, wages and benefits
Aircraft fuel
Depreciation and amortization (1)
Aircraft maintenance		
Airport and navigation fees		
Aircraft rent
Terminal handling		
Other

1,636,289

–

1,636,289

345,210
430,216
30,409
129,533
199,419
127,758
107,345
118,128

–
–
42,100
–
–
–
–
–

345,210
430,216
72,509
129,533
199,419
127,758
107,345
118,128

Total operating expenses

1,488,018

42,100

1,530,118

148,271

(42,100)

106,171

(4,367)
182
(6,263)
–
(2,985)

98
–
–
(153,230)
–

(4,269)
182
(6,263)
(153,230)
(2,985)

Operating income (loss)
Non-operating expenses
Interest income (expense) (2)		
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Foreign exchange		
Goodwill impairment loss (3)		
Loss on ABCP		
			

(13,433)

(153,132)

(166,565)

Income (loss) before future income taxes (4)		
Recovery of future income taxes		

134,838
–

(195,232)
50,984

(60,394)
50,984

Net income (loss) for the year

134,838

(144,248)

(9,410)

(1) The additional amortization in the Fund relates to a certain intangible asset. The CPA asset (the rights of Jazz under the CPA) was allocated a fair value in the
Fund’s step purchase of the LP during 2007. The value of the CPA is amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the agreement.
(2) The Fund earns income from the timing difference of when the distribution payments are transferred from the LP’s bank account to the Fund’s bank account
and when the Fund pays out distributions to Unitholders. Interest is also earned on the cumulative balance held in the Fund’s bank account.
(3) Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amounts allocated to the assets
acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values. The Fund’s goodwill arose as a result of its step purchase acquisition of the Partnership during 2007.
A full valuation was performed by third party valuators in the fourth quarter of 2007 and, as a result, fair values were allocated to all assets and liabilities at that
time. In accordance with Section 3064 of the CICA Handbook “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” goodwill is not amortized, rather, it is reviewed for impairment
annually, or more frequently, if facts and circumstances warrant a review.
At December 31, 2008 the Fund performed an impairment test of goodwill to compare its carrying value to fair value. The impairment test is based on a two step
process. In step one a fair value was determined using two different valuation methods, a market based approach and a Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) approach.
The market based approach derives a fair value based on the market capitalization of the Fund. The DCF approach analyzes future cash flows based on internally
developed forecasts and then discounts them based on an industry average weighted average cost of capital. Step one showed a carrying value that exceeded
fair value and as a result the Fund proceeded to perform step two.
Step two requires the fair value determined in step one to be allocated to each individual asset and liability (including any previously unrecognized intangible
assets), as it would be in a business combination. After performing this allocation there was no remaining fair value to be allocated to goodwill and as a result
the entire $153.2 million of goodwill was deemed to be impaired. The impairment loss has been recorded in non-operating expenses.
The circumstances that led to the impairment of goodwill are the challenges and uncertainties in the airline industry. The contributing factors are the deepening
recession in 2009, which is expected to put pressure on airline passenger and cargo revenues, the volatility of fuel prices, foreign exchange rates and interest
rates, the Fund’s economic dependence on Air Canada and tight credit markets.
In determining fair value, management relies on a number of factors including operating results, business plans, anticipated future cash flows and marketplace
data. There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and management’s judgment in applying them to the analysis of goodwill impairment.
(4) Beginning January 1, 2011 the Fund will become subject to income tax. The future tax expense or recovery is the change in the liability during the period based
on the changes of temporary differences during the period. For further explanation see page 36 – Critical Accounting Estimates.
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Performance indicators
Jazz uses certain non-GAAP financial measures, described
below, to evaluate operating performance, to measure
compliance with debt covenants and to make decisions
relating to distributions to unitholders. These measures are
not recognized for financial statement presentation under
Canadian GAAP, do not have a standardized meaning, and
are therefore not likely to be comparable to similar measures
presented by other public entities.
EBITDA
EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization and obsolescence) is a non-GAAP financial
measure commonly used throughout all industries to view
operating results before interest expense, interest income,
depreciation and amortization, gains and losses on property
and equipment and other non-operating income and
expense. Management believes EBITDA assists investors in
comparing Jazz’s performance on a consistent basis without
regard to depreciation and amortization, which are non-cash
in nature and can vary significantly depending on accounting
methods and non-operating factors such as historical cost.
EBITDA should not be used as an exclusive measure of cash
flow because it does not account for the impact of working
capital growth, capital expenditures, debt repayments and
other sources and uses of cash, which are disclosed in the
statements of cash flows.

Distributable cash
Distributable cash is a non-GAAP measure generally used
by Canadian open-ended trusts as an indication of financial
performance. It should not be seen as a measurement of
liquidity or a substitute for comparable metrics prepared in
accordance with GAAP. Distributable cash may differ from
similar calculations as reported by other entities and,
accordingly, may not be comparable to distributable
cash as reported by such entities.
Standardized distributable cash
Standardized distributable cash is a non-GAAP measure
recommended by the CICA in order to provide a consistent
and comparable measurement of distributable cash
across entities.
Standardized distributable cash is defined as cash flows from
operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAP,
less adjustments for:
• total capital expenditures as reported in accordance with
GAAP; and
• restrictions on distributions arising from compliance with
financial covenants applicable at the date of the calculation
of standardized distributable cash.

The following table provides a reconciliation of EBITDA and distributable cash of Jazz to operating income:
		

Three months ended December 31,

		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

Operating income
Depreciation and amortization

39,727
7,877

36,030
6,833

148,271
30,409

153,159
24,307

EBITDA
EBITDA margin (%) (1)

47,604
12.1

42,863
11.5

178,680
10.9

177,466
11.9

EBITDA
Non-operating expenses
Maintenance capital expenditures (2)

47,604
(4,808)
(5,399)

42,863
(932)
(8,875)

178,680
(13,433)
(20,661)

177,466
(2,505)
(23,679)

Distributable cash

37,397

33,056

144,586

151,282

(1) EBITDA margin is calculated as EBITDA divided by operating revenues.
(2) Refer to page 28 – Liquidity and Capital Resources for further discussion.
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Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to standardized distributable cash and distributable cash is as follows:
		

Three months ended December 31,

		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2008
$

2007
$

Year ended December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Maintenance capital expenditures, net of gain on disposal

32,616
(5,225)

4,346
(8,875)

155,903
(20,479)

143,767
(23,663)

Standardized distributable cash
Change in non-cash operating working capital (1)
Amortization of prepaid aircraft rent and related fees (1)
Unit based compensation(1)
Funding of unit based compensation, net of forfeitures (1)
Foreign exchange gain (loss)(1)
Unrealized loss on Asset Backed Commercial Paper (“ABCP”) (1)
Other (1)

27,391
14,183
(482)
(770)
20
(2,748)
–
(197)

(4,529)
36,597
(474)
(613)
12
662
(287)
1,688

135,424
18,025
(1,928)
(3,074)
1,831
(4,090)
(2,985)
1,383

120,104
31,530
(1,820)
(2,156)
1,695
947
(867)
1,849

Distributable cash

37,397

33,056

144,586

151,282

Distributions declared

30,888

30,888

123,552

123,552

112.7%

(682.0)%

91.2%

102.9%

82.6%

93.4%

85.5%

81.7%

Cumulative – since IPO
Standardized distributable cash 			
Distributable cash			
Distributions declared			
Standardized distributable cash payout ratio 			
Distributable cash payout ratio			

434,377
421,811
345,313
79.5%
81.9%

298,953
277,225
221,761
74.2%
80.0%

Payout ratio – distributions declared/standardized distributable cash
Payout ratio – distributions declared/distributable cash
(2)

(1) These items are adjustments made in reference to the definition of distributable cash in the limited partnership agreement of Jazz and relate to
timing differences.
(2) The period covered is from February 2, 2006, the IPO date.

The following table provides disclosure regarding the relationship between cash flows from operating activities and net income,
and historical distributed cash amounts.
		
		
		
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

		
Three months			
ended	Year ended
Year ended
December 31,	December 31, December 31,
2008
2008
2007
$
$
$

Period from
February 2,
2006 to
December 31,
2006(1)
$

Cash flows from operating activities

32,616

155,903

143,767

202,297

Net income

34,919

134,838

150,654

129,639

Cash distributions declared relating to the period

30,888

123,552

123,552

98,209

Excess of cash flows from operating activities
over cash distributions declared

1,728

32,351

20,215

104,088

Excess of net income over cash distributions declared

4,031

11,286

27,102

31,430

94.7%
88.5%

79.2%
91.6%

85.9%
82.0%

48.5%
75.8%

Payout ratios
Distributions declared/cash flows from operating activities
Distributions declared/net income
(1) Period covered is post February 2, 2006, the IPO date.
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Jazz financial HIGHLIGHTS
Operating revenue of $392.7 million and $1,636.3 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2008,
an increase of 5.5% and 9.4%, respectively.
Operating income of $39.7 million and $148.3 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2008, an increase
of 10.3% and a decrease of 3.2%, respectively.
EBITDA of $47.6 million and $178.7 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of
$4.7 million or 11.1%; and an increase of $1.2 million or 0.7%, respectively.
Distributable cash of $37.4 million and $144.6 million for the three months and year ended December 31, 2008, an increase
of $4.3 million and a decrease of $6.7 million, respectively.
Controllable Cost per Available Seat Mile (Controllable CASM) of 15.40¢ and 14.49¢ for the three months and year ended
December 31, 2008, an increase of 11.6% and 5.9%, respectively.
Key Financial Information
		

Three months ended December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

2008
$

2007
$

2006
$

Revenue
Operating income
Net income
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Long-term debt
Total long-term liabilities
EBITDA
Distributions declared
Distributable cash
Standardized distributable cash
Cash provided by operating activities
Per Proforma LP Unit (1)
Operating income
Net income
Distributions declared
Distributable cash
Standardized distributable cash

392,684
39,727
34,919
131,685
516,758
114,729
190,982
47,604
30,888
37,397
27,391
32,616

372,119
36,030
35,098
122,781
518,502
113,475
191,382
42,863
30,888
33,056
(4,529)
4,346

1,636,289
148,271
134,838
131,685
516,758
114,729
190,982
178,680
123,552
144,586
135,424
155,903

1,495,389
153,159
150,654
122,781
518,502
113,475
191,382
177,466
123,552
151,282
120,104
143,767

1,381,207
143,769
140,042
134,865
483,153
115,000
186,693
165,031
98,209
136,519
157,589
182,321

0.32
0.28
0.25
0.30
0.22

0.29
0.29
0.25
0.27
(0.04)

1.21
1.10
1.01
1.18
1.10

1.25
1.23
1.01
1.23
0.98

1.17
1.14
0.80
1.11
1.28

(1) Calculated on a proforma basis to include 122,865,144 LP Units for the period presented.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – fourth QUARTER ANALYSIS
The following table compares the results of operations of Jazz for the fourth quarter of 2008 to the fourth quarter of 2007.
		
		
		
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except earnings per unit)

Three months Three months
ended
ended
December 31, December 31,
2008
2007
$
$

Change
$

Change
%

Operating revenue
Operating expenses
Salaries, wages and benefits
Aircraft fuel
Depreciation and amortization
Aircraft maintenance
Airport and navigation fees
Aircraft rent
Terminal handling
Other

392,684

372,119

20,565

5.5

83,212
89,464
7,877
30,474
47,950
36,456
30,676
26,848

82,526
83,435
6,833
29,925
48,687
28,717
25,011
30,955

686
6,029
1,044
549
(737)
7,739
5,665
(4,107)

0.8
7.2
15.3
1.8
(1.5)
26.9
22.7
(13.3)

Total operating expenses

352,957

336,089

16,868

5.0

39,727

36,030

3,697

10.3

(1,174)
174
(3,808)
–

(260)
–
(385)
(287)

(914)
174
(3,423)
287

(351.5)
100.0
(889.1)
100.0

Operating income
Non-operating income (expenses)
Net interest expense
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Foreign exchange loss
Unrealized loss on Asset Backed Commercial Paper
		

(4,808)

(932)

(3,876)

(415.9)

Net income for the periods

34,919

35,098

(179)

(0.5)

0.28

0.29

(0.01)

(3.4)

Earnings per Unit, basic and diluted

Comparison of results – Fourth Quarter 2008
versus Fourth Quarter 2007
Jazz reported operating income of $39.7 million, an
increase of $3.7 million. EBITDA was $47.6 million,
an increase of $4.7 million or 11.1% (refer to page 18 –
“Performance Indicators”).
Total operating revenue increased by $20.6 million or 5.5%,
which primarily reflects a higher US dollar exchange rate and
an increase in fuel costs. Fuel costs are pass-through costs
under the CPA and therefore also recorded as revenue.
Operating expenses increased by $16.9 million or 5.0%.
Pass-through costs represented $6.8 million or 40.5% of
the total increase in operating costs. Pass-through costs rose
primarily as a result of higher fuel costs. Controllable Costs
(includes costs related to operations not covered under the
CPA) represented $10.0 million or 59.5% of the total increase
in operating costs, which rose primarily as a result of
increased costs related to depreciation, salaries, wages
and benefits, and aircraft rent.

Non-operating expenses amounted to $4.8 million, an
increase of $3.9 million. The change was mainly attributable
to increased net interest expense and a foreign exchange loss
arising as a result of the reduction in value of the Canadian
dollar relative to the US dollar.
Net income was $34.9 million, a decrease of $0.2 million.
Revenue performance – Fourth Quarter 2008
versus Fourth Quarter 2007
Operating revenue
Operating revenue increased from $372.1 million to
$392.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2008, representing an
increase of 5.5%. The increase in revenue can be primarily
attributed to a $6.8 million increase in pass-through costs
under the CPA, a higher US dollar exchange rate, no margin
adjustment recorded in the quarter due to the year-to-date
2008 performance being below the target margin of 14.09%,
(whereas, a margin adjustment was recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2007) and annual rate increases made pursuant
to the CPA.
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For the three-month period ended December 31, 2008, performance incentives payable by Air Canada to Jazz under the CPA
amounted to $3.6 million or 1.5% of Jazz’s Scheduled Flights Revenue. For the same period in 2007, performance incentives
under the CPA amounted to $4.0 million or 1.8% of Jazz’s Scheduled Flights Revenue.
Other revenue increased from $1.4 million to $3.7 million. Other revenue is earned from charter flights and other sources such
as groundhandling services.
Key statistical information is as follows:
		Three months Three months
		
ended
ended
		
December 31, December 31,
		
2008
2007

Number of Departures for the Period Ended
Block Hours for the Period Ended
Billable Block Hours
Passengers
Revenue Passenger Miles (RPMs) (000’s)
Available Seat Miles (ASMs) (000’s)
Passenger Load Factor (%)
Total Operating Expenses ($000’s)
Cost per Available Seat Mile (CASM) (¢)
Cost per Available Seat Mile Excluding Aircraft Fuel (¢)
Controllable Cost per Available Seat Mile (¢)
Number of Operating Aircraft (end of period) (1)

67,552
95,130
98,232
2,244,562
937,993
1,319,052
71.1
352,957
26.76
19.98
15.40
137

70,259
99,804
102,158
2,396,418
1,025,108
1,398,828
73.3
336,089
24.03
18.06
13.80
136

Variance
(absolute)

Variance
(%)

(2,707)
(4,674)
(3,926)
(151,856)
(87,115)
(79,776)
(2.2)
16,868
2.73
1.92
1.60
1

(3.9)
(4.7)
(3.8)
(6.3)
(8.5)
(5.7)
(3.0)
5.0
11.4
10.6
11.6
0.7

(1) Refer to page 41 – Fleet.

Cost performance – Fourth Quarter 2008
versus Fourth Quarter 2007
Operating expenses
Total operating expenses increased from $336.1 million to
$353.0 million, an increase of $16.9 million or 5.0%.
• Salaries, wages and benefits increased by $0.7 million due
to: increased maintenance FTE’s necessary to support the
ongoing heavy maintenance requirements, wage and scale
increases under collective agreements and severance;
offset by lower Block Hours for flight operations.
• Aircraft fuel costs increased by $6.0 million due to
an increase of $12.2 million in fuel price; offset by a
$6.2 million decrease in fuel usage related to Block Hours
and various fuel consumption reduction initiatives.
• Depreciation and amortization expense increased by
$1.0 million due to a change in accounting estimates
implemented during the second quarter of 2008 for aircraft
and certain flight equipment, and increased capital
expenditures on flight equipment.
• Aircraft maintenance expense increased by $0.5 million
as a result of: the effect of the increase in the US dollar
exchange rate on certain material purchases, supplies
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and contracts for $5.1 million, an increase in other
maintenance costs of $0.6 million; offset by insurance
claim credits primarily related to aircraft engine events
for $2.8 million, a reduction in Block Hours flown for
$1.4 million, and collection of penalties applicable to
certain supplier related contracts for $1.0 million.
• Airport and navigational fees decreased by $0.7 million
due to a decrease in airport fees for $0.2 million and a
decrease in navigational fees for $0.5 million as a result
of a decrease in departures of 3.9%; offset by a general
rate increase.
• Aircraft rent increased by $7.7 million mainly due to higher
US dollar exchange rates, the addition of one CRJ705 and
two new charter aircraft, and new lease arrangements with
respect to certain aircraft.
• Terminal handling costs increased by $5.7 million due
to an increase in de-icing costs and changes in aircraft
deployment by station which resulted in rate increases.
• Other expenses decreased by $4.1 million due to a
decrease in travel and training in pilot and maintenance
areas, uniform purchases, and other general
overhead expenses.

Jazz’s costs fall into two principal categories: (i) pass-through costs specified in the CPA, such as fuel, navigation, landing
and terminal fees and other costs; and (ii) Controllable Costs such as salaries, wages and benefits, aircraft maintenance,
materials and supplies, terminal handling services (with the exception of de-icing) and aircraft rent, which are borne by
Jazz, but for which Jazz indirectly recovers amounts from Air Canada in respect of these costs through the fees it charges
Air Canada under the CPA.
The following table presents Jazz’s operating costs in a format consistent with the definition of pass-through and Controllable
Costs as defined in the CPA:
		
		
		
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Three months Three months
ended
ended
December 31, December 31,
2008
2007
$
$

Change
$

Change
%

88,966
18,223
29,494
7,672
2,733
2,776

83,473
18,795
29,880
6,697
2,303
1,880

5,493
(572)
(386)
975
430
896

6.6
(3.0)
(1.3)
14.6
18.7
47.7

149,864

143,028

6,836

4.8

83,212
30,474
36,456
20,271
7,877
24,803

82,526
29,925
28,717
16,011
6,833
29,049

686
549
7,739
4,260
1,044
(4,246)

0.8
1.8
26.9
26.6
15.3
(14.6)

	Total Controllable Costs (3)

203,093

193,061

10,032

5.2

Total Operating Costs

352,957

336,089

16,868

5.0

Pass-through cost items
Fuel
Navigational fees
Airport user fees
De-icing (1)
Terminal handling (1)
Other (2)
	Total pass-through costs
Controllable Cost items
Salaries, wages and benefits
Aircraft maintenance, materials and supplies
Aircraft rent and other ownership costs
Terminal handling services (1)
Depreciation
Other (2)

(1) Included in terminal handling – refer to page 21 Results of Operations.
(2) Included in other – refer to page 21 Results of Operations.
(3) Included costs relating to operations that were not covered under the CPA, such as charter costs.
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Operating margin performance – Fourth Quarter 2008 versus Fourth Quarter 2007
Three months ended December 31, 2007

Three months ended December 31, 2008

			
	Operating	Operating			
		
Revenue	Expenses	Margin	Margin
Revenue
Expenses
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
$
$
$
%
$
$

Operating
Margin
$

Operating
Margin
%

CPA
Pass-throughs
Incentives
Other

235,450
149,864
3,621
3,749

200,350
149,864
–
2,743

35,100
–
3,621
1,006

14.9
–
100.0
26.8

223,720
143,028
4,016
1,355

192,071
143,028
–
990

31,649
–
4,016
365

14.1
–
100.0
26.9

		

392,684

352,957

39,727

10.1

372,119

336,089

36,030

9.7

The Controllable Adjusted Actual Margin was 14.91%, which
is greater than the target margin as established under the
CPA of 14.09% (refer to page 34 – Economic Dependence)
by 82 basis points, or approximately $1.9 million. This
compares to the fourth quarter of 2007 Controllable Adjusted
Actual Margin of 14.15%, which was approximately
$0.1 million greater than the target margin of 14.09%.
CPA revenue increased by 5.2% or $11.7 million as a result
of: no margin adjustment recorded in the quarter due to the
year-to-date 2008 performance being below the target margin
of 14.09% (a margin adjustment was recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2007); annual rate increases made pursuant to the
CPA and a higher US dollar exchange rate. CPA Controllable

Costs increased by 4.3%, or $8.3 million, as a result of
increases in all Controllable Cost expenses (refer to page 22
for discussion on quarter-over-quarter changes in operating
expenses). Quarter-over-quarter, the CPA generated an extra
$3.4 million in the Controllable Adjusted Actual Margin.
Jazz earned 65% of the incentives available under the
CPA, or $3.6 million, versus last year’s incentives of 76%
or $4.0 million. Incentives earned were lower, primarily as
a result of the consequential impact of inclement weather
conditions leading to lower on-time performance.
The margin on other revenue was earned from charter flights
and other sources such as ground handling services.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – year-to-date ANALYSIS
The following table compares the results of operations of Jazz for year ended December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2007.
		
		
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except earnings per unit)

Year ended
December 31,
2008
$

Year ended
December 31,
2007
$

Change
$

Change
%

Operating revenue
Operating expenses
Salaries, wages and benefits
Aircraft fuel
Depreciation and amortization
Aircraft maintenance
Airport and navigation fees
Aircraft rent
Terminal handling
Other

1,636,289

1,495,389

140,900

9.4

345,210
430,216
30,409
129,533
199,419
127,758
107,345
118,128

335,162
320,463
24,307
119,486
198,249
126,999
99,403
118,161

10,048
109,753
6,102
10,047
1,170
759
7,942
(33)

3.0
34.2
25.1
8.4
0.6
0.6
8.0
(0.0)

Total operating expenses

1,488,018

1,342,230

145,788

10.9

148,271

153,159

(4,888)

(3.2)

(4,367)
182
(6,263)
(2,985)

(1,354)
16
(300)
(867)

(3,013)
166
(5,963)
(2,118)

(222.5)
1,037.5
(1,987.7)
(244.3)

Operating income
Non-operating income (expenses)
Net interest expense
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Foreign exchange loss
Unrealized loss on Asset Backed Commercial Paper
		

(13,433)

(2,505)

(10,928)

(436.2)

Net income for the period

134,838

150,654

(15,816)

(10.5)

1.10

1.23

(0.13)

(10.6)

Earnings per Unit, basic and diluted
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Comparison of results – 2008 versus 2007
Jazz reported operating income of $148.3 million, a
decrease of $4.9 million. EBITDA was $178.7 million,
an increase of $1.2 million or 0.7% (refer to page 18 –
“Performance Indicators”).
Total operating revenue was up $140.9 million or 9.4%, which
reflects a 1.0% increase in the Billable Block Hours and an
increase in pass-through costs, including fuel costs, which
under the CPA are recorded as revenue.
Operating expenses increased by $145.8 million or 10.9%.
Pass-through costs represented $111.8 million or 76.7% of
the total increase in operating costs. Pass-through costs rose
primarily as a result of the rise in fuel prices and increased
de-icing costs due to inclement weather conditions.
Controllable Costs (includes costs related to operations not
covered under the CPA) represented $34.0 million or 23.3%
of the total increase in operating costs, which rose primarily
as a result of increased costs related to aircraft maintenance,
depreciation, and salaries, wages and benefits.
Non-operating expenses were $13.4 million in 2008, an
increase of $10.9 million. The change is mainly attributable
to increased net interest expense resulting from lower interest
income, a foreign exchange loss arising as a result of the
reduction in value of the Canadian dollar relative to the
US dollar, and a fair value adjustment related to ABCP (refer
to page 32 – Financial Instruments and Risk Management).

Net income for 2008 was $134.8 million compared to
$150.7 million recorded in 2007, a decrease of $15.8 million.
Revenue performance – 2008 versus 2007
Operating revenue
Operating revenue increased from $1,495.4 million to
$1,636.3 million, representing an increase of 9.4%. The
increase in revenue can be primarily attributed to a 1.0%
increase in Billable Block Hours, a $111.8 million increase
in pass-through costs, no margin adjustment recorded due
to the year-to-date 2008 performance being below the target
margin of 14.09% (a margin adjustment was recorded in
respect of 2007), and annual rate increases made pursuant
to the CPA.
Performance incentives payable by Air Canada to Jazz
under the CPA amounted to $15.7 million or 1.7% of Jazz’s
Scheduled Flights Revenue. For the same period in 2007,
performance incentives payable by Air Canada to Jazz
amounted to $16.7 million or 1.8% of Jazz’s Scheduled
Flights Revenue.
Other revenue increased from $8.3 million to $13.4 million.
Other revenue is earned from charter flights and other
sources such as groundhandling services.

Key statistical information is as follows:
		
		
		

Number of Departures for the Year
Block Hours for the Year
Billable Block Hours
Sector Passengers
Revenue Passenger Miles (RPMs) (000’s)
Available Seat Miles (ASMs) (000’s)
Passenger Load Factor (%)
Total Operating Expenses ($000’s)
Cost per Available Seat Mile (CASM) (¢)
Cost per Available Seat Mile Excluding Aircraft Fuel (¢)
Controllable Cost Per Available Seat Mile (¢)
Number of Operating Aircraft (end of year) (1)

Year ended
December 31,
2008

Year ended
December 31,
2007

Variance
(absolute)

Variance
(%)

286,820
401,041
410,764
9,718,207
4,104,053
5,657,022
72.5
1,488,018
26.30
18.70
14.49
137

284,949
401,134
406,821
9,734,161
4,265,577
5,740,616
74.3
1,342,230
23.38
17.80
13.68
136

1,871
(93)
3,943
(15,954)
(161,524)
(83,594)
(1.8)
145,788
2.92
0.90
0.81
1

0.7
(0.0)
1.0
(0.2)
(3.8)
(1.5)
(2.4)
10.9
12.5
5.1
5.9
0.7

(1) Refer to page 41 – Fleet.
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Cost performance – 2008 versus 2007
Operating expenses
Total operating expenses increased from $1,342.2 million
to $1,488.0 million, an increase of 10.9%.
• Salaries, wages and benefits increased by $10.0 million
due to: increased maintenance FTE’s and additional
overtime necessary to support the ongoing heavy
maintenance programs for $3.5 million, additional Billable
Block Hours and contractual increases related to flight
operations and inflight for $2.2 million, wage and scale
increases under collective agreements and additional
FTE’s in other areas for $3.2 million and severance for
$1.1 million.
• Aircraft fuel costs increased by $109.8 million due to
an increase of $119.1 million in fuel price, as the average
base price for jet fuel has risen versus 2007; offset by a
$1.3 million decrease in fuel usage related to changes in
aircraft deployment, and reduced fuel burn of $8.0 million
due to consumption reduction initiatives.
• Depreciation and amortization expense increased by
$6.1 million due to increased capital expenditures on flight
and ground equipment, the entering into of new capital
leases, and a change in accounting estimate implemented
during the second quarter of 2008 for aircraft and certain
flight equipment.
• Aircraft maintenance increased by $10.0 million as a result
of: an increase in maintenance material cost related to
heavy checks for $2.8 million, increased heavy
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maintenance outsourcing for $2.8 million, other unplanned
events to engines for $1.2 million, and $5.1 million in other
maintenance materials, supplies and contracts; offset by
a reduction in a valuation provision for Dash 8 rotable
inventory for $1.9 million.
• Airport and navigational fees increased by $1.2 million
due to an increase in airport fees for $3.3 million as a
result of a general rate increase and changes in aircraft
deployment; offset by a decrease in navigational fees for
$2.1 million as a result of increased transborder flying as
well as changes in aircraft deployment.
• Aircraft rent increased by approximately $0.8 million
mainly due to the addition of one CRJ705 and two charter
aircraft; offset by a lower US dollar exchange rate and
new lease arrangements with respect to certain aircraft.
• Terminal handling costs increased by $7.9 million due
primarily to an increase in de-icing costs for $3.4 million,
and $4.5 million due to changes in aircraft deployment
by station which resulted in rate increases.
• Other expenses were consistent with 2007.
Jazz’s costs fall into two principal categories: (i) pass-through
costs specified in the CPA, such as fuel, navigation, landing
and terminal fees and other costs; and (ii) Controllable Costs
such as salaries, wages and benefits, aircraft maintenance,
materials and supplies, terminal handling services (with the
exception of de-icing) and aircraft rent, which are borne by
Jazz but for which Jazz indirectly recovers amounts from
Air Canada in respect of these costs through the fees it
charges Air Canada under the CPA.

The following table presents Jazz’s operating costs in a format consistent with the definition of pass-through and Controllable
Costs as defined in the CPA:
		
		
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Year ended
December 31,
2008
$

Year ended
December 31,
2007
$

Change
$

Change
%

Pass-through cost items
Fuel
Navigational fees
Airport user fees
De-icing (1)
Terminal handling (1)
Other (2)

427,743
76,254
122,712
21,704
10,472
9,672

320,291
78,620
119,567
18,270
10,270
9,722

107,452
(2,366)
3,145
3,434
202
(50)

33.5
(3.0)
2.6
18.8
2.0
(0.5)

	Total pass-through costs

668,557

556,740

111,817

20.1

Controllable cost items
Salaries, wages and benefits
Aircraft maintenance, materials and supplies
Aircraft rent and other ownership costs
Terminal handling services (1)
Depreciation
Other (2)

345,210
129,533
127,758
75,169
30,409
111,382

335,162
119,486
126,999
70,863
24,307
108,673

10,048
10,047
759
4,306
6,102
2,709

3.0
8.4
0.6
6.1
25.1
2.5

	Total Controllable Costs (3)
Total Operating Costs

819,461

785,490

33,971

4.3

1,488,018

1,342,230

145,788

10.9

(1) Included in terminal handling – refer to page 24 Results of Operations.
(2) Included in other – refer to page 24 Results of Operations.
(3) Included costs relating to operations that were not covered under the CPA, such as charter costs.

Operating margin performance – 2008 versus 2007
Year ended December 31, 2007

Year ended December 31, 2008

			
	Operating	Operating			
		
Revenue	Expenses	Margin	Margin
Revenue
Expenses
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
$
$
$
%
$
$

Operating
Margin
$

Operating
Margin
%

CPA
Pass-throughs
Incentives
Other
		

938,643
668,557
15,650
13,439

809,193
668,557
–
10,268

129,450
–
15,650
3,171

13.8
–
100.0
23.6

913,617
556,740
16,730
8,302

780,771
556,740
–
4,719

132,846
–
16,730
3,583

14.5
–
100.0
43.2

1,636,289

1,488,018

148,271

9.1

1,495,389

1,342,230

153,159

10.2

The Controllable Adjusted Actual Margin was 13.79%, which
is less than the target margin, as established under the CPA
of 14.09% (refer to page 34 – Economic Dependence) by
30 basis points, or approximately $2.8 million. This compares
to the year ended 2007 Controllable Adjusted Actual Margin
of 14.54%, which was approximately $4.1 million greater than
the target margin of 14.09%.
CPA revenue increased by 2.7% or $25.0 million, as a result
of: no margin adjustment recorded due to the year-to-date
2008 performance being below the target margin of 14.09%
(a margin adjustment was recorded in 2007), annual rate
increases made pursuant to the CPA, increased Billable Block
Hours, and a change in the fleet mix due to the addition of
one CRJ705 in November 2007; offset by a lower US dollar

exchange rate. CPA Controllable Costs increased by 3.6%,
or $28.4 million as a result of increases in Controllable Cost
expenses (refer to page 26 for discussion on period-overperiod change in operating expenses). Period-over-period,
the CPA experienced a decrease of $3.4 million in the
Controllable Adjusted Actual Margin.
Jazz earned 71% of the incentives available under the
CPA or $15.7 million versus last year’s incentives of 78% or
$16.7 million. Incentives earned are lower, primarily as a result
of the consequential impact of inclement weather conditions
leading to lower on-time performance.
The margin on other revenue was earned from charter flights
and other sources such as ground handling services.
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Quarterly financial data
The table below describes quarterly financial results, as well as major operating statistics, of Jazz:
		
		

Operating revenue ($000)
Operating expenses ($000)
Operating income ($000)
Total non-operating
income (expense) ($000)
Net income ($000)
Net income per unit ($)(1)
Billable Block Hours
Revenue Passenger
Miles (000’s)
Available Seat Miles (000’s)
Passenger Load
Factor (%)
Cost per Available
Seat Mile (CASM) (¢)
CASM, excluding
fuel expense (¢)
Controllable CASM (¢)
Controllable Adjusted
Actual Margin (%)
EBITDA ($000)
Distributable Cash ($000)

Q1
2007

Q2
2007

Q3
2007

Q4
2007

Q1
2008

Q2
2008

Q3
2008

Q4
2008

364,176
327,841
36,335

375,320
335,419
39,901

383,774
342,881
40,893

372,119
336,089
36,030

396,361
362,004
34,357

409,805
380,988
28,817

437,439
392,069
45,370

392,684
352,957
39,727

(1,036)
35,299
0.29
97,711

649
40,550
0.33
100,318

(1,186)
39,707
0.33
106,634

(932)
35,098
0.29
102,158

(4,091)
30,266
0.25
105,347

(1,418)
27,399
0.22
100,860

(3,116)
42,254
0.34
106,325

(4,808)
34,919
0.28
98,232

978,044
1,327,937

1,097,921
1,463,064

1,164,504
1,550,787

1,025,108
1,398,828

1,045,289
1,412,000

1,045,842
1,423,318

1,074,929
1,502,652

937,993
1,319,052

73.7

75.0

75.1

73.3

74.0

73.5

71.5

71.1

24.69

22.93

22.11

24.03

25.64

26.77

26.09

26.76

19.36
14.82

17.36
13.39

16.64
12.88

18.06
13.80

19.04
14.44

18.67
14.68

17.29
13.54

19.98
15.40

14.1
41,688
33,616

14.9
45,553
41,132

14.9
47,362
43,478

14.1
42,863
33,056

12.9
41,406
32,851

10.5
36,881
30,063

16.7
52,789
44,275

14.9
47,604
37,397

(1) The weighted average number of units used in the net income per unit calculation has been established by restating Jazz’s outstanding LP Units for the periods
presented to 122,865,144.

Liquidity and capital resources
The recent global financial crisis has tightened liquidity in the
financial markets and has affected investor confidence in
global equity markets, leading to significant declines in global
market indices and negatively impacting the value of publiclytraded securities of many companies. Management has
evaluated aspects of the Fund and the Partnership’s business
and financial condition that could be affected by these
conditions as they currently exist. As at the date of this report,
no material adverse consequences with respect to liquidity
capacity have occurred.
Jazz continues to generate positive operating income and
cash flows from operations. At December 31, 2008, the
Partnership had $131.7 million in cash and cash equivalents
on hand, representing an increase of $8.9 million or 7.3%
from December 31, 2007. Despite the difficult credit market
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conditions, Jazz currently maintains the ability to generate
sufficient cash flow to fund cash distributions, planned capital
expenditures and to service its debt obligations. (Refer to
Caution regarding forward-looking information.)
Assets decreased from December 31, 2007 as a result of
a decrease in accounts receivable, offset by the acquisition
of spare parts and materials necessary to support the
operational fleet and by a fair value adjustment related to
the ABCP (refer to page 32– Financial Instruments and
Risk Management). Long-term liabilities decreased as a
result of a reduction in deferred operating lease inducements
and pension liabilities; offset by an increase in obligations
under capital leases as a result of a higher foreign exchange
rate, and an increase in post-employment future benefits
assumed on inception of the Partnership, but only recorded
in respect of the second quarter of 2008.

Summary of Cash Flows
The following table provides an overview of Jazz’s cash flows for the periods indicated:
		
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Three months ended December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

Year ended December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

Cash provided by operating activities
Cash used in financing activities
Cash used in investing activities

32,616
(31,543)
(5,225)

4,346
(31,280)
(8,875)

155,903
(126,730)
(20,269)

143,767
(126,582)
(29,269)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the periods
Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of periods

(4,152)
135,837

(35,809)
158,590

8,904
122,781

(12,084)
134,865

Cash and cash equivalents – End of periods

131,685

122,781

131,685

122,781

Operating activities

Investing activities

Jazz continued to generate positive cash flows from
operations of $32.6 million and $155.9 million for the fourth
quarter and year ended 2008, compared to $4.3 million and
$143.8 million for the same periods in 2007. The increase for
the quarter and for the year 2008 primarily relates to a
decrease in accounts receivable.

Fourth quarter and year ended 2008 investing activities
included capital expenditures of $5.4 million and $20.7 million,
respectively. Capital expenditures consisted of capital
investments in maintenance information system replacement,
replenishment of aircraft rotable parts to support the
operational fleet, and other purchases to support the ongoing
operations. Cash provided by investing activities included the
collection of a long-term receivable of $0.2 million.

Financing activities
Cash used in financing activities for the fourth quarter and
year ended 2008 included distributions to the holders of LP
Units of Jazz of $30.9 million and $123.6 million, respectively,
a priority distribution of $0.9 million to the Fund declared in
2007 and paid during the 2008 period, and $0.7 million and
$2.3 million, respectively, for repayment of obligations under
capital leases.
Cash used in financing activities for the fourth quarter and
year ended 2007 include distributions to the holders of LP
Units of Jazz of $30.9 million and $125.8 million, respectively,
and $0.7 million related to the repayment of obligations under
capital leases.

Fourth quarter and year ended 2007 investing activities
included capital expenditures of $8.9 million and $23.7 million,
respectively. Capital expenditures consist of capital
investments in the areas of information systems infrastructure,
maintenance information system replacement, and cockpit
standardization on the CRJ100 fleet. Other amounts used in
investing activities included $5.8 million that relates to asset
backed commercial paper (refer to page 32 – Financial
Instruments and Risk Management). Cash provided by
investing activities included a repayment of long-term
receivable of $0.2 million.
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Contractual obligations and other commitments
The table below provides for Jazz’s principal cash debt payments and future minimum lease payments under operating leases
for flight equipment and base facilities that have initial or remaining non-cancellable terms in excess of one year for the years
2009 through to 2013 and thereafter.
Payments Due by Period
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Term facility
Capital leases
Operating leases
Air Canada and its subsidiaries(1)
Operating leases
Other third parties
		

Total
$

2009
$

2010
$

2011
$

2012
$

2013
$

After 5 years
$

115,000
31,072

–
4,796

115,000
4,796

–
4,764

–
4,367

–
4,341

–
8,008

1,299,888

144,394

119,133

101,805

98,412

96,659

739,485

82,229

13,451

11,839

9,090

5,658

5,095

37,096

1,528,189

162,641

250,768

115,659

108,437

106,095

784,589

(1) Certain of the aircraft lease agreements have been entered into by Air Canada Capital Ltd. or Air Canada with head lessors and subleased to Jazz. These leases
are listed in the above table under the heading “Air Canada and its subsidiaries”. For further discussion, refer to page 34 – Economic Dependence.
(2) A significant portion of the lease payments is payable in US dollars.

Long-term debt
The following provides a breakdown of Jazz’s authorized and outstanding Credit Facilities:
				
Drawn at
				 December 31,
			
Authorized
2008
			
$
$

Drawn at
December 31,
2007
$

Revolving term facility (a)
Term facility (b)		
Prepaid interest (c)		
Unamortized commitment fee (c)		

35,000
115,000
–
–

–
115,000
(213)
(58)

–
115,000
(767)
(758)

			

150,000

114,729

113,475

(a) The revolving term facility matures on February 2, 2010 and bears interest at rates ranging from Canadian prime rate and US base rate plus 1.75% to 2.75% and
the bankers’ acceptance rate and LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.75%. As at December 31, 2008, there were no borrowings under the revolving term facility, however,
the available credit, after deducting letters of credit, bears interest at 0.50%.
Letters of credit
Jazz has issued irrevocable letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $3.4 million. This amount reduces the available credit under the revolving term facility
and bears interest at 2.875%.
(b) The term facility matures on February 2, 2010 and bears interest at rates ranging from Canadian prime rate and US base rate plus 1.75% to 2.75% and the
bankers’ acceptance rate and LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.75%. As at December 31, 2008, of borrowings under the term facility, $114.4 million were in the form
of bankers’ acceptances with a 90 day term and an effective interest rate of 5.45%. A further $0.6 million was in the form of prime rate advances bearing interest
at 5.50%. As at December 31, 2008 Jazz had entered into interest rate swap agreements with third parties in respect of $115.0 million of debt which has
effectively resulted in a fixed interest rate of 7.09% until February 2, 2009 and 5.98% until February 2, 2010.
(c) Long-term debt is presented net of prepaid interest and unamortized financing charges.

Borrowings under the Credit Facilities are secured by
substantially all the present and future assets of Jazz. The net
book value of the property and equipment pledged as collateral
related to the Credit Facilities at December 31, 2008 was
$199.7 million (2007 – $203.2 million). Jazz’s obligations in
respect of the Credit Facilities are also guaranteed by each of
the Trust and Jazz GP, with the Trust providing a first priority
security interest over its present and after-acquired personal
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property, subject to certain exclusions and permitted liens,
as security for its guarantee obligations, and with Jazz GP
providing a pledge of its interests in Jazz as security for
its guarantee obligations. The Fund also provides certain
covenants in favour of the lenders pursuant to a collateral
covenant agreement. Any failure by the Fund to comply with
the covenants contained in this agreement would constitute
an event of default in respect of the Credit Facilities.

The continued availability of the Credit Facilities is subject to
Jazz’s ability to maintain certain leverage, debt service and
interest coverage covenants, as well as other affirmative and
negative covenants.
The Credit Facilities of Jazz contain customary representations
and warranties and are subject to customary terms and
conditions (including negative covenants, financial covenants
and events of default) for borrowings of this nature, including
limitations in respect of the payment of distributions. The terms
of the Credit Facilities include certain covenants limiting the
aggregate amount of distributions by Jazz to holders of record
of LP Units during any twelve-month period to the aggregate
distributable cash of Jazz during such period. Distributions by
Jazz are also prohibited upon the occurrence and continuance
of an event of default under the Credit Facilities. As at
December 31, 2008, Jazz is in compliance with all conditions
of the Credit Facilities.
Ratio

Leverage (Debt/EBITDA)
Interest coverage (EBITDA/Interest expense)
Adjusted leverage (1)
Adjusted interest coverage (1)

Result

In
In
In
In

compliance
compliance
compliance
compliance

(1) Adjusted leverage and adjusted interest coverage ratios include the
add-back of other non-CPA related facilities and aircraft lease expense.

Jazz has entered into a common terms agreement for an
aircraft lease which is also designed to cover potential future
leases with the same company. The agreement contains the
following financial covenants:
Covenant

Minimum cash balance
Tangible asset disposal

Result

In compliance
In compliance

Credit Facilities are in place until February 2, 2010 and are
provided by a syndicate that consists of seven institutional
lenders, including two US financial institutions which are
currently subject to US government relief under the Troubled
Assets Relief Program. Jazz will have to refinance its available
Credit Facilities, and given current market conditions, it is
anticipated that such financing may occur at terms that are
less favorable than current terms. Such financing may cause
Jazz to reduce or suspend cash distributions or reduce cash
available for planned capital expenditures. The Partnership
is evaluating options to raise cash to refinance all or part
of its existing debt. These include, but are not limited to,
establishing a replacement bank credit facility, sale and
leaseback of owned aircraft which have current market
value in excess of carrying value, application of current
cash balances, and potential reduction of cash distributions.

Units
As at December 31, 2008, and as at the date of this report,
February 10, 2009, the Fund had 122,864,012 Units issued
and outstanding, compared to 122,864,066 Units issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2007. The Fund’s Units are
publicly traded, whereas Jazz’s Units are not, and are 100%
owned, indirectly, by the Fund.
The Fund’s basic and diluted earnings per Unit, before
future income tax, amounted to $(1.05) for the three months
ended December 31, 2008 ($0.22 for the three months
ended December 31, 2007) and $(0.49) for the year
ended December 31, 2008 ($0.88 for the year ended
December 31, 2007).
The Fund’s basic and diluted earnings per Unit, after
future income tax, amounted to $(0.71) for the three months
ended December 31, 2008 ($0.10 for the three months
ended December 31, 2007) and $(0.08) for the year
ended December 31, 2008 ($0.14 for the year ended
December 31, 2007).
Off balance sheet arrangements
and guarantees
Jazz enters into real estate leases or operating agreements
which grant a license to Jazz to use certain premises and/or
operate at certain airports in most of the cities that it serves.
It is common in such commercial lease transactions for Jazz,
as the lessee, to agree to indemnify the lessor and other
related third parties for tort liabilities that arise out of or
relate to Jazz’s use or occupancy of the leased or licensed
premises. Exceptionally, this indemnity extends to related
liabilities arising from the negligence of the indemnified
parties, but generally excludes any liabilities caused by their
gross negligence or willful misconduct. Additionally, Jazz
typically indemnifies such parties for any environmental liability
that arises out of or relates to its use or occupancy of the
leased or licensed premises.
In aircraft financing or leasing agreements, Jazz typically
indemnifies the financing parties, trustees acting on their
behalf and other related parties and/or lessors against
liabilities that arise from the manufacture, design, ownership,
financing, use, operation and maintenance of the aircraft and
for tort liability, whether or not these liabilities arise out of or
relate to the negligence of these indemnified parties, except
for their gross negligence or willful misconduct. In addition,
in aircraft financing or leasing transactions, including those

Jazz Air Income Fund

2008 Annual Report

31

management's discussion & Analysis

service provider, but excluding liabilities that arise from the
service provider’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

structured as leveraged leases, Jazz typically provides
indemnities in respect of certain tax consequences.
The Partnership carries or is otherwise the beneficiary
of various insurance policies in respect of various risks
applicable to the business (including in respect of tort
liability and certain contractual indemnities).
When Jazz, as a customer, enters into technical service
agreements with service providers, primarily service providers
who operate an airline as their main business, Jazz has from
time to time agreed to indemnify the service provider against
liabilities that arise from third party claims, whether or not
these liabilities arise out of or relate to the negligence of the

Jazz has indemnification obligations to its directors and
officers. Pursuant to such obligations, Jazz indemnifies these
individuals, to the extent permitted by law, against any and
all claims or losses (including amounts paid in settlement of
claims) incurred as a result of their service to Jazz.
The maximum amount payable under the foregoing
indemnities cannot be reasonably estimated. Jazz expects
that it would be covered by insurance for most tort liabilities
and certain related contractual indemnities described above.

Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures are incurred by Jazz to maintain, replace and add to its existing capital assets. Jazz separates its capital
expenditures into three categories: leasehold improvements, (which include improvements made to leased aircraft) aircraft
related (includes aircraft related communication, equipment and tooling, aircraft rotable parts and engines), and facilities and
owned buildings.
		
		

Capital Expenditures for the
Year Ended December 31,

		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Planned Capital Expenditures for the Year Ended

2007
$

2008
$

2009
$

2010
$

2011
$

2012
$

2013
$

Leasehold improvements
Aircraft related
Facilities and owned buildings

10,132
13,102
445

1,431
19,062
168

7,000
16,000
–

7,000
16,000
–

7,000
16,000
–

7,000
16,000
–

7,000
16,000
–

		

23,679

20,661

23,000

23,000

23,000

23,000

23,000

For the year ended December 31, 2008, capital expenditures were $20.7 million (2007 – $23.7 million), which consisted mainly
of leasehold improvements to the fleet, rotables and ramp/ground equipment. Based upon the current fleet composition and
infrastructure requirements, management expects capital expenditures to be approximately $23.0 million for 2009 and annually
until 2013. This expected average recurring level of capital expenditures will be largely offset by the depreciation expense
covered under “Aircraft Ownership Payments” under the CPA and will be funded using Jazz’s cash flows.

Financial instruments
and risk management
Jazz’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, promissory note receivable,
ABCP, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, obligations
under capital leases and long-term debt.
Jazz, through its financial assets and liabilities, has exposure
to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and currency risk.
Senior management monitors risk levels and reviews risk
management activities as they determine to be necessary.
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Interest rate risk
Investments included in Jazz’s cash and cash equivalents
earn interest at prevailing and fluctuating market rates, as
Jazz’s objective is to maintain these balances in highly liquid
investments. As at December 31, 2008, Jazz’s investments
consisted of bankers’ acceptances and bank deposit notes
issued by five Schedule 1 banks. Jazz is exposed to interest
rate fluctuation risk as a result of variable interest rate on
long-term debt. Jazz uses interest rate swaps to hedge its
exposure to changes in interest rates, swapping its credit
facility variable interest rate payments for fixed interest rate
payments. Jazz has elected to designate its interest rates
swaps as cash flow hedges and has no intention of early

settling these contracts. Jazz entered into an interest rate
swap agreement with third parties in respect of $115.0 million
of debt which has effectively resulted in a fixed interest rate
of 7.09% until February 2, 2009. If Jazz had settled these
contracts at December 31, 2008, a payment of $0.5 million
by Jazz would have resulted.
In the first quarter of 2008, Jazz entered into a second
interest swap agreement with a third party in respect
of $57.5 million of debt. This swap becomes effective
February 2, 2009 and effectively results in a fixed interest rate
of 6.23% for the related portion of the credit facility extension,
maturing on February 1, 2010. If Jazz had settled these
contracts at December 31, 2008, a payment of $1.5 million
by Jazz would have resulted.
In the third quarter of 2008, Jazz entered into a third interest
swap agreement with a third party in respect of $57.5 million
of debt. This swap becomes effective February 2, 2009 and
effectively results in a fixed interest rate of 5.73% for the
related portion of the credit facility extension, maturing on
February 1, 2010. If Jazz had settled these contracts at
December 31, 2008, a payment of $1.2 million by Jazz
would have resulted.
A 1% change in the interest rate would not have a significant
impact on the net income of Jazz.
Credit risk
In accordance with its investment policy, Jazz invests excess
cash in Government of Canada treasury bills, short-term
Canadian and provincial government debt, bankers’
acceptance notes, term deposits of Schedule 1 banks and
commercial paper rated R-1 high. Jazz manages the credit
risk on cash and cash equivalents by ensuring that the
counter-parties are governments, banks and corporations
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. Given the disruption in the third party sponsored
ABCP market, Jazz amended its investment policy in the third
quarter of 2007 to prohibit investment in all third party and
bank sponsored ABCP, despite any charges on the credit
rating on such issues.
The amount of accounts receivable disclosed in the balance
sheet of $71.6 million is net of allowances for bad debts,
estimated by management based on prior experience and
their assessment of the current economic environment and
the specific debtor. Approximately 82% of receivables are
with one company, Air Canada. Accordingly, Jazz is directly
affected by the financial and operational strength of Air
Canada (see page 42 – Risk Factors). Jazz does not believe it
is subject to any significant concentration of credit risk other
than with Air Canada.

Liquidity risk
Jazz’s objective is to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet
liabilities when due, as well as to demonstrate compliance
with liquidity covenants on financing contracts. Jazz monitors
its cash balances and cash flows generated from operations
to meet requirements. As at December 31, 2008, the
Partnership had $31.2 million in unutilized balance of the
credit facilities available and cash and cash equivalents of
$131.7 million. As at December 31, 2008, the Partnership
had authorized Credit Facilities of $150.0 million and drawings
of $115.0 million, against the facilities. Letters of credit
totalling approximately $3.4 million (December 31, 2007 –
$2.7 million) have been issued as security for groundhandling
and airport fee contracts, lease payments on rental space and
certain employee benefits. The letters of credit are drawn
against the unutilized balance of the credit facilities.
Currency risk
Jazz receives revenue and incurs expenses in US and
Canadian currency, and as such, is subject to fluctuations
as a result of foreign exchange rate variations. Jazz manages
its exposure to currency risk by billing for its services within
the CPA in the underlying currency related to the expenditure.
Accordingly, the primary exposure results from balance sheet
fluctuations of US denominated cash, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, and in particular, obligations under capital
leases, which are long-term and so are subject to larger
unrealized gains or losses. Jazz minimizes its currency risk
by maintaining a balance of US dollars which is used to pay
down US denominated liabilities and replenishes the balance
through US denominated revenues. The amount of US dollar
denominated assets was $41.9 million and US denominated
liabilities was $56.5 million at December 31, 2008. A 1¢ change
in the US exchange rate would result in a change in the
unrealized gain or loss of approximately $0.1 million.
Asset Backed Commercial Paper
As at December 31, 2008, included in other assets is
US dollar denominated, third-party sponsored, asset
backed commercial paper (“ABCP”) with an original cost
of $5.8 million CDN. The ABCP had been classified as Held
for Trading on initial recognition and is measured at fair value
at each reporting date. The asset, which was set to mature
on August 16, 2007, was not paid out due to liquidity
problems experienced in the ABCP market.
Given the disruption in the third party sponsored ABCP
market, a quoted market value of the investment is not
available. Based on the Restructuring of the Canadian
Third-Party Structured ABCP (the “Plan”), which was initially

Jazz Air Income Fund

2008 Annual Report

33

management's discussion & Analysis

approved June 5, 2008 by the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice and subsequently the Ontario Court of Appeal, it
has been determined that Jazz’s ABCP investment will be
exchanged for Master Asset Vehicle 3 (“MAV3”) Ineligible
Asset (“IA”) tracking notes. The MAV3 IA notes will have a
maturity date equal to one year plus the longest maturity of
the related ineligible asset and will maintain exposure to the
existing underlying assets. On December 24, 2008, the
investors committee issued a press release confirming
an agreement had been finalized with all key stakeholders
regarding the funding of the margin facilities for ABCP.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the governments,
together with certain participants in the restructuring plan
will provide, in aggregate, $4,450.0 million of additional
margin facilities to support the Plan. Subsequent to
December 31, 2008, a motion was brought forward to the
Ontario Superior Court of Justice and the closing process
was approved. Thereafter, Jazz received its MAV3 IA notes.
Jazz does not believe the fair value of these notes is materially
different than the current carrying value of the ABCP.
Management has reviewed available investment reports and
found that 69% of the portfolio’s notional amount is rated
’investment grade’ and there has been one default of the
underlying assets since inception of the trust, which
represents 0.27% of the total trust value. Accordingly,
management has used current market information and other
factors at December 31, 2008 to estimate the fair value of the
investment. This was done by analyzing potential outcomes
and discounting the expected future cash flows according
to the probability of recovery of principal and interest based
on a maturity date that is in line with the expected conversion
of the ABCP into the floating rate notes. Based on
management’s assessment of the value of its investment in
ABCP, a fair value loss of $3.9 million has been recorded to
date. This amount has been recorded in other non-operating
expenses. This estimate is subject to measurement
uncertainty and is dependent on the performance of the
underlying assets as well as the market value once trading
of the new notes begins. There is no assurance that the value
of the investment will not decline further; therefore, the
estimated value of the investment in ABCP may change in
subsequent periods. It has been determined that no
additional adjustment to fair value is required at this time as
there has been no change in the expected recovery of the
underlying assets and in the discount rates used in the
present value calculation. This situation has had no impact
on Jazz’s operations, financial covenants or ability to meet
obligations as they come due. Jazz is not accruing interest
on this investment.
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The carrying value of this investment of $2.0 million is
included in other assets.
The net foreign exchange gain recorded on the investment
since inception, up to the period ended December 31, 2008,
was $0.1 million.

economic dependence
The CPA
The CPA consists of a number of variable components based
on certain different metrics, including Block Hours flown and
cycles (number of take-offs and landings), number of
passengers and number of Covered Aircraft. The rates for
these metrics are fixed for annual periods and vary by aircraft
type. In addition, Air Canada is required to reimburse Jazz
for certain pass-through costs, including fuel, de-icing,
navigation, landing and terminal fees, station provisioning
costs, station termination costs, passenger liability insurance
and certain employee relocation costs. Since these costs are
required to operate the Covered Aircraft, the reimbursement
of these costs are included in Jazz’s revenue. Jazz is also
paid certain performance incentive payments on a quarterly
basis related to on-time performance, controllable flight
completion, baggage handling performance and other
customer satisfaction criteria. Rates under the CPA have
been established so as to achieve a controllable target margin
of 14.09% for Jazz, excluding incentive and pass-through
revenue, and before the deduction of profit sharing expenses
paid to employees as a result of performance achievements
on the CPA services provided to Air Canada. Effective
January 1, 2006, the CPA has a term of ten years and
is renewable for two additional periods of five years.
Pursuant to the terms of the CPA, Jazz and Air Canada
agreed to re-set detailed rates (subject to the terms of the
contract, including the controllable target margin requirements
specified above) applicable to the period commencing on
January 1, 2009 and ending on December 31, 2011. Jazz
has successfully reached an agreement with Air Canada
regarding the establishment of new rates for Controllable
Costs that will become payable by Air Canada under the
CPA in the next three-year period (2009 to 2011, inclusive).
The new rates are retroactive to January 1, 2009.
Master Services Agreement
Under the Master Services Agreement dated
September 24, 2004, between Jazz and Air Canada,
Air Canada provides certain services to Jazz for a fee.
These services include Insurance and Tax Services,
Corporate Real Estate Services, Environmental Affairs
Services and Legal Services.

The Master Services Agreement will continue in effect until
the termination or expiration of the CPA, but individual
services can be terminated earlier in accordance with the
terms of the Master Services Agreement.

Substantially all of the trade receivable from Air Canada
relates to outstanding balances under the CPA. The balances
in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are payable on
normal trade terms and have arisen from the services
provided by Air Canada.

Other

Jazz has a significant amount of transactions with Air Canada
and its subsidiaries Air Canada Capital Ltd. and ACGHS
Limited Partnership. Air Canada represented 99.2% and
99.4% of Jazz’s operating revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Approximately
13.7% and 14.9% of Jazz’s operating expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, were
incurred with Air Canada and its subsidiaries.

Air Canada provides certain supplies from third parties,
primarily fuel, to Jazz and subsequently collects payment
from Jazz. As these transactions and balances merely
represent a method of settlement for transactions in the
normal course of business, they have not been separately
disclosed. ACGHS Limited Partnership, wholly owned by
Air Canada, provides ground handling services to Jazz.

Pension Plans
Projected pension funding obligations
The table below provides projections for Jazz’s pension funding obligations from 2009-2013:
		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Defined benefit pension plans, current service
Defined benefit pension plans, past service
Defined contribution pension plans
Projected pension funding obligations

The estimated pension funding obligations shown in the
above table are in respect of the defined benefit and defined
contribution pension plans sponsored by Jazz. Defined
benefit pension plans include the Jazz pilots’ registered
defined benefit pension plan as well as an unregistered
defined benefit supplemental executive retirement plan that
Jazz sponsors for eligible employees. Defined contribution
pension plans include a number of defined contribution
pension arrangements that Jazz contributes to for its
eligible employees.
The funding requirements for the Jazz pilots’ registered
pension plan are estimated based on the January 1, 2008
actuarial valuation and an estimate of the pilot payroll over
the projection period. The estimated funding requirements
for the supplemental executive retirement plan are based
on a funding policy adopted by Jazz and the January 1, 2008
actuarial valuation. The projected funding obligations shown
in the above table assume no changes in the economic
conditions and do not reflect the impact of the market
downturn in 2008. Changes in the economic conditions,
mainly the investment returns generated by the plan assets
and changes in interest rates, will impact the financial position
of these plans and, hence, future required contributions.

2009
$

2010
$

2011
$

2012
$

2013
$

9,500
4,500
6,900

9,600
2,700
7,100

9,800
1,300
7,200

10,100
1,000
7,400

10,300
–
7,600

20,900

19,400

18,300

18,500

17,900

These projections are updated annually (refer to Caution
regarding forward-looking information.)
As a result of the recent market turmoil, the financial position
of the Jazz pilots’ defined benefit pension plan and the
supplemental executive retirement plan has deteriorated
significantly during 2008. Based on preliminary estimates,
the funding requirements for these two plans is expected
to increase when the next funding valuation is prepared
as of January 1, 2009. Our preliminary estimate of the
increase in the 2009 required contributions is $4.2 million.
The above table does not reflect any changes to required
contributions for 2009 or later years that might arise from
the January 1, 2009 valuations.
We also note that, in response to the recent economic
turmoil, pension regulatory authorities in a number of
jurisdictions in Canada (including the Office of the
Superintendent of Financial Institutions, which regulates
the Jazz pilots’ registered pension plan) have announced
potential funding relief measures. The details of these
measures have not yet been finalized. As such, at this time,
we do not know what impact, if any, these changes will have
on the future required contributions.
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Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments
and assumptions that management believes are reasonable
based upon the information available. These estimates,
judgments and assumptions affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results can differ from those
estimates (refer to Caution regarding forward-looking
information). The significant accounting policies of Jazz and
the Fund are described in note 2 of the December 31, 2008
consolidated financial statements of Jazz Air Income Fund
and Jazz Air LP.
Changes in accounting estimates
In the second quarter of 2008, the Fund and Jazz changed
the estimate of both the useful life and the expected residual
values of aircraft and certain flight equipment to coincide with
the term of the capacity purchase agreement. The revised
estimates better reflect the expected useful life of these
assets to the Fund and Jazz and update the residual value to
reflect both the changed useful life and current and expected
market conditions for such aircraft. The changes have been
applied prospectively. The change in the basis of depreciation
had the effect of increasing depreciation expense $0.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2008.
Income taxes
The Fund is a mutual fund trust for income tax purposes.
As a result, the Fund is only taxable on amounts not
allocated to Unitholders. The Fund intends to comply with the
provisions of the Income Tax Act that permit the deduction of
distributions to Unitholders from taxable income and taxable
capital gains.
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The Fund provides for income taxes using the liability method
of tax allocation. Under this method, future income tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on deductible or taxable
temporary differences between the financial statement values
and the tax values of assets and liabilities, using enacted
income tax rates expected to be in effect for the year in
which the differences are expected to reverse.
Future income taxes
Under the provisions of Bill C-52, Budget Implementation Act,
2007, which received Royal Assent on June 22, 2007, the
Fund, as a publicly traded income trust, is considered a
specified investment flow-through and will become subject to
income taxes commencing January 1, 2011. Prior to 2011,
the Fund continues to qualify for special income tax treatment
that permits a tax deduction by the Fund for distributions paid
to its Unitholders. For accounting purposes, the Fund has
computed future income tax based on temporary differences
at the substantively enacted tax rate expected to apply for
such periods. For periods prior to January 1, 2011, the Fund
has not recognized any current income taxes or future income
tax assets or liabilities on temporary differences expected to
reverse prior to 2011 as the Trust is committed to distribute
to its Unitholders all or virtually all of its taxable income that
would otherwise be taxable in the Fund and the Fund intends
to continue to meet the requirements of the Tax Act
applicable to the Fund. Initially, the legislation imposed
an income tax rate of 31.5% on Canadian public income
trusts. The income tax rate was subsequently lowered in
December 2007 to 29.5% for 2011 and 28% for 2012 and
subsequent years.
The future income tax provision reflects the impact of the
new legislation and the tax rate changes and accounts for the
entire difference between the amount of the future income tax
provision and the statutory income tax dollar amount of $nil.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future income tax assets and future income
tax liabilities at December 31, 2008, that are expected to reverse after 2010, are presented below:
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)			

As at December 31,

				
				

2008
$

2007
$

Future income tax assets
Deferred lease inducements			
Other			

10,701
3,529

11,030
1,592

				

14,230

12,622

31,856

73,211

Future income tax liabilities
Intangibles			
Property, plant and equipment – differences in net book value
and undepreciated capital cost			

5,935

13,956

				

37,791

87,167

Net future income tax liability			

23,561

74,545

Income tax expense (recovery) is comprised of:
Future income tax recovery, exclusive of the effects of other components below			
Future income tax recovery resulting from impairment of goodwill			
Future income tax expense related to the substantive enactment of Bill C-52			
Future income tax recovery related to the change in the taxation rate			

(8,080)
(42,904)
–
–

–
–
83,810
(9,265)

Net future income tax (recovery) expense			

(50,984)

74,545

Employee future benefits
The significant policies related to employee future benefits,
consistent with Section 3461, “Employee Future Benefits” of
the CICA Handbook relating to Jazz’s defined benefit pension
plan for its pilots, the supplemental executive retirement plan
for Jazz executives, and the Other Employee Future Benefits
are as follows:
• The cost of pensions earned by employees is actuarially
determined using the projected benefit method prorated
on service, market interest rates, and management’s best
estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary
escalation and retirement ages of employees. Obligations
are attributed to the period beginning on the employee’s
date of joining the plan and ending on the earlier of the
date of termination, death or retirement.
• The cost of the Other Employee Future Benefits is
actuarially determined using the projected benefit method
prorated on service (where applicable), market interest
rates, and management’s best estimate of retirement ages
of employees, health care cost inflation, salary escalation
and general inflation.
• The expected return on plan assets is based on the
long-term expected rate of return on plan assets and the
fair value of the plan assets. It is reasonably possible that
management’s estimate of the long-term rate of return

may change as management continues to assess future
investments and strategies and as a result of changes
in financial markets.
• Past service costs arising from plan amendments of
the defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the average remaining service period of
employees active at the date of the amendment. This
period is currently 19 years for the pension plan and
14 years for the supplemental executive retirement plan.
• Cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses
of the defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan in excess of 10% of the greater
of the accrued benefit obligation and the market value of
plan assets at the beginning of the year are amortized over
the average remaining service periods of active members
expected to receive benefits under the plan (currently
19 years for the pension plan and 14 years for the
supplemental executive retirement plan).
• The fiscal year-end date is December 31 and the
measurement date of the plan’s assets and obligations is
December 31, in prior years the measurement date was
November 30. Pension obligations are attributed to the
period beginning on the employee’s date of joining the
plan and ending on the earlier of the date of termination,
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death or retirement. The obligations for the Other
Employee Future Benefits plans are attributed to the
period beginning on the employee’s date of joining the
plan or disablement (whichever applicable) and ending
on the earlier of retirement or end of disablement or
age 65 (whichever applicable).
The following assumptions were used in valuing the benefit
obligations under the plan and the employer’s net periodic
pension or benefit cost:
• The discount rate used to determine the pension and
benefit obligation was determined by reference to market
interest rates, as of the measurement date, on high quality
debt instruments with cash flows that approximately match
the timing and amount of expected benefit payments. It is
reasonably possible that these rates may change in the
future as a result of changes in market interest rates.
• Jazz’s expected long-term rate of return on assets
assumption is based on economic conditions as of the
measurement date and the specific portfolio mix of plan
assets. Management, in conjunction with its actuaries,
reviews anticipated future long-term performance of
individual asset categories and considers the asset

allocation strategy adopted by Jazz. These factors are
used to determine the average rate of expected return on
the funds invested to provide for the pension plan benefits.
While the review considers recent fund performance and
historical returns, the assumption is primarily a long-term,
prospective rate. This assumption may change as
management continues to assess future investments and
strategies and as a result of changes in financial markets.
• The health care inflation used to determine the Other
Employee Future Benefits costs is determined from
recent industry experience combined with long-term
expectations. The weighted average health care inflation
assumption used for the health care plans is 7.1% per
annum grading down to 4.5% per annum in and
after 2012.
• Actual experience that differs from assumptions made
by management will result in a net actuarial gain or loss,
consequently increasing or decreasing the pension
or benefit expense for future years. In accordance
with Canadian GAAP, this difference is not recognized
immediately as income or expense, but rather is amortized
into income over future periods.
		

			
			

Weighted average assumptions used to determine accrued benefit obligation
Discount rate		
Rate of compensation increase
Health care inflation – Select		
Health care inflation – Ultimate		
Year ultimate trend reached		
Weighted average assumptions used to determine pension and benefit costs
Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return on assets		
Rate of compensation increase 		
Health care inflation – Select		
Health care inflation – Ultimate		
Year ultimate trend reached		

Intangibles
In the Fund, the value of the rights under the CPA has been
derived from a fair value allocation based on an independent
third party valuation at the time of purchase through step
acquisitions. It is considered a long-lived asset with a finite life
and is amortized over the remaining term, plus renewals of
the agreement.

38

Jazz Air Income Fund

2008 Annual Report

Fiscal year ended December 31,
2008		

2007

7.10		
4.00 – 5.00		
6.5		
4.5		
2012		

5.75
4.00 – 5.00
n/a
n/a
n/a

5.60 – 5.75		
6.40		
4.00 – 5.00		
7.1		
4.5		
2012		

5.00
6.00
4.00 – 5.00
n/a
n/a
n/a

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the
purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of
the amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities
assumed, based on their fair values. The Fund’s goodwill
arose as a result of its step purchase acquisition of the
Partnership during 2007. A full valuation was performed by
third party valuators in the fourth quarter of 2007 and, as a
result, fair values were assigned to all assets and liabilities at

that time. In accordance with Section 3064 of the CICA
Handbook “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, goodwill is not
amortized; however, it is reviewed for impairment annually, or
more frequently, if facts and circumstances warrant a review.
Management monitors the value of the intangibles to
determine whether any impairments in their carrying value
has occurred or whether their estimated life has changed.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment was originally recorded at cost. As at
December 31, 2008 the net book value of Jazz’s property and
equipment was $219.0 million.
Property and equipment are depreciated to estimated residual
values based on the straight-line method over their estimated
service lives. Aircraft and flight equipment are depreciated
over 20 to 30 years, with 5 – 20% estimated average residual
values. Improvements to owned aircraft are capitalized and
amortized over the remaining service life of the aircraft.
Improvements to aircraft on operating leases are amortized
over the term of the lease.
Buildings are depreciated over their useful lives not exceeding
40 years on a straight-line basis. An exception to this is where
the useful life of the building is greater than the term of the
land lease. In these circumstances, the building is depreciated
over the life of the lease. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the lease term or five years. Ground
and computer equipment are depreciated over five years.
Aircraft depreciable life is determined through economic
analysis, a review of existing fleet plans and comparisons to
other airlines operating similar fleet types. Residual values are
estimated based on Jazz’s historical experience with regards
to the sale of both aircraft and spare parts, as well as future
based valuations prepared by independent third parties.
Property under capital leases and the related obligation for
future lease payments are initially recorded at an amount
equal to the lesser of fair value of the property or equipment
and the present value of those lease payments.
Property and equipment under capital leases are depreciated
to estimated residual values over the life of the lease.
Property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
assets to be used is measured by comparing the net book
value of the asset to the undiscounted future cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset. An impairment is
recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds
the fair value of the asset.

Aircraft leases
Jazz has significant lease and sublease obligations for aircraft
that are classified as operating leases and are not reflected as
assets and liabilities on its balance sheet. In accordance with
GAAP, tests were performed to determine the operating lease
classification. Jazz’s aircraft leases do not include any residual
value guarantees.

accounting policy changes
and developments
Change in accounting policies
In the first quarter of 2008, the Fund and Jazz adopted four
new Handbook Sections issued by CICA. The adoption of
these Handbook sections has had no material impact on
the financial statements of the Fund or Jazz.
Financial instruments
Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, modifies
the disclosure requirements for financial instruments that were
included in Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure
and Presentation. Where the disclosure requirements of this
new standard have not been changed from the previous
standard and have already been included in the annual
financial statements, no additional disclosure has
been provided.
Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation, carries
forward unchanged the presentation requirements of the
previous Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure
and Presentation.
These new standards require disclosures related to the
significance of financial instruments on the Fund and Jazz’s
financial position and performance and the nature and extent
of risk arising from financial instruments to which the Fund
and Jazz are exposed and how they manage these risks.
Capital disclosures
Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, establishes disclosure
requirements regarding the Fund and Jazz’s capital and how
it is managed. The purpose is to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate their objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital.
Inventories – spare parts, material and supplies
Section 3031, Inventories, replaces the existing standard
for inventories, Section 3030, and provides more extensive
guidance on measurement, and expands disclosure
requirements to increase transparency. The Fund and Jazz’s
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accounting policy for inventories is consistent with
measurement requirements, as they value spare parts,
materials and supplies at the lower of cost, determined
on a first-in, first-out basis, and net realizable value.
Future accounting changes
Convergence with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”)
In January 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board
(“AcSB”) announced its decision to replace Canadian GAAP
with IFRS. On February 13, 2008 the AcSB confirmed
January 1, 2011 as the mandatory changeover date to IFRS
for all Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. This means
that the Fund and Jazz will be required to prepare IFRS
financial statements for the interim periods and fiscal year
ends beginning in 2011. The Fund and Jazz have created
an implementation team, which consists of internal resources
and an external consultant. A changeover plan is being
established to convert to the new standards within the
allotted timeline and consist of the following phases:
• Raise awareness and initial assessment – this phase
involves performing a high level impact assessment to
identify key IFRS areas that are likely to affect the Fund
and Jazz. Each accounting standard is reviewed under
IFRS and is ranked as high, medium or low priority based
on the differences from Canadian GAAP. Also, all
employees and board members are made aware of the
changeover and the relevant timelines. The Fund and Jazz
completed this phase in the third quarter of 2008.
• Detailed assessment – each section is thoroughly reviewed
and analyzed for accounting or disclosure differences
between Canadian GAAP and IFRS. Once differences have
been identified they are reviewed for potential impacts to
existing accounting policies, information systems and
business processes. An action plan is then developed
for each impact area. This phase is currently underway.
• Implementation and review – the action plan developed
in the detailed assessment phase is put into plan creating,
as necessary, new accounts, system changes, process
changes and financial statement models. Accounting
policies are approved, including transition elections in
IFRS 1 (First time adoption of IFRS).
Based on initial review of the major differences between
Canadian GAAP and IFRS that are likely to impact the Fund
and Jazz include, but are not limited to:
• FRS 1 – provides entities with a number of optional
and mandatory exemptions upon initial adoption of the
standards. The exemption choices are being analyzed
and the Fund and Jazz will implement those determined
to be most appropriate.
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• Property, plant and equipment – International Accounting
Standards (“IAS”) 16 requires an entity to break an asset
down to its significant parts upon initial measurement and
depreciate assets based on the useful life of the significant
individual components as opposed to the assets as a
whole. This could have an impact on the way significant
parts of the aircraft are tracked and depreciated. Also,
significant maintenance events must be broken out as a
component of the initial cost and depreciated over the life
of the maintenance event. The cost of the maintenance
event will then be re-capitalized and this cycle will continue
over the life of the asset.
• Impairment of assets – IAS 36 uses a one step approach
for both testing and measurement of impairment, with
assets carrying values compared directly with the higher
of fair value less costs to sell or value in use (which uses
discounted cash flows). This may potentially result in more
write-downs where carrying values of assets under
Canadian GAAP were tested for impairment on an
undiscounted cash flow basis.
• Recognition of leases – unlike Canadian GAAP, IAS 17
does not provide prescriptive measurements on lease
contracts. As a result all lease contracts will need to be
reviewed to determine if they are operating or capital
leases based on whether or not management feels
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership have been transferred.
• Accounting for defined benefit pension plans and other
future employee benefits – IAS 19 requires the past service
costs of defined benefit plans to be recognized on an
accelerated basis with vested past service costs expensed
immediately and unvested past service costs recognized
on a straight line basis until the benefits become vested.
Under Canadian GAAP, past service costs are generally
amortized on a straight line basis over the average
remaining service period. In addition, actuarial gains and
losses are permitted to be recognized directly through
equity under IAS 19 rather than through the income
statement. For other future employee benefits, all actuarial
gains and losses, as well as all past service costs, must
be recognized immediately with no amortization option.
In addition to the sections noted above, there are generally
more extensive presentation and disclosure requirements
under IFRS compared to Canadian GAAP. These will be
noted in the detailed analysis and incorporated into the
model financial statements, and will result in additional
data collection where required.

FLEET
As at December 31, 2008, Jazz’s operating fleet was made up of 137 operating aircraft, of which 73 were regional jets and
64 turboprop aircraft.
Jazz’s operating fleet, at December 31, 2008, was as described below:
							
			
Average				
		
Number of
Age of				
		
Operating
Operating		
Operating
Capital
		
Aircraft
Aircraft
Owned
Lease
Lease

Canadair Regional Jet CRJ100
Canadair Regional Jet CRJ200
Canadair Regional Jet CRJ705
De Havilland DHC-8-300
De Havilland DHC-8-100
Total Operating Aircraft

Number of
Operating
Aircraft
December 31,
2007

24
33
16
28
36

13.2
6.7
3.4
18.3
20.7

–
–
–
19
29

–
–
–
7
–

24
33
16
2
7

24
33
16
27
36

137

13.4

48

7

82

136

All aircraft in Jazz’s operating fleet as of December 31, 2008 are Covered Aircraft under the CPA, except for two Dash 8-100
and two Dash 8-300 aircraft allocated for charter purposes.

PEOPLE
As at December 31, 2008, Jazz had 4,388 FTE employees compared to 4,535 FTE employees for 2007. This reflects a 3.2%
decrease from 2007, as shown in the table below:
			
Year ended
			 December 31,
		
Union
2008

Pilots
Technical Services
Customer Service Agents
Flight Attendants
Management
Administrative and Technical Support
Dispatchers
Crew Scheduling

Year ended
December 31,
2007

Change

Change %

ALPA
CAW
CAW
CFAU
–
–
CALDA
CAW

1,301
861
723
693
467
253
60
30

1,359
832
723
784
481
270
56
30

(58)
29
–
(91)
(14)
(17)
4
–

(4.3)
3.5
–
(11.6)
(2.9)
(6.3)
7.1
–

			

4,388

4,535

(147)

(3.2)

An official notice and certification order from the Canadian Industrial Relations Board confirmed that effective September 5, 2008
the Canadian Flight Attendants Union (“CFAU”) is the certified bargaining agent and now represents the Flight Attendant group.
All collective agreements are in place until mid year 2009.

Material changes
During the period from December 31, 2008 to February 10, 2009, there have been no material changes to the
information disclosed.
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Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting
Disclosure controls and procedures within the Fund and
Jazz have been designed to provide reasonable assurance
that all relevant information is identified to the Disclosure
Policy Committee to ensure appropriate and timely decisions
are made regarding public disclosure.
An evaluation of the design and effectiveness of the operation
of the Fund and Jazz’s disclosure controls and procedures has
been conducted by management, under the supervision of the
CEO and CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO
have concluded that, as of December 31, 2008, the Fund and
Jazz’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined by
National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in
Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings, are effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in reports that are filed or
submitted under Canadian securities legislation is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified therein.
Internal control over financial reporting has been designed,
based on the framework established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”), to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of the Fund and Jazz’s financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with Canadian GAAP.
Management, under the supervision of the CEO and CFO,
has evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting using the framework designed as described
above. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have
concluded that internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2008.
Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure controls can provide only reasonable
assurances and may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
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There has been no change in the Fund or Jazz’s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the year
ended 2008 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Fund or Jazz’s internal control over
financial reporting.
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee of the board of
trustees of the Fund and the board of directors of Jazz GP
reviewed this MD&A, and the consolidated financial
statements of Jazz and the Fund for December 31, 2008,
and the Fund’s board of trustees and Jazz GP’s board of
directors approved these documents prior to their release.

Outlook
The discussion that follows represents forward-looking
information. Refer to Caution regarding forward-looking
information.
Air Canada, Jazz’s primary customer, announced on
June 17, 2008, that it would reduce its domestic and
transborder network capacity by 2% and 13%, respectively,
with the implementation of the fourth quarter 2008 and first
quarter 2009 schedules, compared to the same period a year
earlier. As a result, Jazz’s flying has reduced by approximately
5%, effective November 1, 2008 and subsequent periods
subject to further revisions from Air Canada.
Based on the schedule received from Air Canada, Jazz
anticipates billing between 390,000 and 400,000 Block Hours
for the twelve months ending December 31, 2009. The fiscal
2009 billing represents a reduction of approximately 3 to 5%
of Billable Block Hours versus the twelve months ended
December 31, 2008.

RISK FACTORS
Risks Relating to the Relationship
with Air Canada
Dependence on Air Canada
Jazz is directly affected by the financial and operational
strength of Air Canada and its competitive position. In the
event of any decrease in the financial or operational strength
of Air Canada, Jazz’s ability to receive payments from
Air Canada, and the amount of such payments, may be
adversely affected. In addition, if Air Canada’s competitive
position is materially weakened, it could affect the utilization
of the Covered Aircraft.

In the past, Air Canada has, like other network carriers,
sustained significant operating losses and may sustain
significant losses in the future. Air Canada’s business, results
from operations and financial condition are subject to a
number of risks, including:
• Air Canada has substantial commitments for capital
expenditures, including for the acquisition of new aircraft;
• fuel costs, which since 2005 have increased to and
fluctuated near or at historically high levels, constitute a
significant portion of Air Canada’s operating expenses;
• labour conflicts or disruptions can have a material adverse
effect on Air Canada’s business, results from operations
and financial condition;
• the airline industry is highly competitive and subject to
price discounting; and
• the risk factors described under “Risks Relating to
the Industry”.
Air Canada is the sole marketing agent for Jazz’s Covered
Aircraft capacity and is solely responsible for establishing
schedule, routes, frequency and ticket prices for Jazz. To
the extent Air Canada does not effectively and competitively
market the routes serviced through Jazz, the utilization of the
Covered Aircraft could be reduced with the result that Jazz’s
operating margin in dollar terms would be reduced.
In addition, Air Canada is responsible for establishing Jazz’s
operating plans for the Covered Aircraft, including schedules,
Block Hours, departures, ASMs and load factors for each
aircraft type included in the Covered Aircraft, and any
changes thereto. Should such operating plans not be
provided to Jazz on a timely basis in accordance with the
CPA, Jazz’s operations could be materially adversely affected.
Liquidity issues
Based on public filings made by Air Canada, Jazz
understands that Air Canada concluded financing
arrangements in December 2008 providing for funding of
up to $503 million, which arrangements were entered into as
part of the implementation of Air Canada’s prior announced
strategy of improving its short-term and long-term liquidity
(through traditional and non-traditional means) in order to
deal with the international economic downturn and resulting
reduction in demand for air travel. There can be no assurance
that these arrangements, and any other arrangements
entered into by Air Canada, will provide sufficient liquidity. If
the financial condition and liquidity of Air Canada deteriorates,
Jazz will face intensified credit risks and increased risks
relating to its condition and liquidity.

Termination of the CPA
Substantially all of Jazz’s current revenues are received
pursuant to the CPA with Air Canada which currently covers
all of Jazz’s existing operating fleet (except four Dash 8
aircraft as of March 28, 2008). The CPA will terminate on
December 31, 2015 and is subject to renewal on terms to
be negotiated for two additional periods of five years unless
either party terminates the agreement by providing a notice
not less than one year prior to December 31, 2015 or the end
of the first renewal term. In addition, either party is entitled to
terminate the CPA at any time upon the occurrence of an
event of default. Events of default include, without limitation:
• bankruptcy or insolvency of the other party;
• suspension or revocation of Jazz’s right to operate as
a scheduled airline;
• any amounts payable by Air Canada or Jazz pursuant
to the CPA are not paid when due, and such default
continues for a period of 30 days after notice;
• failure by Air Canada or Jazz to comply with any of
its obligations pursuant to the CPA and such default
continues for a period of 30 days after notice;
• more than 50% of the Covered Aircraft fail to operate
Scheduled Flights for more than seven consecutive days
or 25% of the Covered Aircraft fail to operate Scheduled
Flights for more than 21 consecutive days, other than as
a result of an order of a governmental authority affecting
the industry generally or as a result of any action by Air
Canada, any strike by Air Canada employees or any event
of force majeure (including any cessation, slow-down,
interruption of work or any other labour disturbance);
• failure by Jazz to meet certain performance criteria;
• a default by Jazz with respect to any material term,
including the payment of any amount due, under any
material agreement to which Jazz is a party if such default
continues for more than the allotted period of grace, if any;
• a default by Air Canada or Jazz with respect to a material
term of any other material agreement between Jazz and
Air Canada and such default continues for more than the
allotted period of grace, if any;
• failure by Jazz to maintain adequate insurance; and
• failure by Jazz to comply with Air Canada’s audit and
inspection rights.
If the CPA is terminated, Jazz’s revenue and earnings would
be significantly reduced or eliminated unless Jazz is able to
enter into satisfactory substitute arrangements. There is no
assurance that Jazz would be able to enter into satisfactory
substitute arrangements or that such arrangements would
be as favourable to Jazz as the CPA.
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Under the CPA, if a change of control of Jazz (other than in
favour of the Fund) occurs without the consent of Air Canada,
Air Canada may terminate the CPA. The existence of this right
may limit Jazz’s ability to negotiate or consummate the sale
of all or part of its business to another entity or otherwise
participate in any consolidation in the airline industry.
The CPA provides that upon the expiry or termination of the
CPA, other than termination as a result of a default by Jazz
or Air Canada, all leases between Jazz and Air Canada (or
any affiliate of Air Canada) in respect of Covered Aircraft
and spare engines shall automatically be terminated and
Air Canada (or any affiliate of Air Canada) shall have the right
to repossess the Covered Aircraft and the spare engines.
There can be no assurance that Jazz will be able to find
replacement aircraft. In the event that Jazz is able to find
replacement aircraft, there can be no assurance that Jazz will
be able to do so on terms as favourable as the terms of its
current leases with Air Canada (or any affiliate of Air Canada).
Unless Jazz is able to find replacement aircraft on reasonable
terms, Jazz’s ability to offer scheduled and charter flights to
any carrier would be materially adversely affected, which
would have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business,
results from operations and financial condition.
In the event that the CPA is terminated as a result of Jazz’s
default, all leases between Jazz and Air Canada (or any
affiliate of Air Canada) in respect of Covered Aircraft and
spare engines will not be automatically terminated. In such
event, Jazz would remain liable for its obligations under the
aircraft leases with no corresponding ability to earn income
under the CPA to cover its aircraft lease obligations, which
would have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business,
results from operations and financial condition.
Access to airport facilities and slots
Upon the expiration or termination of the CPA, Jazz may lose
access to airport facilities at key locations where Air Canada
supplies facilities and other services to Jazz. Jazz may also
lose access to such airport facilities should Air Canada not
be able to secure such access to airport facilities in the future.
Most of the airport facilities at Jazz’s principal domestic
destinations are leased by Air Canada from airport authorities.
Under the CPA, Jazz is currently entitled to use these facilities
to fulfill its obligations to Air Canada under the CPA. All of
Jazz’s airport takeoff or landing slots used for Scheduled
Flights are under Air Canada’s name. Upon the expiry or
termination of the CPA, Jazz may lose access to those airport
facilities, airport takeoff or landing slots and Jazz may have to
enter into alternative arrangements to use the same or other
airport facilities and slots at higher rates. There can be no
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assurance that Jazz would be able to have access to other
airport facilities or slots or as to the terms upon which Jazz
could do so.
Jazz’s inability to have appropriate access to sufficient airport
facilities or slots or the possibility to do so with a significant
cost increase would have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s
business, results from operations and financial condition.
Reduced utilization levels
While the CPA requires Air Canada to meet certain minimum
utilization levels for Jazz’s aircraft, Air Canada determines, in
its sole discretion, which routes Jazz flies. If Air Canada was
unable to find sufficient capacity for its own aircraft or was
able to operate at a competitive cost compared to Jazz or
use other suppliers at competitive cost, or for any other
reason, Air Canada could reduce Jazz’s flights to the
minimum utilization levels or could require Jazz to fly its
aircraft on routes that may under-utilize Jazz’s aircraft
capacity or may make it more difficult for Jazz to reach
incentive targets and thus Jazz may earn less revenue under
the CPA. Though Jazz would still be guaranteed a minimum
revenue, if its aircraft were underutilized by Air Canada,
Jazz would lose the ability to recover a margin on the
direct operating costs of flights that would otherwise have
been realized had Jazz’s aircraft been more fully utilized.
Jazz would also lose the opportunity to earn incentive
compensation. The minimum average daily utilization
guarantee will not apply in the event Jazz fails to reach the
minimum number of Block Hours due to its own default or
an inability to supply sufficient capacity. The minimum average
daily utilization guarantee for the 2009 calendar year is
approximately 339,000 Block Hours.
Force Majeure
Air Canada’s and Jazz’s obligations under the CPA (other than
any financial obligations) will be suspended if, and for so long
as, any event of force majeure prevents a party from meeting
its obligations pursuant to the CPA.
In addition, Air Canada and Jazz recognize that an event
of force majeure may inadvertently result in one party being
in default of a collective agreement to which it is a party.
As a result of any event of force majeure that occurs during
the term of the CPA, Air Canada and Jazz may decide to
renegotiate certain terms of the CPA, including, without
limitation, rates for the payment of fees by Air Canada,
minimum capacity purchase guarantees as well as certain
elements of the then current three-year, annual or seasonal
operating plans and the long range fleet plan, including Block
Hours and departures, ASMs, airports to which Jazz will

operate and the number of Covered Aircraft. Such changes
to the terms of the CPA, whether temporary or long-term,
could have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business,
results from operations and financial condition.
Replacement of services provided by Air Canada under
the CPA and the MSA
Air Canada provides a number of important services to Jazz,
including ticket sales, reservations and call center services,
designator codes, information technology, de-icing services
and glycol usage, fuel purchasing services as well as
passenger, aircraft and traffic handling services. If the CPA is
not renewed beyond its original term or subsequent renewal
terms, or is otherwise terminated, Jazz would either need to
provide these services internally or contract with third parties
for such services. There can be no assurance that Jazz would
be able to replace these services on a cost effective or timely
basis. In addition, pursuant to the MSA, Air Canada provides
certain services to Jazz for a fee. These services include
insurance and tax services, corporate real estate services,
environmental affairs services and legal services. If the MSA is
terminated, Jazz would either need to provide these functions
internally or contract with third parties for such functions.
There can be no assurance that Jazz would be able to
replace these services on a cost-effective or timely basis.
Jazz’s inability to replace these services on a cost effective
or timely basis could have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s
business, results from operations and financial condition.
Changes in costs and fees
Jazz is paid fees by Air Canada on a variety of different
metrics based on Jazz’s estimated controllable costs for
each calendar year in the applicable period marked-up by a
specified percentage. Such mark-up equates to a specified
margin on Jazz’s estimated Scheduled Flights Revenue for
each calendar year in the applicable period. Air Canada is
responsible for scheduling and pricing the flights, and absorbs
the risk of variations in ticket prices, passenger loads and fuel
prices. The rates for some of these fees are fixed for each of
the 2006 to 2008 calendar years and have been determined
based on cost estimates for each of those calendar years and
will only be revised in very particular circumstances by Jazz
and Air Canada prior to then. If such controllable costs
exceed Jazz’s estimates, Jazz may realize decreased profits
and even losses under the CPA, and may be unable to
generate sufficient cash flow to pay its debts on time and
Jazz may have to reduce its expansion plans. If any of these
events occurs, Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

For the periods commencing 2009 and 2012, Jazz and Air
Canada will establish rates for each of the succeeding three
years. There can be no assurance that the estimates of the
future costs will be accurate in any future reset. Such fees
will also be measured against the median cost performance
of a select group of United States regional airline operators
between the twelve-month period ended June 30, 2007 and
the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2009. If Jazz
fails to maintain its cost performance on a comparative basis
with such group, its margin for the period commencing
January 1, 2010 could be reduced regardless of whether
it meets its own cost estimates.
Air Canada Pilots Association (“ACPA”) Scope Clauses
and Small Jets Settlement Agreement
Air Canada’s collective bargaining agreement with ACPA
and the Small Jets Settlement Agreement entered into among
Air Canada, Jazz, ACPA and the Air Line Pilots Association
(“ALPA”) limit the number of regional jet aircraft which can be
operated by Jazz under its CPA with Air Canada. The Small
Jets Settlement Agreement also prevents Jazz from operating
the CRJ705 aircraft if configured in excess of 75 seats,
inclusive of all classes, and sets out a minimum ratio of ASMs
flown by Air Canada compared to the CPA ASMs flown by
Jazz. These restrictions may cause Air Canada to reduce the
level of capacity it purchases from Jazz under the CPA,
prevent Jazz from expanding its market share, or impede
Jazz’s fleet development which could significantly reduce
Jazz’s expected growth, revenue and earnings. Jazz cannot
ensure that any future Air Canada collective bargaining
agreement will not contain similar, or more severe, restrictions
for Jazz.
Constraints on Jazz’s ability to establish new operations
Subject to regulatory restrictions, the CPA does not preclude
Jazz from entering into capacity purchase agreements with,
or providing airline services to, other carriers as long as Jazz’s
ability to perform its obligations under the CPA is not impaired
as a result. However, if Jazz enters into an agreement with
another carrier to provide regional airline services (other than
charter flights), whether on a capacity purchase or other
economic basis, Air Canada will have the right to reduce
the number of Covered Aircraft, on a one-for-one basis,
by the number of aircraft to be operated under such other
agreement, thereby reducing Jazz’s ability to earn revenue
from Air Canada.
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Jazz does not directly benefit from any order of, or option to
purchase, regional jet aircraft. As a result, in the event that
Jazz desires to enter into capacity purchase agreements with,
or provide airline services to, carriers other than Air Canada,
Jazz may not be able to obtain in a timely manner the aircraft
required to provide such services, unless Jazz is able to lease
such aircraft or to obtain financing for such acquisition. There
can be no assurance that Jazz’s credit ratings will enable it to
lease, or finance the acquisition of such aircraft, or do so at
reasonable borrowing rates, which could prevent Jazz from
entering into capacity purchase agreements with, or providing
airline services to, carriers other than Air Canada, which could
have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results
from operations and financial condition.
Exclusivity arrangements
Jazz does not benefit from exclusivity arrangements
preventing Air Canada from allocating some or all of its
regional capacity requirements internally or to another carrier
under a capacity purchase agreement, which could have a
material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition.
Potential conflicts with Air Canada
Conflicts may arise between Air Canada and Jazz in a number
of areas, including:
• Jazz’s and Air Canada’s respective rights and obligations
under the CPA or other agreements between Jazz and
Air Canada;
• the nature and quality of the services Air Canada provides
to Jazz and the services Jazz provides to Air Canada;
• the terms of Air Canada’s and Jazz’s respective collective
bargaining agreements;
• amendments to any of the existing agreements between
Jazz and Air Canada, including the CPA; and
• reductions in the number of Covered Aircraft in
accordance with the CPA.
Jazz may not be able to resolve any potential conflicts with
Air Canada and, even if any such conflicts are resolved, the
resolution may be on terms and conditions less favourable
to Jazz.
Limited ability to participate in improved
market conditions
While the capacity purchase business model and target
margin reflected in the CPA reduce Jazz’s financial risk and
exposure to fluctuations for many of its potentially volatile
costs, they also limit Jazz’s potential to experience higher
earnings growth from improved market conditions.
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Star Alliance
The strategic and commercial arrangements with Star
Alliance™ members provide Air Canada with important
benefits, including code-sharing, efficient connections and
transfers, reciprocal participation in frequent flyer programs
and use of airport lounges from the other members. Should
a key member leave the Star Alliance™ or otherwise be
unable to meet its obligations thereunder, it could result in a
negative impact on the network of Air Canada and Jazz and
Jazz’s business, results from operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.
Risks Relating to Jazz
Employees
Jazz’s business is labour-intensive and requires large numbers
of pilots, flight attendants, mechanics and other personnel.
Jazz’s business plan will require Jazz to locate, hire, train
and retain new employees. There can be no assurance that
Jazz will be able to locate, hire, train and retain the qualified
employees that it needs to carry out its plans or replace
departing employees. If Jazz is unable to hire and retain
qualified employees at a reasonable cost, this could
adversely affect its business, results from operations
and financial condition.
Labour costs and labour relations
Labour costs constitute the largest percentage of Jazz’s
total operating costs that are borne by Jazz. There can be no
assurance that the estimates of Jazz’s future labour costs will
be accurate. If such costs exceed Jazz’s estimates, Jazz may
realize decreased profits or even losses under the CPA.
Most of Jazz’s employees are unionized and new or modified
collective bargaining agreements were concluded in 2003
and 2004. No strikes or lock-outs may lawfully occur until
after the agreements expire in 2009. However, there can be
no assurance that there will not be a labour conflict that could
lead to an interruption or stoppage in Jazz’s service. Any
labour disruption or work stoppage could adversely affect the
ability of Jazz to conduct its operations and have a material
adverse effect on its ability to carry out its obligations under
the CPA and on its business, results from operations and
financial condition. There can be no assurance that future
agreements with employees’ unions will be on terms in line
with Jazz’s expectations or comparable to agreements
entered into by other regional airlines, and any future
agreements may increase labour costs or otherwise adversely
affect Jazz.

If there is a labour disruption or work stoppage by any of the
unionized work groups of Air Canada, there would also likely
be a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition.
If there is a labour disruption or work stoppage by any
unionized work group of Air Canada which provides services
to Jazz under the CPA, Jazz may lose access to such
services and there can be no assurance that sufficient
replacement services could be obtained or that replacement
services could be obtained on a cost effective basis.
Condition to labour productivity enhancements
During the restructuring of Jazz’s predecessor under the
CCAA, one of the improvements made in the collective
agreement with ALPA, representing Jazz’s pilot group, was
the implementation of productivity enhancements which
require a minimum threshold of aircraft to be maintained
in the fleet in order for the productivity enhancements to be
available to Jazz. The productivity enhancements primarily
relate to the work and scheduling provisions of the collective
agreement which enables Jazz to schedule pilots for more
hours in a given month at their normal hourly rate of pay.
Failure by Jazz to maintain a minimum fleet of 125 aircraft
after December 31, 2006 would result in a loss of the
productivity enhancements, which could have a material
adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations
and financial condition.
Leverage and restrictive covenants in current
and future indebtedness
The ability of the Fund and Jazz to make distributions
or make other payments or advances will be subject to
applicable laws and contractual restrictions contained in the
instruments governing any indebtedness of Jazz (including
the Credit Facilities). The degree to which Jazz is leveraged
could have important consequences to the Unitholders of the
Fund, including: (i) that Jazz’s ability to obtain additional
financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures
or acquisitions may be limited; (ii) that a significant portion of
Jazz’s cash flow from operations may be dedicated to the
payment of the principal of and interest on its indebtedness,
thereby reducing funds available for future distributions and
causing taxable income for Unitholders of the Fund to exceed
cash distributions; (iii) that certain of Jazz’s borrowings will be
at variable rates of interest, which exposes Jazz to the risk of
increased interest rates; and (iv) that Jazz may be more
vulnerable to economic downturns and be limited in its ability
to withstand competitive pressures. These factors may
increase the sensitivity of distributable cash to interest
rate variations.

In addition, the Credit Facilities contain numerous restrictive
covenants limiting the discretion of management with respect
to certain business matters. These covenants place significant
restrictions on, among other things, the ability of Jazz to
create liens or other encumbrances, to pay distributions
on the LP Units of Jazz LP or make certain other payments,
investments, loans and guarantees and to sell or otherwise
dispose of assets and merge or consolidate with another
entity. In addition, the Credit Facilities contain a number of
financial covenants that require Jazz to meet certain financial
ratios and financial condition tests. A failure to comply with
the obligations in the Credit Facilities could result in a default
which, if not cured or waived, could result in a termination of
distributions by Jazz and permit acceleration of the relevant
indebtedness. If the indebtedness under the Credit Facilities,
including any possible hedge contracts with the lenders, were
to be accelerated, there can be no assurance that the assets
of Jazz would be sufficient to repay in full that indebtedness.
Jazz will have to refinance its available credit facilities or other
debt and there can be no assurance that Jazz will be able to
do so or be able to do so on terms as favourable as those
presently in place. If Jazz is unable to refinance these credit
facilities or other debt, or is only able to refinance these
credit facilities or other debt on less favourable and/or more
restrictive terms, this may have a material adverse effect on
Jazz’s financial position, which may result in a reduction or
suspension of cash distributions to Unitholders of the Fund
and cause taxable income for Unitholders of the Fund to
exceed cash distributions. In addition, the terms of any
new credit facility or debt may be less favourable or more
restrictive that the terms of the existing credit facilities or
other debt, which may indirectly limit or negatively impact
the ability of the Fund to pay cash distributions and cause
taxable income for Unitholders of the Fund to exceed
cash distributions.
Current global financial conditions have been characterized
by increased volatility and several financial institutions have
either gone into bankruptcy or have had to be rescued by
governmental authorities. Access to new public financing
(if required by Jazz) has been negatively impacted by these
events, which may impact the ability of Jazz to obtain
financing in the future on favourable terms.
Reliance on key personnel
The success of Jazz depends on the abilities, experience,
industry knowledge and personal efforts of senior
management and other key employees of Jazz, including their
ability to retain and attract skilled employees. The loss of the
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services of such key personnel could have a material adverse
effect on the business, results from operations, financial
condition or future prospects of Jazz. Jazz’s growth plans
may put additional strain and demand on management and
on Jazz’s employees and produce risks in both productivity
and retention levels. In addition, Jazz may not be able to
attract and retain additional qualified management as
needed in the future.
Risks relating to financial instruments
For a description of the interest rate risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and currency risk associated with Jazz’s
financial instruments, see the discussion on page 32
“Financial Instruments and Risk Management”.
Risks Relating to the Industry
Economic and geopolitical conditions
Airline operating results are sensitive to economic and
geopolitical conditions, which have a significant impact on
the demand for air transportation. Airline fares and passenger
demand have fluctuated significantly in the past and may
fluctuate significantly in the future. Air Canada is not able
to predict with certainty market conditions and the fares
it may be able to charge. Customer expectations can
change rapidly and the demand for lower fares may limit
revenue opportunities. Travel, especially leisure travel, is a
discretionary consumer expense. A downturn in economic
growth in North America, as well as geopolitical instability in
various areas of the world, could have the effect of reducing
demand for air travel. In addition, the recent increases, and
any further increases, in the value of the Canadian dollar
relative to the United States dollar could affect the desirability
of transborder travel to Canada. Though, under the terms
of the CPA any resulting reduction in passenger revenues
is principally at Air Canada’s risk, such an event could have
a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition if Air Canada were to
reduce its capacity usage or were unable to meet its
obligations under the CPA.
In addition, fuel costs represent a major expense to air
carriers. Since 2005, fuel prices have increased to and have
fluctuated at near historically high levels. Should fuel prices
remain at such levels or further increase, demand for air travel
may decrease as a result of fuel surcharges added to airline
fares and Air Canada may be unable to pass on any further
increases to its customers through fuel surcharges. Though,
under the terms of the CPA Jazz’s fuel costs are reimbursed
by Air Canada and any resulting reduction in passenger
revenues is principally at Air Canada’s risk, this could have
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a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition if Air Canada were to
reduce its capacity usage or were unable to meet its
obligations under the CPA.
Impact of competition on Air Canada’s
need to utilize Jazz’s services
The airline industry is highly competitive. Air Canada
competes with other major carriers as well as low cost
carriers on its routes, including routes that Jazz flies under
the CPA. Competitors could rapidly enter markets Jazz
serves for Air Canada, and quickly discount fares, which
could lessen the economic benefit of Jazz’s regional
operations to Air Canada.
In addition to traditional competition among airlines, the
industry faces competition from ground transportation
alternatives. Video teleconferencing and other methods of
electronic communication have also added a new dimension
of competition to the industry as businesses travelers seek
substitutes to air travel.
Impact of increased competition in the regional airline
industry on Jazz’s growth opportunities
Aside from the limitations under the CPA and the regulatory
prohibition on cabotage, Jazz’s ability to provide regional air
service to a major United States airline is limited by existing
relationships that all of the United States network airlines
have with other regional operators. Additionally, most of the
network airlines are subject to scope clause restrictions under
their collective bargaining agreements with employees that
restrict their ability to add new regional jet capacity.
In addition, new competitors may enter the regional airline
industry. Such new or existing competitors may enter into
capacity purchase agreements with airlines, including Air
Canada, in respect of routes currently operated by Jazz.
Capacity growth by other regional airlines in the regional jet
market would lead to significantly greater competition and
may result in lower rates of return in the regional airline
industry. Further, many of the network airlines are focused
on reducing costs, which may also result in lower operating
margins in the regional airline industry.
Airline industry characterized by low gross profit margins
and high fixed costs
The airline industry generally and scheduled service in
particular are characterized by low gross profit margins and
high fixed costs. The costs of operating any particular flight
do not vary significantly with the number of passengers
carried and, therefore, a relatively small change in the number
of passengers or in fare pricing or traffic mix could have a

significant effect on Air Canada’s operating and financial
results. This condition has been exacerbated by aggressive
pricing by low-cost carriers, which has had the effect of
driving down fares in general. Accordingly, a minor shortfall
from Air Canada’s expected revenue levels could have a
material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition if Air Canada were to
reduce its capacity usage or were unable to meet its
obligations under the CPA.
Terrorist attacks
Terrorist attacks, such as the events of September 11, 2001,
and subsequent terrorist activity, notably in the Middle East,
Southeast Asia and Europe, have caused uncertainty in the
minds of the traveling public. The occurrence of a major
terrorist attack (whether domestic or international and
whether involving Air Canada, Jazz, another carrier or no
carrier at all) and increasingly restrictive security measures,
such as the current restrictions on the content of carry-on
baggage, could have a material adverse effect on passenger
demand for air travel and on the number of passengers
traveling on Air Canada’s and Jazz’s flights. Though, under
the terms of the CPA any resulting reduction in passenger
revenues and/or increases in insurance and security costs
is principally at Air Canada’s risk, such an event could have
a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition if Air Canada were to
reduce its capacity usage or were unable to meet its
obligations under the CPA.
Epidemic diseases
An outbreak of an epidemic disease, such as influenza
(whether domestic or international) or Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome (“SARS”) could have a material
adverse effect on passenger demand for air travel and the
number of passengers travelling on Air Canada and Jazz’s
flights. The seven day travel advisory issued by the World
Health Organization (the “WHO”) in 2003, relating to the
outbreak of SARS in Toronto and the international SARS
outbreak, had a significant adverse effect on passenger
demand for air travel destinations served by Air Canada
and Jazz, and on the number of passengers travelling on Air
Canada’s and Jazz’s flights and resulted in a major negative
impact on traffic on Air Canada’s entire network. Another
WHO advisory (whether relating to Canadian cities or regions
or other cities, regions or countries) could have a material
adverse effect on passenger demand for air travel and on the
number of passengers traveling on Air Canada’s and Jazz’s
flights. Any resulting reduction in passenger revenues is
principally at Air Canada’s risk, such an event could have

a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from
operations and financial condition if Air Canada were to
reduce its capacity usage or were unable to meet its
obligations under the CPA.
Interruptions or disruptions in service
Jazz’s business is significantly dependent upon its ability
to operate without interruption at a number of key airports,
including Toronto Pearson. An interruption or stoppage
in service at a key airport could have a material adverse
effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition.
Dependence on technology
Jazz relies in part on technology, including computer and
telecommunications equipment and software to increase
revenues, reduce costs, and operate its business. Proper
implementation and operation of technology initiatives is
fundamental to Jazz’s ability to operate a profitable business.
Jazz continuously invests in new technology initiatives to
remain competitive, and its continued ability to invest
sufficient amounts to enhance technology will affect
Jazz’s ability to operate successfully. An inability to invest
in technological initiatives would have a material adverse
effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition.
Jazz’s technology systems may be vulnerable to a variety of
sources of failure, interruption or misuse, including by reason
of natural disasters, terrorist attacks, telecommunications
failures, computer viruses, hackers and other security issues.
While Jazz maintains and continues to invest in, technology
security initiatives and disaster recovery plans, these
measures may not be adequate or implemented properly.
Any failure in technology employed by Jazz or technology
employed by Air Canada to provide services to Jazz,
including by reason of power, telecommunication or Internet
interruptions, could materially and adversely affect Jazz’s
operations and could have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s
business, results from operations and financial condition.
Seasonal nature of the business, other factors and
prior performance
Under the CPA, Jazz is paid fees by Air Canada on a variety
of different metrics based on Jazz’s estimated controllable
costs for each calendar year in the applicable period markedup by a specified percentage. Such mark-up equates to a
specified margin on Jazz’s estimated Scheduled Flights
Revenue for each calendar year in the applicable period.
However, Jazz’s quarterly results could differ from those
contemplated by the target margin based on a variety of
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factors, including the timing of capital expenditures and
changes in operating expenses, such as personnel and
maintenance costs, over the course of a fiscal year.

by creating “administrative monetary penalties” for a breach
of the “abuse of dominance” provisions by a dominant
domestic air carrier.

Jazz has historically experienced considerably greater
demand for its services in the second and third quarters of
the calendar year and significantly lower demand in the first
and fourth quarters of the calendar year. This demand pattern
is principally a result of the high number of leisure travelers
and their preference for travel during the spring and summer
months, thereby increasing the flying hour requirements of
Air Canada. Jazz has substantial fixed costs that do not
meaningfully fluctuate with passenger demand in the shortterm. Jazz’s revenues under the CPCA do not fluctuate
significantly with Passenger Load Factors.

In July 2003, the Competition Tribunal released its reasons
and findings in a proceeding between the Commissioner of
Canada and Air Canada which had considered the approach
to be taken in determining whether Air Canada was operating
below “avoidable costs” in violation of one of the new
airline-specific abuse of dominance provisions. The
Competition Tribunal applied a very broadly crafted cost test
in its decision. In September 2004, the Commissioner of
Competition published a letter describing the enforcement
approach that would be taken in future cases involving the
airline-specific abuse of dominance provisions, which
included a statement that the Tribunal’s approach to
avoidable costs remains relevant.

Demand for air travel is also affected by factors such as
economic conditions, war or the threat of war or terrorist
attacks, fare levels and weather conditions. Due to these and
other factors, operating results for an interim period are not
necessarily indicative of operating results for an entire year,
and operating results for a historical period are not necessarily
indicative of operating results for a future period.
Regulatory matters
The airline industry is subject to extensive Canadian and
foreign government regulations relating to, among other
things, security, safety, licensing, competition, noise levels,
the environment and, in some measure, pricing. Additional
laws and regulations may be proposed, and decisions
rendered, from time to time which could impose additional
requirements or restrictions on airline operations. The
implementation of additional regulations or decisions by
Transport Canada, the Competition Bureau, the Competition
Tribunal, the Canadian Transportation Agency, the Treasury
Board or other domestic or foreign governmental entities may
have a material adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results
from operations and financial condition. Jazz cannot give any
assurances that new regulations or revisions to the existing
legislation, or decisions, will not be adopted or rendered. The
adoption of such new laws and regulations or revisions, or the
rendering of such decisions, could have a material adverse
effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition.
In July 2000, the Government of Canada amended the CTA,
the Competition Act and the Air Canada Public Participation
Act to address the competitive airline environment in Canada
and ensure protection for consumers. This legislation
included airline-specific provisions with respect to “abuse of
dominance” under the Competition Act, later supplemented
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On November 2, 2004, the Minister of Industry tabled
amendments to the Competition Act in Bill C-19 which, if
enacted, would have removed the airline-specific “abuse of
dominance” provisions from the Competition Act. However,
on November 29, 2005, the 38th Parliament of Canada was
dissolved. As a result, the legislative process relating to the
adoption of Bill C-19 was terminated. On October 16, 2007,
private Bill C-454 containing provisions to remove the
airline-specific “abuse of dominance” provisions from the
Competition Act was tabled for the first reading in the House
of Commons. Management cannot predict if or when such
proposed legislation will come into force.
In the event that the Commissioner of Competition
commences inquiries or brings similar applications with
respect to significant competitive domestic routes and such
applications are successful, it could have a material adverse
effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition.
Jazz is subject to domestic and United States laws
regarding privacy of passenger and employee data.
Compliance with these regulatory regimes is expected to
result in additional operating costs and could have a material
adverse effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations
and financial condition.
Environment
As a participant in the airline industry, Jazz is exposed to
any future regulations concerning greenhouse gas emissions
by its aircraft. Jazz would be faced with additional costs
necessary to comply with any such regulations, which could
adversely affect its financial results.

Third party war risk insurance
There is a risk that the Government of Canada may not
continue to provide an indemnity for third party war risk
liability coverage, which it is currently providing Jazz and
certain other carriers in Canada. In the event that the
Government of Canada does not continue to provide such
indemnity or amends such indemnity, Jazz and other industry
participants would have to turn to the commercial insurance
market to seek such coverage. Alternative solutions, such as
those envisioned by International Civil Aviation Organization
(“ICAO”) and IATA have not developed as planned due to
actions taken by other countries and the recent availability of
supplemental insurance. ICAO and IATA are continuing their
efforts in this area, however, the achievement of a global
solution is not likely in the immediate or near future. The
United States federal government has set up its own facility
to provide war risk coverage to United States carriers, thus
removing itself as a key component of any global plan.
Furthermore, the London aviation insurance market has
announced its intention to introduce a new standard war and
terrorism exclusion clause to apply to aircraft hull and spares,
and war risk insurance policies and intends to introduce
similar exclusions to airline passenger and third party liability
policies. Such clause will exclude claims caused by the hostile
use of a dirty bomb, electromagnetic pulse device, or bio
chemical materials.
The Government of Canada indemnity program is designed
to address these types of issues as they arise, but the
Government of Canada has not yet decided to extend the
existing indemnity to cover this exclusion. Unless and until
the Government of Canada does so, the loss of coverage
exposes Jazz to this new uninsured risk and may result in
Jazz being in breach of certain regulatory requirements or
contractual arrangements, which may have a material adverse
effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition.
Casualty losses
Due to the nature of its core operating business, Jazz may be
subject to liability claims arising out of accidents or disasters
involving aircraft on which Jazz’s customers are traveling or
involving aircraft of other carriers maintained or repaired by
Jazz, including claims for serious personal injury or death.
There can be no assurance that Jazz’s insurance coverage
will be sufficient to cover one or more large claims and any
shortfall could be material. Additionally, any accident or
disaster involving one of Air Canada’s or Jazz’s aircraft or
an aircraft of another carrier maintained or repaired by Air

Canada, ACGHS or Jazz could significantly harm their
reputation for safety, which would have a material adverse
effect on Jazz’s business, results from operations and
financial condition.
Risks Related to the Structure of the Fund
Dependence on Jazz
The Fund is an unincorporated open-ended trust which is
entirely dependent on the operations and assets of Jazz
through the indirect ownership of 100% of the LP Units of
Jazz LP. Cash distributions to Unitholders are dependent on,
among other things, the ability of the Trust to pay interest on
the trust notes and to make cash distributions in respect of
the Trust Units, which, in turn, is dependent on Jazz LP
making cash distributions in respect of the LP Units. The
ability of Jazz LP or the Trust to make cash distributions or
other payments or advances are subject to applicable laws
and regulations and contractual restrictions contained in the
instruments governing any indebtedness of those entities.
Cash distributions are not guaranteed and may fluctuate
Although the Fund intends to distribute the interest received
in respect of the trust notes and the cash distributions
received in respect of the Trust Units, less expenses and
amounts, if any, paid by the Fund in connection with the
redemption of Units, there can be no assurance regarding
the amounts of income to be generated by Jazz’s business
or ultimately distributed to the Fund. The actual amount
distributed in respect of the Units is not guaranteed and
depends upon numerous factors, including Jazz’s profitability
and its ability to sustain operating cash flows and the
fluctuations in Jazz’s working capital and capital expenditures
and refinancing of debt obligations, all of which are
susceptible to a number of risks.
If the Fund elects to convert from its current structure to a
corporate structure, there can be no assurance that the Fund
will maintain its current distribution policy and that dividends
will be paid to its shareholders in amounts equivalent to the
current monthly distributions paid to Unitholders.
Nature of Units
The Units do not represent a direct investment in the business
of Jazz and should not be viewed by investors as direct
securities of Jazz. As holders of Units, Unitholders do not
have the statutory rights normally associated with ownership
of shares of a corporation including, for example, the right to
bring “oppression” or “derivative” actions. The Units represent
a fractional interest in the Fund. The Fund’s primary assets
are Trust Units and trust notes. The price per Unit is a
function of anticipated distributable income.
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Market price of Units
The Units of the Fund are publicly traded at a price which
does not necessarily reflect the underlying value of the Fund.
The trading price of the Units may be affected by changes in
general market conditions which may adversely affect the
value of the Units and which are beyond the control of Jazz
and the Fund.
Unitholder liability
The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that no Unitholder of
the Fund shall be subject to any liability whatsoever to any
person in connection with a holding of Units. However, in
jurisdictions outside the Provinces of British Columbia,
Ontario, Québec and Alberta, there remains a risk, which is
considered by the Fund to be remote in the circumstances,
that a Unitholder could be held personally liable, despite such
statement in the Fund Declaration of Trust, for the obligations
of the Fund to the extent that claims are not satisfied out of
the assets of the Fund. The affairs of the Fund are conducted
to seek to minimize such risk wherever possible.
Dilution of existing Unitholders and
Limited Partnership Unitholders
The Fund Declaration of Trust authorizes the Fund to issue an
unlimited number of Units for that consideration and on those
terms and conditions as shall be established by the Trustees
without the approval of any Unitholders. The Unitholders will
have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further
issues. Jazz LP is permitted to issue additional LP Units for
any consideration and on any terms and conditions.
Income tax matters
On October 31, 2006, the Minister of Finance (Canada)
announced a “Tax Fairness Plan” which, in part, proposed
changes to the manner in which certain flow-through entities

and the distributions from such entities are taxed. Bill C-52,
Budget Implementation Act, 2007, which received Royal
Assent on June 22, 2007, contained the SIFT Rules, which
are designed to implement these proposals. Under the
SIFT Rules, the Fund, as a publicly traded income trust, is
considered a SIFT and will be subject to trust level taxation
as of January 1, 2011, at a rate comparable to the combined
federal and provincial corporate tax rate on certain types of
income. In addition, the taxable distributions received by
Unitholders will be treated as dividends from a taxable
Canadian corporation.
The SIFT Rules could become effective on a date earlier than
January 1, 2011, if the Fund is deemed to have undergone
“undue expansion’’ during the period from November 1, 2006
to December 31, 2010, as described in the Normal Growth
Guidelines issued by the Department of Finance (Canada)
(“Finance”) on December 15, 2006.
The Normal Growth Guidelines indicate that the Fund will not
lose the benefit of the deferred application of the new tax
regime to 2011 if the equity capital of the Fund does not grow
as a result of issuances of new equity (which includes Units,
debt that is convertible into Units, and potentially other
substitutes for such equity) before 2011 by an amount
that exceeds the greater of $50.0 million and an objective
“safe harbour”’ amount based on a percentage of the
Fund’s market capitalization as of the end of trading on
October 31, 2006 (measured in terms of the value of the
Fund’s issued and outstanding publicly traded Units, not
including debt, options or interests that were convertible into
Units, the “October 31, 2006 Market Capitalization”). The
Normal Growth Guidelines provide for a “safe harbour”
amount as follows:

Time period safe harbour amount
Time Period		

November 1, 2006 to December 31, 2007		
2008		
2009		
2010		

Safe Harbour Amount

40%
20%
20%
20%

of
of
of
of

October
October
October
October

31,
31,
31,
31,

2006
2006
2006
2006

Market
Market
Market
Market

Capitalization
Capitalization
Capitalization
Capitalization

These “safe harbour” amounts are cumulative during the transition period. Management has determined that the Fund’s
October 31, 2006 Market Capitalization was approximately $232.0 million.
On December 4, 2008, Finance announced an acceleration of the safe harbour amounts for 2009 and 2010 such that
after December 4, 2008, they became immediately available. The safe harbour rules remained cumulative such that after
December 4, 2008, the maximum amount that could be issued by a SIFT under the safe harbour rules is 100% of its
October 31, 2006 market capitalization less the value of any units issued after October 31, 2006 (other than any issuances
of units that would not be subject to the Normal Growth Guidelines).
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Although this was likely not the intent of the SIFT Rules
proposed by Finance, there can be no assurance that the
SIFT Rules, as they currently read, may not be interpreted
and applied in a manner that would cause the Trust and
Jazz LP to be considered SIFTs. If the Trust and Jazz LP
were considered to be SIFTs, it is assumed that they would
also be considered to have been SIFTs on October 31, 2006.
On December 20, 2007, Finance announced proposed
technical amendments to the SIFT rules to, among other
things, ensure that trusts and partnerships that are not
publicly traded and that are wholly-owned by, among other
entities, SIFTS, such as the Trust and Jazz LP, are not
considered to be SIFTs. The most recent version of the
proposed amendments are contained in the Notice of Ways
and Means motion dated December 4, 2008. No assurance
may be given that these proposed amendments will be
enacted as currently proposed or at all.
On June 26, 2007, the Ministère des Finances (Québec) (the
“Ministère”) published Information Bulletin 2007-5 confirming
that Quebec’s tax legislation will be harmonized with the SIFT
Rules but that a separate Quebec tax regime relating to SIFT
entities will be implemented. More specifically, the Ministère
announced that a SIFT with an establishment in Quebec at
any time in a taxation year will be subject to a Quebec tax
at a rate generally equal to the Quebec tax rate relating to
corporations and that a business allocation formula based
on the gross income of a SIFT and the wages and salaries it
pays, similar to the one used for the purpose of determining
the tax payable by a corporation that has activities in Quebec
and outside Quebec, will apply to determine the tax payable
to Quebec by a SIFT that has, in a taxation year, an
establishment both in Quebec and outside Quebec. On
February 26, 2008, Finance announced changes to the SIFT
Rules that will, among other things, result in harmonization
between the SIFT Rules and the separate Quebec tax regime
relating to SIFT entities.
There can be no assurance that the Fund, the Trust or Jazz
LP will be able to retain the benefit of the deferred application
of the SIFT Rules until 2011. Loss of the benefit of the
deferred application of the SIFT Rules until 2011 could have
a material and adverse affect on the value of the Units.
The SIFT Rules may have an adverse impact on the Fund, the
Trust, Jazz LP and the Unitholders, on the value of the Units
and on the ability of the Fund, the Trust and Jazz LP to
undertake financings and acquisitions, and, at such time as
the SIFT Rules apply, the distributable cash of the Fund may
be materially reduced. The effect of the recently enacted SIFT
Rules on the market for the Units is uncertain.

No assurance can be given that Canadian federal and/or
provincial income tax law respecting income trusts and other
flow-through entities will not be further changed in a manner
which adversely affects the Fund and its Unitholders.
Nature of distributions
The after-tax return for any Units owned by Unitholders which
are subject to Canadian income tax will depend, in part, on
the composition for tax purposes of distributions paid by the
Fund (portions of which may be fully or partially taxable or
may be tax deferred). The composition for tax purposes of
those distributions may change over time, thus affecting the
after-tax return to Unitholders. The SIFT Rules will apply a tax
on certain income earned by a SIFT trust or partnership, and
treat the taxable distributions of such income received by
investors in such entities as taxable dividends. The SIFT Rules
do not change the tax treatment of distributions that are in
excess of the taxable income of a SIFT trust. The SIFT Rules
generally do not apply to income trusts, the units of which
were publicly traded as of October 31, 2006, such as the
Fund, until January 1, 2011, subject to compliance with the
Normal Growth Guidelines released by the Department of
Finance on December 15, 2006, as may be amended from
time to time.
Investment eligibility
There can be no assurance that the Units will continue to
be qualified investments for Plans under the Income Tax Act.
The Income Tax Act imposes penalties for the acquisition or
holding of non-qualified or ineligible investments by Plans.
Restrictions on potential growth
The payout by Jazz of substantially all of its operating cash
flow will make additional capital and operating expenditures
dependent on increased cash flow or additional financing in
the future. Lack of those funds could limit the future growth
of Jazz and its cash flow.
Conversion to corporate structure
Finance has released proposed amendments to facilitate
tax deferred conversions of SIFTS to corporations. The Fund
has commenced the process of considering its options with
respect to converting to a corporate structure. Should the
Fund decide to convert from its current structure to a
corporate structure prior to January 1, 2011, there may be
an adverse impact on the market price of the Units resulting
from the change in status.
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Restrictions on certain Unitholders and liquidity of Units
The Fund Declaration of Trust imposes various restrictions
on Unitholders. Non-resident Unitholders are prohibited from
beneficially owning more than 49.9% of the Units. In addition,
the voting rights of non-resident Unitholders are limited to
25% of the aggregate number of outstanding votes attaching
to all outstanding Units and 25% of the aggregate number
of votes that may be cast at any meeting of the Unitholders.
These restrictions may limit (or inhibit the exercise of) the
rights of certain Unitholders, including non-residents of
Canada and United States persons, to acquire Units, to
exercise their rights as Unitholders and to initiate and
complete take-over bids in respect of the Units. As a result,
these restrictions may limit the demand for Units from certain
investors and thereby adversely affect the liquidity and market
value of the Units held by the public.
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Risk Related to Current Legal Proceedings
In February 2006, Jazz commenced proceedings before the
Ontario Superior Court of Justice against Porter Airlines Inc.
(“Porter”) and other defendants (collectively the “Porter
Defendants”) after Jazz became aware that it would be
excluded from operating flights from Toronto City Centre
(Island) Airport (the “TCCA”). On October 26, 2007, the
defendants counter-claimed against Jazz and Air Canada
alleging various violations of competition law, including that
Jazz and Air Canada’s commercial relationship contravenes
Canadian competition laws, and claiming $850.0 million in
damages. Concurrently with the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice proceedings, Jazz commenced judicial review
proceedings against the Toronto Port Authority (“TPA”) before
the Federal Court of Canada relating to Jazz’s access to the
TCCA. The Porter Defendants were granted intervener and
party status in these proceedings. In January of 2008, Porter
filed a defence and counterclaim against Jazz and Air Canada
making allegations and seeking conclusions similar to those in
the Ontario Superior Court counterclaim. Jazz maintains that
Porter’s counterclaims in both jurisdictions are without merit
and are being vigorously contested in court.

Glossary of Terms
Available Seat Mile (ASMs) – Available Seat Mile means a
measure of passenger capacity calculated by multiplying the
total number of seats available for passengers by the number
of miles flown;
Block Hours – Block Hours mean the number of minutes
elapsing from the time the chocks are removed from the wheels
of an aircraft until the chocks are next again returned to the
wheels of the aircraft, divided by 60;
Billable Block Hours – Billable Block Hours mean actual Block
Hours flown under the CPA plus Block Hours related to weather
and air traffic control cancellations, and commercial cancellations
and commercial ferry flights;

Fund – Fund means Jazz Air Income Fund;
Jazz – Jazz means Jazz Air LP, and where the context requires,
Jazz Air LP, together with its general partner, Jazz GP and their
respective subsidiaries and predecessors;
Jazz GP – Jazz GP means Jazz Air Holding GP Inc.,
a corporation incorporated under the Canada Business
Corporations Act on August 23, 2005, to act as the general
partner of Jazz;
LP Units – LP Units mean the limited partnership units of Jazz;
Maintenance Capital Expenditures – represent expenditures
incurred to sustain operations or Jazz’s productive capacity;

Controllable Actual Margin – Controllable Actual Margin means
for any period, the actual Controllable Operating Income divided
by the actual Scheduled Flights Revenue;

Operating Aircraft – Operating Aircraft means Covered Aircraft
under the CPA plus charter aircraft less new aircraft deliveries
which have not yet entered commercial service;

Controllable Adjusted Actual Margin – Controllable Adjusted
Actual Margin means for any period, the Controllable Actual
Margin less 50% of any margin exceeding 14.09%, at this level;

Passenger Load Factor – Passenger Load Factor means
a measure of passenger capacity utilization derived by expressing
Revenue Passenger Miles as a percentage of Available Seat Miles;

Controllable Cost per Available Seat Mile (Controllable
CASM) – Controllable Cost per Available Seat Mile means
Controllable Costs divided by Available Seat Mile;

Productive Capacity Management Strategy – represents
capital expenditures required to sustain operations. Under the
current operations, this is defined as supporting an operating
fleet of 137 aircraft (133 Covered Aircraft and 4 aircraft committed
to charter operations). Capital expenditures are made in support
of ongoing fleet requirements, such as aircraft communication
systems, cockpit standardization, regulatory compliance,
maintenance information systems infrastructure, aircraft rotable
parts and leasehold improvements;

Controllable Costs – Controllable Costs mean for any period,
all costs and expenses incurred and paid by Jazz with respect
to the Scheduled Flights and the Aircraft Services, as defined
in the CPA, other than pass-through costs, but including any
profit sharing expense;
Controllable Operating Income – Controllable Operating Income
means for any period, Scheduled Flights Revenue less
Controllable Costs;
Cost per Available Seat Mile (CASM) – Cost per Available
Seat Mile means the operating expense per Available Seat Mile;
Covered Aircraft – Covered Aircraft are Jazz’s aircraft subject
to the CPA;
CPA – CPA means the amended and restated capacity purchase
agreement effective January 1, 2006, between
Air Canada and Jazz;
Credit Facilities – Credit Facilities mean the senior
secured syndicated facilities in the aggregate amount of
$150 million established pursuant to a credit agreement dated
February 2, 2006, between Jazz, as borrower, the financial
institutions identified therein, as Lenders and Royal Bank of
Canada, as administrative agent;

Revenue Passenger Miles (RPMs) – Revenue Passenger Miles
mean the total number of revenue passengers carried, including
frequent flyer redemptions, multiplied by the number of miles
flown by such passengers;
Scheduled Flights – Scheduled Flights mean the flights operated
by the Covered Aircraft whose routes, schedules and fares are
determined by Air Canada in accordance with the CPA;
Scheduled Flights Revenue – Scheduled Flights Revenue
means, for any period, all revenues generated by Jazz under
the CPA from aircraft services and Scheduled Flights excluding
revenues resulting from the reimbursement by Air Canada of
Jazz’s pass-through costs and from the payment by Air Canada
of performance incentives;
Trust – Trust means Jazz Air Trust; and
Units or Fund Units – Units or Fund Units mean units
of the Fund.

FTE – FTEs are full-time equivalents in respect of employee
staffing levels;
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Auditors’ Report
February 10, 2009

To the Unitholders of Jazz Air Income Fund
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Jazz Air Income Fund as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and
the consolidated statements of unitholders’ equity, income (loss), comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Fund as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Halifax, Nova Scotia

Management’s Report
February 10, 2009

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jazz Air Income Fund are the responsibility of management and
have been approved by the Board of Trustees. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The consolidated financial statements include some
amounts and assumptions based on management’s best estimates which have been derived with careful judgement.
In fulfilling its responsibilities, management has developed and maintains a system of internal accounting controls.
These controls are designed to ensure that the financial records are reliable for preparation of the financial statements.
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee of the Board of Trustees reviewed and approved the Fund’s consolidated financial
statements, and recommended their approval by the Board of Trustees.

Joseph D. Randell
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Allan D. Rowe
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

jazz AIR income fund consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents		
Accounts receivable – trade and other (note 16)
Spare parts, materials and supplies (note 2)		
Prepaid expenses		

131,876		
71,618		
46,150		
12,905		

122,874
82,435
37,587
8,560

Total current assets		
Property and equipment (note 4)
Intangible assets (note 5)		
Goodwill (note 6)		
Other assets (note 7)		

262,549		
219,028		
722,102		
–		
29,072		

251,456
225,387
764,985
147,284
33,756

			

1,232,751		

1,422,868

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 16)		
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (note 10)		
Distributions payable		

197,046		
2,837		
10,296		

201,750
2,119
10,296

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt (note 9)		
Obligations under capital leases (note 10)		
Future income tax (note 12)		
Other long-term liabilities (note 11)

210,179		
114,729		
20,581		
23,561		
55,672		

214,165
113,475
19,069
74,545
58,838

			
Unitholders’ Equity		

424,722		
808,029		

480,092
942,776

1,232,751		

1,422,868

		
Economic dependence (note 16)
Commitments (note 17)
Contingencies (note 23)
Subsequent event (note 24)

These financial statements consolidate the results of the Partnership from May 24, 2007. Prior to that date, the results of the Partnership were accounted
for by the equity method (NOTE 3).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Trustees

Katherine M. Lee	Richard H. McCoy
Trustee
Trustee
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Consolidated Statements of Unitholders’ Equity
					 Accumulated
Retained earnings (deficit)
		
			
other
		
Unitholders’
Accumulated		
Contributed comprehensive
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
capital
earnings
Distributions
surplus
income (loss)
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
$
$
$
$
$

Total
$

Balance – December 31, 2006
Adjusted opening balance, due to new
accounting policies adopted regarding
financial instruments

246,174

15,392

(19,983)

–

–

241,583

–

–

–

–

(409)

(409)

Balance – December 31, 2006, restated
Change in fair value during the year
Issuance of 638,223 Fund Units
Issuance of 50,000,000 Fund Units
Issuance of 47,226,920 Fund Units
Distributions
Fund Units held by unit based
compensation plans (note 19)
Accretion related to the initial
long-term incentive plan
Accretion related to the ongoing
long-term incentive plan
Redemption of 1,077 Fund Units
tendered by Unitholders
Net income for the year

246,174
–
5,457
401,500
387,733
–

15,392
–
–
–
–
–

(19,983)
–
–
–
–
(107,203)

–
–
–
–
–
–

(409)
251
–
–
–
–

241,174
251
5,457
401,500
387,733
(107,203)

(6,200)

–

–

4,505

–

(1,695)

–

–

–

1,112

–

1,112

–

–

–

335

–

335

(8)
–

–
14,120

–
–

–
–

–
–

(8)
14,120

Balance – December 31, 2007
Change in fair value during the year
Distributions
Fund Units held by unit based
compensation plans (note 19)
Accretion related to the initial
long-term incentive plan (note 19)
Accretion related to the ongoing
long-term incentive plan (note 19)
Net loss for the year

1,034,656
–
–

29,512
–
–

(127,186)
–
(123,552)

5,952
–
–

(158)
(3,028)
–

942,776
(3,028)
(123,552)

(205)

–

–

(1,626)

–

(1,831)

–

–

–

1,850

–

1,850

–
–

–
(9,410)

–
–

1,224
–

–
–

1,224
(9,410)

Balance – December 31, 2008

1,034,451

20,102

(250,738)

7,400

(3,186)

808,029

These financial statements consolidate the results of the Partnership from May 24, 2007. Prior to that date, the results of the Partnership were accounted
for by the equity method (NOTE 3).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Operating revenue (note 16)
Passenger
Other		

1,622,850		
13,439		

877,058
4,756

		

1,636,289		

881,814

Operating expenses (note 16)
Salaries and wages		
Benefits		
Aircraft fuel		
Depreciation and amortization 		
Food, beverage and supplies		
Aircraft maintenance materials, supplies and services		
Airport and navigation fees		
Aircraft rent
Terminal handling services		
Other		

292,647		
52,563		
430,216		
72,509		
14,795		
129,533		
199,419		
127,758		
107,345		
103,333		

167,905
27,924
196,024
39,873
9,850
71,346
118,157
70,041
53,946
61,651

			

1,530,118		

816,717

Operating income 		

106,171		

65,097

Fund’s proportionate share of net earnings 		
Interest revenue		
Interest expense
Gain on disposal of property and equipment		
Foreign exchange loss
Goodwill impairment loss (note 6)		
Unrealized loss on asset backed commercial paper (note 8)		

–		
4,236		
(8,505)		
182		
(6,263)		
(153,230)		
(2,985)		

25,464
4,301
(4,905)
11
(436)
–
(867)

			

(166,565)		

23,568

Income (loss) before future income taxes		
Provision for (recovery of) future income taxes (note 12)		

(60,394)		
(50,984)		

88,665
74,545

Net income (loss) for the years 		

(9,410)		

14,120

Weighted average number of Fund units
122,074,380		 100,970,364
Earnings (loss) per Fund Unit, basic and diluted		
$(0.08)		
$0.14
These financial statements consolidate the results of the Partnership from May 24, 2007. Prior to that date, the results of the Partnership were accounted
for by the equity method (NOTE 3).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Net income (loss) for the years		
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges		
Reclassification of net realized (gains) losses on derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges to income		

(9,410)		

14,120

(2,408)		

64

(620)		

187

Comprehensive income (loss) 		

(12,438)		

14,371

These financial statements consolidate the results of the Partnership from May 24, 2007. Prior to that date, the results of the Partnership were accounted
for by the equity method (NOTE 3).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Net income (loss) for the years		
Charges (credits) to operations not involving cash
Equity in net earnings of the Partnership		
Depreciation and amortization 		
Cash distributions from the Partnership earned		
Amortization of prepaid aircraft rent and related fees		
Gain on disposal of property and equipment		
Unit based compensation		
Foreign exchange loss (gain)		
Future income taxes		
Goodwill impairment loss		
Unrealized loss on asset backed commercial paper (note 8)		
Other		
Funding of unit based compensation plan, net of forfeitures		

(9,410)		

14,120

–		
72,509		
–		
1,928		
(182)		
3,074		
4,090		
(50,984)		
153,230		
2,985		
(1,383)		
(1,831)		

(25,464)
39,873
35,131
1,072
(11)
1,447
(947)
74,545
–
867
(1,104)
(1,695)

			
Net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations (note 15)		

174,026		
(18,938)		

137,834
(34,640)

			

155,088		

103,194

Financing activities
Repayment of obligations under capital leases (note 10)		
Redemption of Jazz Units		
Distributions		

(2,265)		
–		
(123,552)		

(706)
(8)
(98,730)

			

(125,817)		

(99,444)

Investing activities
Increase in cash on consolidation of subsidiary		
Additions to property and equipment		
Decrease in long-term receivables		
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment		
Cash equivalents reclassified to other assets, net of fair value adjustment (note 8)		

–		
(20,661)		
210		
182		
–		

138,096
(13,180)
–
11
(5,816)

			

(20,269)		

119,111

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the years		
Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of years		

9,002		
122,874		

122,861
13

Cash and cash equivalents – End of years		

131,876		

122,874

Cash payments of interest		
Cash receipts of interest		
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash		
Term deposits and fixed income securities		

10,747		
4,579		

5,556
4,131

29,042		
102,834		

122,874
–

These financial statements consolidate the results of the Partnership from May 24, 2007. Prior to that date, the results of the Partnership were accounted
for by the equity method (NOTE 3).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

1.

Nature of operations and economic dependence
Jazz Air Income Fund (the “Fund”) is an unincorporated, open-ended trust established under the laws of the Province of
Ontario by a declaration of trust dated November 25, 2005 and amended by an amended and restated declaration of trust
dated January 24, 2006 (the “Fund Declaration of Trust”). The Fund qualifies as a “mutual fund trust” for the purposes of
the Income Tax Act (Canada). The principal and head office of the Fund is located at 1000 de la Gauchetière Street West,
Suite 2100, Montréal, Québec H3B 4W5. The Fund has been established to acquire and hold, directly or indirectly,
investments in Jazz Air LP (the “Partnership”) and its general partner Jazz Air Holding GP Inc. (“Jazz GP”), a regional
airline, and such other investments as the board of Trustees of the Fund (the “Trustees”) may determine. Reference to the
Fund in the following notes to the consolidated financial statements refers to, as the context may require, the Fund and its
subsidiaries Jazz Air Trust (the “Trust”) and the Partnership collectively, the Fund and one or more of its subsidiaries, one
or more of the Fund’s subsidiaries or the Fund itself.
The Partnership operates a regional airline in Canada and the United States. Effective January 1, 2006, the Partnership
entered into a Capacity Purchase Agreement (“CPA”) with Air Canada whereby Air Canada purchases the aircraft capacity
flown under the tradename “Air Canada Jazz” and on the routes specified by Air Canada. Air Canada receives all
passenger and cargo revenue related to passenger seats and cargo services sold on scheduled flights operated by the
Partnership pursuant to the CPA and Air Canada pays the Partnership for the capacity. The Partnership is economically
and commercially dependent upon Air Canada and certain of its subsidiaries, as, in addition to being the primary source of
revenue, these entities currently provide significant services to the Partnership. In addition, Air Canada and its subsidiaries
provide a substantial portion of the aircraft financing for the Partnership.
The Partnership has historically experienced greater demand for its services in the second and third quarters of the
calendar year and lower demand in the first and fourth quarters of the calendar year. This demand pattern is principally a
result of the high number of leisure travelers and their preference for travel during the spring and summer months, thereby
increasing the flying hour requirements of Air Canada. The Partnership has substantial fixed costs that do not meaningfully
fluctuate with passenger demand in the short-term. The Partnership revenues under the CPA do not fluctuate significantly
with passenger load factors.

2.

Significant accounting policies
a)	Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements of the Fund are expressed in Canadian dollars and are prepared in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

b) Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund, and from May 24, 2007, the consolidated
accounts of the Partnership, the variable interest entity for which the Fund is the primary beneficiary. Prior to
May 24, 2007, the Fund accounted for its investment in the Partnership under the equity method. All inter-company
and inter-entity balances and transactions are eliminated.
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For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

c)	Variable Interest Entities
At its inception, the Fund adopted Accounting Guideline 15 (“AcG 15”) – Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
(“VIE”). AcG 15 defines a VIE as an entity that either does not have sufficient equity at risk to finance its activities
without subordinated financial support from other parties, or where the equity investors lack the characteristic of a
controlling financial interest, or that do not absorb the expected losses or receive the expected returns of the entity.
VIEs are subject to consolidation by an entity if that entity is deemed the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary
beneficiary is the party that is either exposed to a majority of the losses from the VIE’s activities or is entitled to
receive a majority of the VIE’s residual returns or both.
Management has reviewed its ownership, contractual and financial interests in other entities and determined that,
other than the consolidation of the consolidated accounts of the Partnership and the Fund unit based compensation
plans referred to in note 2(j), this guideline does not impact the financial statements of the Fund.

d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of current operating bank accounts, term deposits and fixed income securities
with an original term to maturity of 90 days or less. The weighted average interest rate on investments as at
December 31, 2008 is 1.62% ( 2007 – nil).

e)	Operating revenue
Under the CPA, the Partnership is paid to provide services to Air Canada as explained in notes 1 and 16. The related
fees payable by Air Canada are recognized in revenue as the capacity is provided. Incentive payments and margin
adjustments as described in note 16 are recognized, respectively, as increases in and reductions of, passenger
revenue based on management estimates during the year.
Other revenues include charter flights, maintenance, repair and overhaul (“MRO”) operations and other sources of
revenue such as third party ground handling services and flight simulator revenue, all of which are recognized when
the service is provided.
The CPA provides for a monthly payment for an amount per aircraft designed to reimburse the Partnership for
certain aircraft ownership costs. In accordance with Emerging Issues Committee No. 150, Determining Whether an
Arrangement Contains a Lease, the Partnership has concluded that a component of the revenue under the CPA is
rental income since the CPA identifies the “right of use” of a specific type and number of aircraft over a stated period
of time otherwise known as the Covered Aircraft. The amount deemed to be rental income is $159,647 for the year
ended December 31, 2008 ($91,097 for the period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007). This amount was
recorded in passenger revenue of the Fund’s consolidated statements of income.

f)	Employee future benefits
The significant policies related to employee future benefits, consistent with Section 3461, “Employee Future Benefits”
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook relating to the Fund’s defined benefit pension
plan for its pilots, the supplemental executive retirement plan for the Fund executives, and the Other Employee Future
Benefits are as follows:
• The cost of pensions earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated
on service, market interest rates, and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance,
salary escalation and retirement ages of employees. Obligations are attributed to the period beginning on the
employee’s date of joining the plan and ending on the earlier of the date of termination, death or retirement.
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(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

• The cost of the Other Employee Future Benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method
prorated on service (where applicable), market interest rates, and management’s best estimate of retirement ages
of employees, health care cost inflation, salary escalation and general inflation.
• The expected return on plan assets is based on the long-term expected rate of return on plan assets and the fair
value of the plan assets. It is reasonably possible that management’s estimate of the long-term rate of return may
change as management continues to assess future investments and strategies and as a result of changes in
financial markets.
• Past service costs arising from plan amendments of the defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of
employees active at the date of the amendment. This period is currently 19 years for the pension plan and
14 years for the supplemental executive retirement plan.
• Cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan in excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligation and the market value
of plan assets at the beginning of the year are amortized over the average remaining service periods of active
members expected to receive benefits under the plan (currently 19 years for the pension plan and 14 years for
the supplemental executive retirement plan).
• The fiscal year-end date is December 31 and the measurement date of the plan’s assets and obligations is
December 31, in prior years the measurement date was November 30. Pension obligations are attributed to the
period beginning on the employee’s date of joining the plan and ending on the earlier of the date of termination,
death or retirement. The obligations for the Other Employee Future Benefits plans are attributed to the period
beginning on the employee’s date of joining the plan or disablement (whichever applicable) and ending on the
earlier of retirement or end of disablement or age 65 (whichever applicable).

g)	Fund Unit based compensation
Initial long-term incentive plan
The Partnership has made certain commitments in connection with the granting of Fund Units to key executives
as a one-time special award to recognize their efforts in connection with the completion of the initial public offering
of the Jazz Air Income Fund (“Offering”) and to provide them with incentive compensation under an Initial Long-Term
Incentive Plan (“Initial LTIP”). On February 9, 2007, ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. (“ACE”) transferred 638,223 Fund Units
to a trust for the purpose of funding the Initial LTIP. Under the terms of the Initial LTIP, 50% of the Fund Units granted
are subject to vesting conditions based on performance and the remaining 50% are time based and vested on
December 31, 2008. Vesting is conditional on the approval of the board of directors. Performance based Fund Units
vest (1/3 per year) if the distributable cash target established by the board of directors, on behalf of Jazz GP, for the
year is met. The Distributable cash targets were met in each of the years, including the year ended December 31,
2008 and the related units vested.
Compensation costs related to the Fund Units contributed by ACE are charged to compensation expense over
the vesting period, as vesting conditions are met and based on the estimated annual performance, with the
corresponding equity contribution being accreted to contributed surplus. Distributions declared by the Fund on the
Fund Units granted ultimately accrue to the employees. Forfeited Fund Units, to the extent they were contributed by
ACE, and accumulated distributions thereon, accrue to ACE. The trust is a VIE with respect to the Fund, and as such
it is consolidated with the Fund’s financial statements. Fund Units contributed by ACE are credited to contributed
surplus at their aggregate value on February 9, 2007, the contribution date, with an equivalent reduction of Fund Unit
holders’ (the “Unitholders”) capital. Compensation expense under this plan is charged to earnings over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase to equity.
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(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

Ongoing long-term incentive plan
Under the terms of the Fund Ongoing Long-term Incentive Plan (“Ongoing LTIP”), eligible employees are entitled to
yearly Fund Unit grants determined on the basis of a percentage of their annual base salary. The Fund Units, which
are held in a trust for the benefit of the eligible employees, vest at the end of a three year period (the “Performance
Cycle”), commencing January 1 of the year in respect of which they are granted, subject to achieving distributable
cash targets, established by the board of directors, on behalf of Jazz GP, for the Performance Cycle. The Fund will
purchase the Fund Units on the secondary market. Distributions declared by the Fund on any Fund Units granted
under this plan, may be invested in additional Fund Units, which will vest concurrently and proportionately with the
Fund Units granted. Forfeited Fund Units and accumulated distributions thereon accrue to the Fund. The trust is a
VIE with respect to the Fund, and as such, it is consolidated with the Fund’s financial statements. The fair value of
the Fund Units, which approximates their cost under this plan, is charged to earnings as compensation expense over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to equity. The Fund’s cost of the Fund Units held is presented as a
reduction of Unitholders’ capital. Estimated compensation costs relative to this plan are accrued on the basis of
actual performance relative to targets.

h)	Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified as follows:
• Cash and cash equivalents are classified as “Financial Assets Held for Trading”. These financial assets are
marked-to-market through net income at each period end.
• Accounts receivable are classified as “Loans and Receivables”. After their initial fair value measurement, they are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. For the Fund, the measured amount generally
corresponds to historical amounts. Allowances for doubtful accounts are established by management, on an
account-by-account basis, based on, among other factors, prior experience and knowledge of the specific debtor
and its assessment of the current economic environment.
• Accounts payable, credit facilities, and bank loans are classified as “Other Financial Liabilities”. After their initial fair
value measurement, they are measured at amortized cost, net of transaction costs, using the effective interest rate
method. For the Fund, the measured amount generally corresponds to cost.

i)	Hedges
The Fund applies hedge accounting to its interest rate swaps and treats them as cash flow hedges. These derivatives
are marked-to-market at each period end and resulting gains/losses are recognized in comprehensive income to the
extent the hedging relationship is effective.

j) Property and equipment
Property and equipment are depreciated to estimated residual values based on the straight-line method over their
estimated service lives. Aircraft and flight equipment are depreciated over 20 to 30 years, with 5 – 20% estimated
average residual values.
Buildings are depreciated over their useful lives not exceeding 40 years on a straight-line basis. An exception to this
is where the useful life of the building is greater than the term of the land lease. In these circumstances, the building
is depreciated over the life of the lease.
Depreciation on other property and equipment is provided on a straight-line basis from the date assets are placed
in service, to their estimated residual values, over the following estimated useful lives.
Leaseholds
Ground and other equipment

Over the term of the related lease
5 years
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Property under capital leases and the related obligation for future lease payments are initially recorded at an amount
equal to the lesser of fair value of the property or equipment and the present value of those lease payments.
Property and equipment under capital leases are depreciated to estimated residual value over the life of the lease.
Property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be used is measured by comparing
the net book value of the asset to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.
An impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset.

k)	Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets with finite lives are carried at their cost, net of amortization; while assets with indefinite lives are not
amortized and are checked annually for impairment.
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the
amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values. The Fund’s goodwill arose
as a result of its step purchase acquisition of the Partnership during 2007. A full valuation was performed by third party
valuators in the fourth quarter of 2007 and as a result fair values were assigned to all assets and liabilities at that time.
In accordance with Section 3064 of the CICA Handbook “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, goodwill is not amortized;
however, it is reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if facts and circumstances warrant a review.

l)	Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. When events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets, other than
indefinite life intangibles, are not recoverable, the long-lived assets are tested for impairment by comparing the
estimate of future expected cash flows to the carrying amount of the assets or groups of assets. If the carrying value
is not recoverable from future expected cash flows, any loss is measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying
value exceeds fair value and recorded in the period. Recoverability is assessed relative to undiscounted cash flows
from the direct use and disposition of the asset or group of assets.
Indefinite life assets are subject to annual impairment tests under GAAP, or when events or circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. Any impairment would be recognized as an expense in the period of impairment.

m)	Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at rates of
exchange in effect at the date of the balance sheet. Non-monetary assets, liabilities and other items recorded in
income are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange losses of $6,263
for the year ended December 31, 2008 ($436 for the period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007) were included
in other non-operating income/expense.

n)	Aircraft lease payments
Total aircraft rentals under operating leases and the related lease inducements received and fees paid over the lease
term are amortized to operating expense on a straight-line basis. Prepaid aircraft rentals and related fees are the
difference between the straight-line aircraft rent and the payments stipulated under the lease agreements and legal
and related transaction fees associated with the leases. Current and non-current unamortized lease inducements are
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities, respectively.
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o)	Maintenance and repairs
Maintenance and repair costs are charged to operating expenses as incurred. Significant modification costs
considered to be betterments are capitalized and amortized over the remaining service lives of the applicable assets.
The Fund uses the direct expense method of accounting for its airframe overhauls where the expense is recorded
when the overhaul event occurs. The Fund has most of its aircraft engines under long-term engine service
agreements that cover the scheduled and unscheduled repairs for the covered engines. Under the terms of the
agreements, The Fund pays a set dollar amount per engine hour flown on a monthly basis and the third party vendor
will assume the responsibility to repair the engines at no additional cost to the Fund, subject to certain specified
exclusions. Maintenance costs under these contracts are recognized when a contractual obligation exists. For those
engines not covered under a long-term engine services agreement, the overhaul events are expensed in the period
when the event occurs. The costs of maintenance for airframe and avionics components, landing gear and normal
recurring maintenance are expensed as incurred.

p)	Future income tax
The Fund uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method,
future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on future tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the date of enactment
or substantive enactment.

q)	Earnings per unit
Earnings per unit are calculated on a weighted average number of units outstanding basis. Fund Units held under the
unit based compensation plans reduce the weighted average number of outstanding Fund Units from the date they
are contributed to the plan.

r)	Distribution to Unitholders
Distributions payable by the Fund to its Unitholders, which are determined at the discretion of the Trustees, are
recorded when declared.

Changes in accounting policies
In the first quarter of 2008, the Fund adopted four new Handbook Sections issued by CICA. The adoption of these
Handbook Sections has had no material impact on the financial statements of the Fund.
Financial instruments
Section 3862, Financial instruments – Disclosures, modifies the disclosure requirements for financial instruments that were
included in Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. Where the disclosure requirements of this
new standard have not been changed from the previous standard and have already been included in the annual financial
statements, no additional disclosure has been provided.
Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation, carries forward unchanged the presentation requirements of the
previous Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation.
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These new standards require disclosures related to the significance of financial instruments on the Fund’s financial position
and performance and the nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments to which the Fund is exposed and
how the Fund manages these risks. Disclosure recommended by the new handbook sections have been included in
note 22 of these consolidated financial statements.
Capital disclosures
Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, establishes disclosure requirements regarding the Fund’s capital and how it is
managed. The purpose is to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the Fund’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital. Disclosures recommended by the new handbook section have been included in note 21
of these consolidated financial statements.
Inventories – spare parts, material and supplies
Section 3031, Inventories, replaces the existing standard for inventories, Section 3030, and provides more extensive
guidance on measurement, and expands disclosure requirements to increase transparency. The Fund’s accounting policy
for inventories is consistent with measurement requirements, as the Fund values spare parts, materials and supplies at the
lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and net realizable value. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the
cost of inventories recognized as expense was $37,277 (period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007 – $19,520).

Changes in accounting estimates
In the second quarter of 2008, the Fund changed its estimate of both the useful life and the expected residual values of
aircraft and certain flight equipment to coincide with the term of the CPA. The revised estimates better reflect the expected
useful life of these assets to the Fund and update the residual value to reflect both the changed useful life and current and
expected market conditions for such aircraft. The changes have been applied prospectively. The change in the basis of
depreciation had the effect of increasing depreciation expense by $436 for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Future accounting changes
Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
In January 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) announced its decision to replace Canadian GAAP
with IFRS. On February 13, 2008 the AcSB confirmed January 1, 2011 as the mandatory changeover date to IFRS for all
Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. This means that the Fund will be required to prepare IFRS financial statements
for the interim periods and fiscal year ends beginning in 2011. The Fund has created an implementation team, which
consists of internal resources and an external consultant. A changeover plan is being established to convert to the new
standards within the allotted timeline and consist of the following phases:
• Raise awareness and initial assessment – this phase involves performing a high level impact assessment to identify key
IFRS areas that are likely to affect the Fund. Each accounting standard is reviewed under IFRS and is ranked as high,
medium or low priority based on the differences from Canadian GAAP. Also, all relevant employees and board members
are made aware of the changeover and the relevant timelines. The Fund completed this phase in the third quarter
of 2008.
• Detailed assessment – each section is reviewed and analyzed for accounting or disclosure differences between
Canadian GAAP and IFRS. Once differences have been identified they are reviewed for potential impacts to existing
accounting policies, information systems and business processes. An action plan is then developed for each impact
area. This phase is currently underway.
• Implementation and review – the action plan developed in the detailed assessment phase is implemented to create,
as necessary, new accounts, system changes, process changes and financial statement models. Accounting policies
are approved, including transition elections in IFRS 1 (First time adoption of IFRS).
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Based on initial review, the major differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS that are likely to impact the Fund include,
but are not limited to:
• IFRS 1 – provides entities with a number of optional and mandatory exemptions upon initial adoption of the standards.
The exemption choices are being analyzed and the Fund will implement those determined to be most appropriate.
• Property, plant and equipment – International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 16 requires an entity to break an asset
down to its significant parts upon initial measurement and depreciate assets based on the useful life of the significant
individual components as opposed to the assets as a whole. This could have an impact on the way significant parts of
the aircraft are tracked and depreciated. Also, significant maintenance events must be broken out as a component of
the initial cost and depreciated over the life of the maintenance event. The cost of the maintenance event will then be
re-capitalized and this cycle will continue over the life of the asset.
• Impairment of assets – IAS 36 uses a one step approach for both testing and measurement of impairment, with assets’
carrying values compared directly with the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use (which uses discounted
cash flows). This may potentially result in more write-downs where carrying values of assets under Canadian GAAP
were tested for impairment on an undiscounted cash flow basis.
• Recognition of leases – unlike Canadian GAAP, IAS 17 does not provide prescriptive measurements on lease contracts.
As a result, all lease contracts will need to be reviewed to determine if they are operating or capital leases based
on whether or not management feels substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership have
been transferred.
• Accounting for defined benefit pension plans and other future employee benefits – IAS 19 requires the past service
costs of defined benefit plans to be recognized on an accelerated basis with vested past service costs expensed
immediately and unvested past service costs recognized on a straight line basis until the benefits become vested.
Under Canadian GAAP, past service costs are generally amortized on a straight line basis over the average remaining
service period. In addition, actuarial gains and losses are permitted to be recognized directly through equity under
IAS 19 rather than through the income statement. For other future employee benefits, all actuarial gains and losses,
as well as all past service costs, must be recognized immediately with no amortization option.
In addition to the sections noted above, there are generally more extensive presentation and disclosure requirements
under IFRS compared to Canadian GAAP. These will be noted in the detailed analysis and will result in additional data
collection where required.

3.	Investment in the Partnership and Jazz GP
On February 2, 2006, the Fund owned 25,000,000 limited partnership units of the Partnership (“Partnership Units”) or
20.3% of the Partnership at a net cost of $246,174. ACE held 97,865,143 Partnership Units or 79.7% of the Partnership.
On February 9, 2007, ACE exchanged 638,223 of its Partnership Units for 638,223 Fund Units. The 638,223 Fund Units
were contributed to a trust in order to fund grants to employees under the Fund’s Initial LTIP.
On March 14, 2007, pursuant to a statutory plan of arrangement approved in October 2006, ACE exchanged
25,000,000 Partnership Units for an equivalent number of Fund Units. These Fund Units were distributed to ACE’s
shareholders as part of a special distribution. On the same date, ACE also exchanged an additional 25,000,000
Partnership Units for 25,000,000 Fund Units in accordance with terms of the Investor Liquidity Agreement. On
March 30, 2007, ACE exchanged its remaining 47,226,920 Partnership Units for an equivalent amount of Fund
Units. On May 24, 2007, ACE distributed 12,000,000 Fund Units to its shareholders through a special distribution.
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Immediately following this distribution, ACE’s ownership of the Fund went from 58.8% to 49.0%. On October 22, 2007,
ACE disposed of a further 35,500,000 Fund Units, bringing ACE’s ownership to 20.1%, the minimum level required under
the Securityholders’ Agreement among the Fund, the Trust, the Partnership, Jazz GP and ACE (the “Securityholders’
Agreement”) to appoint a majority of the board of directors of Jazz GP.
On January 24, 2008, ACE sold 13,000,000 Units, thereby reducing its ownership in the Fund to 9.5% of the issued and
outstanding Units. As a result, ACE no longer had the ability to appoint the majority of the board of directors of Jazz GP
pursuant to the Securityholders’ Agreement. The Securityholders’ Agreement was terminated by agreement among the
parties effective as of February 7, 2008.
On May 28, 2008, ACE sold its remaining 11,726,920 Fund Units and, to the knowledge of the Fund, presently retains
no ownership interest in the Fund.
From February 2, 2006, up to and including May 23, 2007, the Fund accounted for its investment in the Partnership under
the equity method and recorded its proportionate share of the Partnership’s net earnings, calculated on the same basis as
if they had been consolidated, taking into account the increase in ownership as step acquisitions under the purchase
method of accounting for investments on the date on which they occurred. Under the equity method, distributions
declared and paid by the Partnership reduced the carrying value of the investment.
As a result of the May 24, 2007 transaction, the Partnership is consolidated, as a variable interest entity in the accounts
of the Fund and accordingly, as of May 24, 2007, the Fund changed its basis of accounting for its investment in the
Partnership from the equity method to consolidation.
The difference between the purchase price and the net book value of the Partnership’s assets is allocated to the fair value
of identifiable assets, including intangible assets with finite and indefinite lives in excess of the book value.
		
		

Step purchase interest
Purchase price
Proportionate net book value of the Partnership
Excess of purchase price over
net book value of assets acquired
Allocated as follows:
Intangible assets
Finite life
CPA
Indefinite life
Jazz tradename
Goodwill
		

Feb. 2, 2006
$

Feb. 9, 2007
$

Mar. 14, 2007
$

Mar. 30, 2007
$

Total
$

20.3%
246,174
9,494

0.5%
5,457
425

40.8%
401,500
35,204

38.4%
387,733
35,813

100%
1,040,864
80,936

236,680

5,032

366,296

351,920

959,928

165,401

4,179

328,139

308,843

806,562

19
71,260

1
852

60
38,097

56
43,021

136
153,230

236,680

5,032

366,296

351,920

959,928

During the second quarter of 2008, the Fund adjusted the purchase price allocation to reflect certain previously
unrecorded long-term liabilities related to post-employment future benefits, which were assumed by the Partnership
upon inception. This resulted in an increase in goodwill of $5,946.
Prior to consolidation, the following table details the carrying value to the Fund of the investment in the Partnership:
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23,500,000 Fund Units acquired on February 2, 2006, 1,500,000 Fund Units
acquired on February 27, 2006, net of issue costs of $3,826			
638,223 Partnership Units exchanged by ACE for 638,223 Fund Units and
contributed to the Fund’s Initial LTIP on February 9, 2007			
25,000,000 Partnership Units exchanged by ACE for 25,000,000 Fund Units
and distributed to ACE shareholders on March 14, 2007			
25,000,000 Partnership Units exchanged by ACE for 25,000,000 Fund Units
on March 14, 2007			
47,226,920 Partnership Units exchanged by ACE for 47,226,920 Fund Units
on March 30, 2007			
Proportionate share of the Partnership’s net earnings from February 2, 2006
to December 31, 2006			
Proportionate share of the Partnership’s net earnings from January 1, 2007
to March 31, 2007			
Proportionate share of the Partnership’s net earnings from April 1, 2007
to May 23, 2007			
Proportionate share of the Partnership’s other comprehensive income
from January 1, 2007 to May 23, 2007			
Distributions declared by the Partnership from February 2, 2006
to May 23, 2007			
Priority distributions			
			

May 23,(1) December 31,
2007
2006
$
$

246,174

246,174

5,457

–

200,750

–

200,750

–

387,733

–

15,459

15,459

7,237

–

18,227

–

861

–

(44,818)
(80)

(19,983)
(80)

1,037,750

241,570

(1) Immediately prior to consolidation.

For the period from January 1, 2007 to May 23, 2007, the Fund recognized, in its equity earnings, amortization of $12,424
($10,954 – for the year ended December 31, 2006) of the value attributed to the CPA.
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4.

Property and equipment
			Accumulated
		
Cost amortization	Net
As at December 31, 2008 		
$
$
$

Flight equipment		
Facilities		
Equipment		
Leaseholds		
Assets under capital leases		

160,204
14,137
23,893
31,586
23,201

13,504
984
7,206
8,448
3,851

146,700
13,153
16,687
23,138
19,350

			

253,021

33,993

219,028

			
		
Cost
As at December 31, 2007 		
$

Accumulated
amortization
$

Net
$

Flight equipment		
Facilities		
Equipment		
Leaseholds		
Assets under capital leases		

153,120
13,969
17,964
30,155
23,201

6,511
346
2,254
2,907
1,004

146,609
13,623
15,710
27,248
22,197

			

238,409

13,022

225,387

The net book value of the property and equipment pledged as collateral related to the credit facility at December 31, 2008
was $199,678 (2007 – $203,190). Amortization expense related to property and equipment of $28,926 was recorded for
the year ended December 31, 2008 ($13,022 – for the period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007).
Property and equipment were acquired at an aggregate cost of $nil for the year ended December 31, 2008 ($23,201 for
the period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007) by means of capital leases.

5.	Intangible assets
			Accumulated
		
Cost amortization	Net
As at December 31, 2008 		
$
$
$

Indefinite life assets
Jazz tradename		
Operating license		
Finite life assets
Employee contracts		
CPA 		

1,836
4,600

–
–

1,836
4,600

1,708
783,184

1,708
67,518

–
715,666

			

791,328

69,226

722,102

			
		
Cost
As at December 31, 2007 		
$

Accumulated
amortization
$

Net
$

Indefinite life assets
Jazz tradename		
Operating license		
Finite life assets
Employee contracts		
CPA 		

1,836
4,600

–
–

1,836
4,600

1,708
783,184

925
25,418

783
757,766

			

791,328

26,343

764,985

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Fund recorded amortization of $42,883 ($26,343 for period from
May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007).
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6.

Goodwill
Balance – December 31, 2007				
Goodwill adjustment(1)				
Goodwill impairment loss				

147,284
5,946
(153,230)

Balance – December 31, 2008				

–

(1) During the second quarter of 2008, the Fund adjusted the purchase price allocation to reflect certain previously unrecorded long-term liabilities related
to post-employment future benefits, which were assumed by the Partnership upon inception. This resulted in an increase in goodwill of $5,946.

At December 31, 2008 the Fund performed an impairment test of goodwill to compare its carrying value to fair value.
The impairment test is based on a two step process. In step one a fair value was determined using two different valuation
methods, a market based approach and a Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) approach. The market based approach derives
a fair value based on the market capitalization of the Fund. The DCF approach analyzes future cash flows based on
internally developed forecasts and then discounts them based on an industry average weighted average cost of capital.
Step one showed a carrying value that exceeded fair value and as a result the Fund proceeded to perform step two.
Step two required the fair value determined in step one to be allocated to each individual asset and liability (including any
previously unrecognized intangible assets), as it would be in a business combination. After performing this allocation there
was no remaining fair value to be allocated to goodwill and as a result the entire $153,230 of goodwill was deemed to be
impaired. The impairment loss has been recorded in non-operating expenses.
The circumstances that led to the impairment of goodwill are the challenges and uncertainties in the airline industry.
The contributing factors are the deepening recession in 2009, which is expected to put pressure on airline passenger
and cargo revenues, the volatility of fuel prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates, the Fund’s economic
dependence on Air Canada and tight credit markets.
In determining fair value management relied on a number of factors including operating results, business plans, anticipated
future cash flows and marketplace data. There are inherent uncertainties related to these factors and management’s
judgment in applying them to the analysis of goodwill impairment.

7.

Other assets
			

As at December 31,

			
			

2008
$

2007
$

Promissory note receivable, non-interest bearing, repayable in equal annual
installments over 10 years			
Prepaid aircraft rent and related fees, net of accumulated amortization			
Asset backed commercial paper (note 8)			

419
26,644
2,009

628
28,539
4,589

				

29,072

33,756
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8.

Asset backed commercial paper
As at December 31, 2008, included in other assets is US dollar denominated, third-party sponsored, asset backed
commercial paper (“ABCP”) with an original cost of $5,816 CDN. The ABCP had been classified as Held for Trading
on initial recognition and is measured at fair value at each reporting date. The asset, which was set to mature on
August 16, 2007, was not paid out due to liquidity problems experienced in the ABCP market.
Given the disruption in the third party sponsored ABCP market, a quoted market value of the investment is not available.
Based on the Restructuring of the Canadian Third-Party Structured ABCP (the “Plan”), which was initially approved
June 5, 2008 by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and subsequently the Ontario Court of Appeal, it has been
determined that the Fund’s ABCP investment will be exchanged for Master Asset Vehicle 3 (“MAV3”) Ineligible Asset (“IA”)
tracking notes. The MAV3 IA notes will have a maturity date equal to one year plus the longest maturity of the related
ineligible asset and will maintain exposure to the existing underlying assets. On December 24, 2008, the investors
committee issued a press release confirming an agreement had been finalized with all key stakeholders regarding the
funding of the margin facilities for ABCP. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the governments, together with certain
participants in the restructuring plan will provide, in aggregate, $4,450,000 of additional margin facilities to support the
Plan. Subsequent to December 31, 2008, a motion was brought forward to the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and
the closing process was approved. Thereafter, the Fund received its MAV3 IA notes. The Fund does not believe the fair
value of these notes is materially different than the current carrying value of the ABCP.
Management has reviewed available investment reports and found that 69% of the portfolio’s notional amount is rated
’investment grade’ and there has been one default of the underlying assets since inception of the trust, which represents
0.27% of the total trust value. Accordingly, management has used current market information and other factors at
December 31, 2008 to estimate the fair value of the investment. This was done by analyzing potential outcomes and
discounting the expected future cash flows according to the probability of recovery of principal and interest based on a
maturity date that is in line with the expected conversion of the ABCP into the floating rate notes. Based on management’s
assessment of the value of its investment in ABCP, a fair value loss of $3,852 has been recorded to date. This amount has
been recorded in other non-operating expenses. This estimate is subject to measurement uncertainty and is dependent
on the performance of the underlying assets as well as the market value once trading of the new notes begins. There is
no assurance that the value of the investment will not decline further; therefore, the estimated value of the investment in
ABCP may change in subsequent periods. It has been determined that no additional adjustment to fair value is required
at this time as there has been no change in the expected recovery of the underlying assets and in the discount rates used
in the present value calculation. This situation has had no impact on the Fund’s operations, financial covenants or ability
to meet obligations as they come due. The Fund is not accruing interest on this investment.
The carrying value of this investment of $2,009 is included in other assets.
The net foreign exchange gain recorded on the investment since inception, up to the period ended December 31, 2008,
was $45.
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9.

Long-term debt
The following provides a breakdown of the Partnership’s authorized and outstanding credit facilities:
			
Drawn at
			 December 31,
		
Authorized
2008
		
$
$

Drawn at
December 31,
2007
$

Revolving term facility (a)		
Term facility (b)		
Prepaid interest (c)		
Unamortized commitment fee (c)		

35,000
115,000
–
–

–
115,000
(213)
(58)

–
115,000
(767)
(758)

		

150,000

114,729

113,475

(a) The revolving term facility matures on February 2, 2010 and bears interest at rates ranging from Canadian prime rate and US base rate plus 1.75% to
2.75% and the bankers’ acceptance rate and LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.75%. As at December 31, 2008, there were no borrowings under the revolving term
facility, however, the available credit, after deducting letters of credit, bears interest at 0.50%.
Letters of credit
The Partnership has issued irrevocable letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $3,382. This amount reduces the available credit under the revolving
term facility and bears interest at 2.875%.
(b) The term facility matures on February 2, 2010 and bears interest at rates ranging from Canadian prime rate and US base rate plus 1.75% to 2.75% and the
bankers’ acceptance rate and LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.75%. As at December 31, 2008, of borrowings under the term facility, $114,400 were in the form of
bankers’ acceptances with a 90 day term and an effective interest rate of 5.45%. A further $600 was in the form of prime rate advances bearing interest at
5.50%. As at December 31, 2008 the Partnership had entered into interest rate swap agreements with third parties in respect of $115,000 of debt which
has effectively resulted in a fixed interest rate of 7.09% until February 2, 2009 and 5.98% until February 2, 2010.
(c) Long term debt is presented net of prepaid interest and unamortized financing charges.

Borrowings under the credit facilities are secured by substantially all the present and future assets of Partnership. The
continued availability of the credit facilities is subject to the Partnership’s ability to maintain certain leverage, debt service
and interest coverage covenants, as well as other affirmative and negative covenants.

10. Obligations under capital leases
The Partnership has entered into capital leases related to aircraft and ground equipment. The obligations are as follows:
			
			

2008
$

2007
$

2008			
2009			
2010			
2011			
2012			
2013			
Thereafter			

–
4,796
4,796
4,764
4,367
4,341
8,008

3,910
3,910
3,910
3,884
3,554
–
10,039

Total minimum lease payments			
Less: Amount representing interest (at rates ranging from 8.755% to 9.450%)			

31,072
7,654

29,207
8,019

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments			
Less: Current portion			

23,418
2,837

21,188
2,119

Obligations under capital leases			

20,581

19,069

Year ended December 31,

A significant portion of the lease payments is payable in US dollars. Interest of $1,895 (2007 – $791) relating to capital
lease obligations has been included in aircraft rent.
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11. Other long-term liabilities
			
			
			

As at December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

Accrued pension benefit liability (note 20)			
Accrued other future employee benefits liability (note 20)			
Accrued termination benefits, non-current portion			
Deferred operating lease inducements, non-current portion			

(396)
6,991
–
49,077

4,810
–
59
53,969

				

55,672

58,838

12. Future income tax
Under the provisions of Bill C-52, Budget Implementation Act, 2007, which received Royal Assent on June 22, 2007, the
Fund, as a publicly traded income trust, is considered a specified investment flow-through and will become subject to
income taxes commencing January 1, 2011. Prior to 2011, the Fund continues to qualify for special income tax treatment
that permits a tax deduction by the Fund for distributions paid to its Unitholders. For accounting purposes, the Fund has
computed future income tax based on temporary differences at the substantively enacted tax rate expected to apply for
such periods. For periods prior to January 1, 2011, the Fund has not recognized any current income taxes or future
income tax assets or liabilities on temporary differences expected to reverse prior to 2011 as the Trust is committed to
distribute to its Unitholders all or virtually all of its taxable income that would otherwise be taxable in the Fund and the
Fund intends to continue to meet the requirements of the Tax Act applicable to the Fund. Initially, the legislation imposed
an income tax rate of 31.5% on Canadian public income trusts. The income tax rate was subsequently lowered in
December 2007 to 29.5% for 2011 and 28% for 2012 and subsequent years.
The future income tax provision reflects the impact of the new legislation and the tax rate changes and accounts for the
entire difference between the amount of the future income tax provision and the statutory income tax dollar amount of $nil.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future income tax assets and future
income tax liabilities at December 31, 2008, that are expected to reverse after 2010, are presented below:
			

As at December 31,

			
			

2008
$

2007
$

Future income tax assets
Deferred lease inducements			
Other			

10,701
3,529

11,030
1,592

				

14,230

12,622

31,856

73,211

Future income tax liabilities
Intangibles			
Property, plant and equipment – differences in net book value
and undepreciated capital cost			

5,935

13,956

				

37,791

87,167

Net future income tax liability			

23,561

74,545

Income tax expense (recovery) is comprised of:
Future income tax recovery, exclusive of the effects of other components below			
Future income tax recovery resulting from impairment of goodwill			
Future income tax expense related to the substantive enactment of Bill C-52 			
Future income tax recovery related to the change in the taxation rate			

(8,080)
(42,904)
–
–

–
–
83,810
(9,265)

Net future income tax (recovery) expense			

(50,984)

74,545

13.	Distributions
The Fund declared a distribution for the month ended December 31, 2008 of $0.0838 per Fund Unit (December 31, 2007 –
$0.0838 per Fund Unit). The distribution of $10,296 (2007 – $10,296) is payable January 15, 2009 to Unitholders of
record on December 31, 2008.
Distributions declared to the Unitholders of record on the last business day of each month during the months ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 aggregated to approximately $123,552 and $107,203, respectively, as follows:
December 31, 2008

December 31, 2007

		
Amount per		
Amount	Fund Unit
Amount
$
$
$

January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
		

Amount per
Fund Unit
$

10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296

0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838

2,095
2,148
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296
10,296

0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838
0.0838

123,552

1.0056

107,203

1.0056
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14. Fund Units
The Fund may issue an unlimited number of Fund Units for the consideration of, and on the terms and conditions
determined by, the Trustees. Each Fund Unit is transferable and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest
in any distribution from the Fund. All Fund Units are of the same class and have equal rights and privileges with
respect to distributions.
Fund Units are redeemable at any time on demand by the Unitholder. The redemption price per Fund Unit is equal to the
lesser of 90.0% of the market price on the date of surrender of the Fund Unit for redemption and 100.0% of the closing
market price on the redemption date. The total amount payable in respect of Fund Units tendered for redemption in the
same calendar month shall not exceed $50. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Fund redeemed 54 Fund
Units for total cash consideration of less than $1 (1,077 Fund units redeemed for total cash consideration of $8 for the
year ended December 31, 2007).
The issued and outstanding Fund Units are summarized as follows:
December 31, 2007

December 31, 2008
		
Description

Issued
Issued
Issued
Issued

Number of		
Fund Units
$

for $10 each, net of issue costs of $3,826
on February 9, 2007 for $8.55 each
on March 14, 2007 for $8.03 each
on March 30, 2007 for $8.21 each

Number of
Fund Units

$

25,000,000
638,223
50,000,000
47,226,920

246,174
5,457
401,500
387,733

25,000,000
638,223
50,000,000
47,226,920

246,174
5,457
401,500
387,733

Subtotal
Redemption of Fund Units tendered

122,865,143
(1,131)

1,040,864
(8)

122,865,143
(1,077)

1,040,864
(8)

Issued and outstanding, before the following
Fund Units held to fund unit based
compensation plans (note 19)

122,864,012

1,040,856

122,864,066

1,040,856

(749,882)

(6,405)

(728,290)

(6,200)

Total issued and outstanding

122,144,130

1,034,451

122,135,776

1,034,656

In 2007, ACE exercised its exchange right in connection with the transactions described in note 3, and the Fund issued
638,223 Fund Units at $8.55 each, 50,000,000 Fund Units at $8.03 each, and 47,226,920 Fund Units at $8.21 each
for a total number of Fund Units issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 of 122,864,012 (net of the redemption
of 1,131 Fund Units) for a total consideration of $1,040,856.
Effective with the March 30, 2007 transaction, all of the Partnership Units held by ACE were exchanged.
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15. Statement of cash flows – supplementary information
Net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations:
			

Year ended December 31,

			
			

2008
$

2007
$

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable – trade and other			
Decrease (increase) in spare parts, materials and supplies			
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses			
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities			
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities			

10,817
(8,563)
(4,345)
(7,732)
(9,115)

(7,411)
(6,860)
1,139
(13,148)
(8,360)

				

(18,938)

(34,640)

16. Economic dependence
The transactions between Air Canada and its subsidiaries and the Fund are summarized in the table below.
				
				
			
Year ended
			 December 31,
			
2008
			
$

Operating revenue
Air Canada			
Operating expenses
Air Canada			
Air Canada Capital Ltd.			
ACGHS Limited Partnership			

Period from
May 24,
2007 to
December 31,
2007
$

1,622,589

875,826

46,425
92,583
64,870

26,983
50,891
32,853

The following balances with Air Canada and its subsidiaries are included in the financial statements:
			
			
			

Accounts receivable
Air Canada			
ACGHS Limited Partnership			
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Air Canada			
Air Canada Capital Ltd.			
ACGHS Limited Partnership			
ACE Aviation Holdings Inc.			

As at December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

58,353
169

71,173
55

58,752
9,405
14,777
528

63,604
7,584
13,461
557

Jazz Air Income Fund

2008 Annual Report

79

jazz AIR income fund

notes to the consolidated financial statements

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

Capacity Purchase Agreement
The Partnership is party to the CPA with Air Canada, whereby Air Canada purchases the capacity of certain specified
aircraft crewed and operated by the Partnership under the tradename of “Air Canada Jazz” on routes specified by Air
Canada. The CPA has a term of ten years and is renewable for two additional periods of five years. Under this agreement,
the Partnership is required to provide Air Canada with the capacity of the specified aircraft, all crews and applicable
personnel, aircraft maintenance, and airport operations for such flights. Air Canada determines routes and controls
scheduling, sets ticket prices, determines seat inventories, and performs marketing and advertising for these flights.
Air Canada retains all revenue derived from the sale of seats to passengers and cargo services and pays the Partnership
for the capacity provided.
The Partnership is paid fees, on a monthly basis, for the capacity provided. These fees consist of a number of variable
components based on different metrics, including block hours flown, cycles (which are number of take-offs and landings),
number of passengers and number of aircraft covered by the CPA. The rates for these metrics are fixed for annual periods
and vary by aircraft type with current rates in effect until December 31, 2008. In addition, Air Canada is required to
reimburse the Partnership for certain pass-through costs, including fuel, de-icing, navigation, landing and terminal fees,
station provisioning costs, station termination costs, passenger liability insurance and certain employee relocation costs.
As these costs are required to operate the aircraft provided under the CPA, the reimbursement of these costs are included
in revenue. Pass-through costs amounted to $668,557 for the year ended December 31, 2008 ($334,188 for the period
from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007).
The fees which are related to controllable costs are paid on the first day of each month based on estimates for that
month which are reconciled at the end of the month for actual amounts and which are paid no later than the 30th day
of the following month. Pass-through costs are reimbursed by Air Canada 30 days following the month in which they
were incurred.
Pursuant to the terms of the CPA, the Partnership and Air Canada agreed to re-set detailed rates (subject to the
terms of the contract, including the controllable target margin requirements) applicable to the period commencing
on January 1, 2009 and ending on December 31, 2011.
The Partnership is also paid certain performance incentive payments on a quarterly basis related to on-time performance,
controllable flight completion, baggage handling performance and other customer satisfaction criteria. Rates under the
CPA have been established so as to achieve a controllable target margin of 14.09% for the Partnership, excluding
incentive and pass-through revenue, and before the deduction of profit sharing expenses paid to employees as a
result of performance achievements on the CPA services provided to Air Canada.

Margin adjustment
With respect to each calendar year subsequent to January 1, 2006, during the remaining term of the CPA, if the annual
margin for flights provided under the CPA is greater than 14.09%, after deducting employee profit sharing expenses, the
Partnership will pay Air Canada an amount equal to 50% of the margin exceeding 14.09%. Margin represents the total
operating revenue from scheduled flights under the CPA less expenses incurred related to such flights, including employee
profit sharing expenses; however, it excludes incentive and pass-through revenue. This margin adjustment for the year
ended December 31, 2008 of $nil ($3,772 for the period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007) is accounted for
as a reduction of revenue.
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Master Services Agreement
Under the Master Services Agreement dated September 24, 2004, between the Partnership and Air Canada, Air Canada
provides certain services to the Partnership for a fee. These services include Insurance and Tax Services, Corporate Real
Estate Services, Environmental Affairs Services and Legal Services.
The Master Services Agreement will continue in effect until the termination or expiration of the CPA, but individual services
can be terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the Master Services Agreement.

Other
Air Canada provides certain supplies from third parties, primarily fuel, to the Partnership and subsequently collects
payment from the Partnership. As these transactions and balances merely represent a method of settlement for
transactions in the normal course of business, they have not been separately disclosed. ACGHS Limited Partnership,
which is wholly owned by Air Canada, provides ground handling services.
Substantially all of the trade receivable from Air Canada relates to outstanding balances under the CPA.
The balances in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are payable on normal trade terms and have arisen from the
services provided by the named party.

17. Commitments
The Fund is committed to the following future minimum lease payments under operating leases for flight equipment and
base facilities that have initial or remaining non-cancellable terms in excess of one year.
			

As at December 31, 2008

			Other 	Air Canada
			
third
and its
			
parties
subsidiaries
			
$
$

Year ending December 31,

2009			
2010			
2011			
2012			
2013			
Thereafter				

13,451
11,839
9,090
5,658
5,095
37,096

144,394
119,133
101,805
98,412
96,659
739,485

A significant portion of the lease payments is payable in US dollars.
Certain of the aircraft lease agreements have been entered into by Air Canada Capital Ltd. or Air Canada with head lessors
and subleased to the Partnership. Future minimum lease payments that will arise under these leases are listed in the
above table under the heading “Air Canada and its subsidiaries”.

18. Post-employment expenses
The Fund has recorded pension and other future employee benefit expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 of
$18,049 ($9,956 for the period from May 24, 2007 to December 31, 2007).
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19.	Unit based compensation
The details of Fund Units held under unit based compensation plans discussed in note 2 are as follows:
December 31, 2007

December 31, 2008
Initial LTIP	Ongoing LTIP

Initial LTIP

Ongoing LTIP

Number of Fund Units granted
Number of Fund Units forfeited

638,223
(64,201)

472,542
(59,259)

638,223
(6,000)

201,438
–

		
Number of Fund Units vested

574,022
(237,423)

413,283
–

632,223
(105,371)

201,438
–

Number of Fund Units outstanding, end of year

336,599

413,283

526,852

201,438

Nil

1.55

1.00

2.00

$–
$8.55
$1,850

$2,178
$8.14
$1,224

$–
$8.55
$1,112

$1,695
$8.42
$335

Weighted average remaining life (years)
Cost of units purchased during the year(1)
Weighted average fair value per Fund Unit on date of grant
Compensation expense for the year

(1) The cost of Fund Units purchased under the Ongoing LTIP is not materially different from their fair value at the date they were granted.

Pursuant to the terms of the Ongoing LTIP, Fund Units are purchased on the open market of the Toronto Stock Exchange
and are held by a trustee for the benefit of the eligible employees until their vesting.
During the year, the Fund granted 271,104 Units under the Ongoing LTIP. The weighted average fair value of these Units
was $8.03.

20. Pension and other future employee benefits
The Partnership maintains several registered defined contributions pension plans for eligible employees and a registered
defined benefit plan for Pilots, which effective May 24, 2007, are consolidated in these financial statements. The
Partnership is the plan sponsor for these plans under the Pension Benefits Standard Act, 1985 (Canada). In addition, the
Partnership maintains an unregistered supplementary defined benefit pension plan which is partially funded for certain
employees. Contributions to the supplementary pension plan started being made in December 2007. The registered and
supplementary defined benefit pension plans provide benefits upon retirement, termination or death based on the
member’s years of service and the final average earnings for a specified period.
The Partnership also maintains Other (non-pension) Employee Future Benefits. The Other Employee Future Benefits
include medical and dental benefits provided to the employees on long-term disability and Workplace Safety Insurance
Board (“WSIB”). These benefits cease to be provided when the employee reaches age 65. The sick leave gratuity benefits
represent the payout of sick leave accruals upon or just prior to retirement for eligible employees. The self-insured WSIB
benefits are in respect of self-insured benefits provided to Ontario employees.
The total expense for the Partnership’s defined contribution plans including two pension plans sponsored by an employee
group and a union respectively, for which the Partnership is obligated to make defined contributions only, for the year
ended December 31, 2008 is $7,097, and for the year ended December 31, 2007 is $6,474.
Total cash payments made by the Partnership in 2008 for registered pension plans were $18,797, which includes cash
payments for the Registered Defined Benefit Plan of $11,962 (year December 31, 2007 – $16,607; $10,345 for the
Registered Defined Benefit Plan). Total cash payments made in 2008 for the Other Employee Future Benefits were $733.
The most recent actuarial valuations of the defined pension benefit plans for funding purposes were as of January 1, 2008
and the next funding valuation will be as of January 1, 2009.
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Information about the Partnership’s defined benefit plans and other future employee benefits in aggregate, is as follows:
		
		
Pension Benefits
		
		

2008(1)
$

Other Future
Employee
Benefits

2007(2)
$

2008
$

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year		
Current service cost		
Interest cost		
Plan participants’ contributions		
Benefits paid		
Actuarial (gain) loss 		

105,308
8,963
6,712
6,284
(2,297)
(25,965)

95,541
9,978
5,383
5,549
(3,106)
(8,037)

5,946
1,410
368
–
(733)
995

Benefit obligation, end of year		

99,005

105,308

7,986

Change in plan assets
Fair market value of plan assets, beginning of year		
Actual return on plan assets		
Employer contribution		
Plan participants’ contributions		
Benefits paid		

90,147
(21,317)
19,427
6,283
(2,297)

76,526
953
10,225
5,549
(3,106)

–
–
733
–
(733)

Fair market value of plan assets, end of year		

92,243

90,147

–

Funded status, end of year		
Employer contributions after measurement date		
Unamortized net actuarial loss 		

(6,762)
–
7,158

(15,161)
4,969
5,382

(7,986)
–
995

Accrued benefit asset (liability)		

396

(4,810)

(6,991)

(1) 2008 – Based on a measurement date of December 31, 2008.
(2) 2007 – Based on a measurement date of November 30, 2007.

The accrued benefit liability is included in other long-term liabilities.
Plan assets consist of the following:
				Pension Benefits
			

2008

2007

Canadian equity			
Debt securities			
International equity			
Short-term and other			

35%
33%
28%
4%

35%
38%
24%
3%

				

100%

100%

The plan’s assets are invested in a balanced fund and include no significant investment in the Fund, if any, at the
measurement date, December 31, 2008 or November 30, 2007.
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine the accrued benefit liability:
		
		
Pension
			

Other Future
Employee
Benefits

2008

2007

2008

Discount rate to determine accrued benefit obligations		
7.10%
Discount rate to determine the pension and benefit cost		
5.75%
Rate of compensation increase
4.00 – 5.00%
Expected return on plan assets		
6.40%
Health care inflation – Select to determine accrued benefit obligation		
n/a
Health care inflation – Select to determine pension and benefit cost		
n/a

5.75%
5.00%
4.00 – 5.00%
6.00%
n/a
n/a

7.10%
5.60%
4.00 – 5.00%
n/a
6.5%
7.1%

The health care inflation assumption was graded down in and after 2012 to 4.5% per annum.
The Partnership’s net defined benefit pension plan and other future employee benefits expense is as follows:
		
		
Pension
			
			

Components of expense
Current service cost (including provision for plan expenses)		
Interest cost		
Actual return on plan assets		
Actuarial (gain) loss

Other Future
Employee
Benefits
2007
$

2008
$

8,963
6,712
21,317
(25,965)

9,978
5,383
(953)
(8,037)

1,410
368
–
995

2008
$

Costs arising in the period		
Differences between costs arising in the period and costs
recognized in the period in respect of:
Return on plan assets
Actuarial (gain) loss		

11,027

6,371

2,773

(27,772)
25,996

(4,050)
8,074

–
(995)

Net periodic pension and benefit cost recognized		

9,251

10,395

1,778

21. Capital disclosures
The Fund’s capital consists of cash, cash equivalents, long-term debt, and Unitholders’ Equity (excluding accumulated
other comprehensive income).
The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to maximize long-term Unitholder value by:
• maintaining a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable risk and preserves the ability
to meet financial obligations; and
• providing a return to Unitholders by delivering monthly cash distributions.
In managing its capital structure, the Fund monitors performance throughout the year to ensure anticipated cash
distributions, working capital requirements and maintenance capital expenditures are funded from operations, available
cash on deposit and, where applicable, bank borrowings. The Fund will make adjustments to its capital structure to meet
the objectives of the broader corporate strategy or in response to changes in economic conditions and risk. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Fund may adjust the amount of cash distributions to Unitholders, issue debt
and/or issue, redeem or repurchase units.
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The amount of cash distributions is determined by reference to available operating cash flows, net of property and
equipment acquisition costs and adjustments made with reference to the definition of distributable cash in the limited
partnership agreement.
The Fund monitors capital using a number of financial metrics, including (but not limited to):
• The Leverage Ratio defined as long-term debt(1) to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization,
and other non-operating income and expense (EBITDA);
• The Coverage Ratio defined as EBITDA to interest expense (defined as interest on capital leases, security deposits
and the credit facility); and
• Minimum Cash Balance.
The Fund’s measure of distributable cash and EBITDA may not be comparable to similar measures presented by
other entities.
The following table illustrates the financial ratios calculated on a trailing twelve-month basis:
		Measure Targets

Leverage Ratio		
Coverage Ratio		
Minimum Cash Balance(2)		

<2.0x
>3.5x
$60,000

2008

2007

0.79
15.72
$131,876

0.78
17.09
$122,874

(1) Debt includes amounts related to term facility, letters of credit and capital leases.
(2) This is a continuous measurement covenant. The Fund has been in compliance since the related agreement was entered into during the fourth
quarter of 2007.

As a result of the Canadian income trust taxation legislation passed in June 2007 and effective January 1, 2011, the Fund
is subject to certain capital growth restrictions referred to as “normal growth” equity rules. These rules limit the amount of
Unitholders’ capital that can be issued by the Fund in each of the next three years, based on the Fund’s market
capitalization on October 31, 2006, as follows:
				

Cumulative

Normal growth capital allowed in:
2009 				
2010 				

$232,000
$232,000

On December 4, 2008, the Department of Finance (Canada) announced an acceleration of the safe harbour amounts
for 2009 and 2010, such that after December 4, 2008, they became immediately available. The safe harbour rules
remained cumulative such that after December 4, 2008, the maximum amount that could be issued by a SIFT under
the safe harbour rules is 100% of its October 31, 2006 market capitalization, less the value of any units issued after
October 31, 2006 (other than any issuances of units that would not be subject to the Normal Growth Guidelines).
If the maximum equity growth allowed is exceeded, the Fund may be subject to taxation prior to 2011.
In addition to growth capital restrictions, the Fund monitors its ownership levels, to the extent possible given the practical
limitations, regarding beneficial ownership information. The Trust Indenture, under which the Fund was created, provides
that no more than 49.9% of the Units of the Fund can be held by non-residents of Canada. The potential impact to the
Fund of breaching this threshold could be the loss of mutual fund trust status, and being subject to taxation for the entire
fiscal year in which the breach occurred. On the basis of information supplied by the transfer agent, at December 31, 2008,
the Fund’s best estimate of the ownership level by non-residents was 13%.
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22. Financial instruments
The Fund’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, promissory note receivable,
ABCP, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, obligations under capital leases and long-term debt.
The Fund, through its financial assets and liabilities, has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial
instruments: interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and currency risk. Senior management monitors risk levels and
reviews risk management activities as they determine to be necessary.
Interest rate risk
Investments included in the Fund’s cash and cash equivalents earn interest at prevailing and fluctuating market rates,
as the Fund’s objective is to maintain these balances in highly liquid investments. As at December 31, 2008, the Fund’s
investments consisted of bankers’ acceptances and bank deposit notes issued by five Schedule 1 banks. The Fund is
exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk as a result of variable interest rate on long-term debt. The Fund uses interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to changes in interest rates, swapping its credit facility variable interest rate payments for
fixed interest rate payments. The Fund has elected to designate its interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges and has
no intention of settling these contracts early. The Fund entered into an interest rate swap agreement with third parties
in respect of $115,000 of debt which has effectively resulted in a fixed interest rate of 7.09% until February 2, 2009.
If the Fund had settled these contracts at December 31, 2008, a payment of $472 by the Fund would have resulted.
In the first quarter of 2008, the Fund entered into a second interest swap agreement with a third party in respect of
$57,500 of debt. This swap becomes effective February 2, 2009 and effectively results in a fixed interest rate of 6.23%
for the related portion of the credit facility extension, maturing on February 1, 2010. If the Fund had settled these
contracts at December 31, 2008, a payment of $1,500 by the Fund would have resulted.
In the third quarter of 2008, the Fund entered into a third interest swap agreement with a third party in respect of
$57,500 of debt. This swap becomes effective February 2, 2009 and effectively results in a fixed interest rate of 5.73%
for the related portion of the credit facility extension, maturing on February 1, 2010. If the Fund had settled these
contracts at December 31, 2008, a payment of $1,214 by the Fund would have resulted.
A 1% change in the interest rate would not have a significant impact on the net income of the Fund.
Credit risk
In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund invests excess cash in Government of Canada treasury bills, shortterm Canadian and provincial government debt, bankers’ acceptance notes, term deposits of Schedule 1 Banks and
commercial paper rated R-1 high. The Fund manages the credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by ensuring that the
counter-parties are governments, banks and corporations with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. Given the disruption in the third party sponsored ABCP market, the Fund amended its investment policy during
the third quarter of 2007 to prohibit investment in all third party and bank sponsored ABCP, despite any changes on the
credit rating on such issues. With respect to investments in ABCP, refer to note 8.
The amount of accounts receivable disclosed in the balance sheet of $71,618, is net of allowances for bad debts of $4,
estimated by management based on prior experience and its assessment of the current economic environment and the
specific debtor. Approximately 82% of receivables are with one company, Air Canada. Accordingly, the Fund is directly
affected by the financial and operational strength of Air Canada. The Fund does not believe it is subject to any significant
concentration of credit risk other than with Air Canada.
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Liquidity risk
The Fund’s objective is to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, as well as to demonstrate compliance
with liquidity covenants on financing contracts. The Fund monitors its cash balances and cash flows generated from
operations to meet requirements. For discussion on timing of cash flows under the CPA with Air Canada, refer to note 16 –
Economic Dependence). As at December 31, 2008, the Partnership had $31,168 in unutilized balance of the credit
facilities available and the Fund had cash and cash equivalents of $131,876. As at December 31, 2008, the Partnership
had authorized credit facilities of $150,000 and drawings of $115,000, against the facilities. Letters of credit totalling
approximately $3,382 (December 31, 2007 – $2,708) have been issued as security for groundhandling and airport fee
contracts, lease payments on rental space and certain employee benefits. The letters of credit are drawn against the
unutilized balance of the credit facilities.
Credit facilities are in place until February 2, 2010 and are provided by a syndicate that consists of seven institutional
lenders, including two US financial institutions which are currently subject to US government relief under the Troubled
Assets Relief Program. The Partnership will have to refinance its available credit facilities, and given current market
conditions, it is anticipated that such financing may occur at terms that are less favorable than current terms. Such
financing may cause the Partnership to reduce or suspend cash distributions to the Fund, or reduce cash available for
planned capital expenditures. The Partnership is evaluating options to raise cash to refinance all or part of its existing debt.
These include, but are not limited to, establishing a replacement bank credit facility, sale and leaseback of owned aircraft
which have current market value in excess of carrying value, application of current cash balances, and potential reduction
of cash distributions paid to the Fund for distributions to Unitholders.
Currency risk
The Fund receives revenue and incurs expenses in US and Canadian currency, and as such, is subject to fluctuations
as a result of foreign exchange rate variations. The Fund manages its exposure to currency risk by billing for its services
within the CPA in the underlying currency related to the expenditure. Accordingly, the primary exposure results from
balance sheet fluctuations of US denominated cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and in particular, obligations
under capital leases, which are long-term and so are subject to larger unrealized gains or losses. The Fund minimizes its
currency risk by maintaining a balance of US dollars which is used to pay down US denominated liabilities and replenishes
the balance through US denominated revenues. The amount of US dollar denominated assets was $41,890 and US
denominated liabilities was $56,491 at December 31, 2008. A 1¢ change in the US exchange rate would result in a
change in the unrealized gain or loss of approximately $146.

Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts payable
and accrued liabilities approximate fair values based on the immediate or short-term maturities of these financial
instruments. Due to current market conditions and related increases in risk premiums on credit facilities, management
has estimated the fair value of the credit facilities at December 31, 2008 to be $110,000. Financial assets included in
the balance sheet include ABCP with an estimated fair value of $2,009 (see note 8 for discussion on determination of
fair value of ABCP).
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For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

Carrying amounts and fair values
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts included in the consolidated balance
sheets, are as follows:
December 31, 2008
Carrying		
Amount	Fair Value
$
$

Financial assets
Held for trading
Cash and cash equivalents
Asset backed commercial paper
Loans and receivables
Accounts receivable
Promissory note
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (includes current
	  portion of obligations under capital leases)
Distributions payable
Long-term debt
Obligations under capital leases

December 31, 2007
Carrying
Amount
$

Fair Value
$

131,876
2,009

131,876
2,009

122,874
4,589

122,874
4,589

71,618
419

71,618
419

83,435
628

83,435
628

199,883
10,296
114,729
20,581

199,883
10,296
110,000
20,581

203,869
10,296
113,475
19,017

203,869
10,296
113,475
19,017

23. Contingencies
The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that the Trustees will act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interest
of the Fund and in connection with that duty, will exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent
person would exercise in comparable circumstances. The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that each Trustee will be
entitled to indemnification from the Fund in respect of the exercise of the Trust’s power and the discharge of the Trustee’s
duties, provided that the Trustee acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of all Unitholders, or in
the case of a criminal or administrative action proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, where the Trustee had
reasonable grounds for believing that his/her conduct was lawful. No claims with respect to such occurrences have been
made and, as such, no amount has been recorded in these financial statements with respect to these indemnifications.
In February 2006, the Partnership commenced proceedings before the Ontario Superior Court of Justice against Porter
Airlines Inc. (“Porter”) and other defendants (collectively the “Porter Defendants”) after the Partnership became aware that
it would be excluded from operating flights from Toronto City Centre (Island) Airport (the “TCCA”). On October 26, 2007,
the defendants counter-claimed against the Partnership and Air Canada alleging various violations of competition law,
including that the Partnership and Air Canada’s commercial relationship contravenes Canadian competition laws, and
claiming $850,000 in damages. Concurrently with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice proceedings, the Partnership
commenced judicial review proceedings against the Toronto Port Authority (“TPA”) before the Federal Court of Canada
relating to the Partnership’s access to the TCCA. The Porter Defendants were granted intervener and party status in these
proceedings. In January of 2008, Porter filed a defence and counterclaim against the Partnership and Air Canada making
allegations and seeking conclusions similar to those in the Ontario Superior Court counterclaim. The Partnership maintains
that Porter’s counterclaims in both jurisdictions are without merit. These counterclaims are being vigorously contested by
the Partnership in court.
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(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except Fund Units and earnings per Fund Unit)

Various other lawsuits and claims that have arisen in the normal course of business are pending by and against the
Partnership and provisions have been recorded where appropriate. It is the opinion of management that final determination
of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or the results of the Fund.
Jazz GP has agreed to indemnify its directors and officers, to the extent permitted under corporate law, against costs and
damages incurred by the directors and officers as a result of lawsuits or any other judicial, administrative or investigative
proceeding in which the directors and officers are sued as a result of their service. The directors and officers are covered
by directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. No amount has been recorded in these financial statements with respect to
the indemnification agreements.
The Partnership enters into real estate leases or operating agreements, which grant a license to the Partnership to use
certain premises and/or operate at certain airports, in essentially all cities that it serves. It is common in such commercial
lease transactions for the Partnership as the lessee to agree to indemnify the lessor and other related third parties for tort
liabilities that arise out of or relate to the Partnership’s use or occupancy of the leased or licensed premises. Exceptionally,
this indemnity extends to related liabilities arising from the negligence of the indemnified parties, but usually excludes
any liabilities caused by their gross negligence or willful misconduct. Additionally, the Partnership typically indemnifies
such parties for any environmental liability that arises out of or relates to its use or occupancy of the leased or
licensed premises.
In aircraft and engine financing or leasing agreements, the Partnership typically indemnifies the financing parties, trustees
acting on their behalf and other related parties and/or lessors against liabilities that arise from the manufacture, design,
ownership, financing, use, operation and maintenance of the aircraft and engines and for tort liability, whether or not these
liabilities arise out of or relate to the negligence of these indemnified parties, but usually excludes any liabilities caused
by their gross negligence or willful misconduct. In addition, in aircraft and engine financing or leasing transactions,
including those structured as leveraged leases, the Partnership typically provides indemnities in respect of certain tax
consequences. The Partnership carries or is otherwise the beneficiary of various insurance policies in respect of various
risks applicable to the business (including in respect of tort liability and certain contractual indemnities).
When the Partnership, as a customer, enters into technical service agreements with service providers, primarily service
providers who operate an airline as their main business, the Partnership has from time to time agreed to indemnify the
service provider against liabilities that arise from third party claims, whether or not these liabilities arise out of or relate
to the negligence of the service provider, but usually excluding liabilities that arise from the service provider’s gross
negligence or willful misconduct.
The maximum amount payable, if any, under the foregoing indemnities cannot be reasonably estimated. The Fund carries
or is otherwise the beneficiary of various insurance policies in respect of various risks applicable to the business (including
in respect of tort liability and certain contractual indemnities).

24. Subsequent event
The Partnership has successfully reached an agreement with Air Canada regarding the establishment of new rates for
controllable costs that will become payable by Air Canada under the CPA in the next three-year period (2009 to 2011,
inclusive). The new rates are retroactive to January 1, 2009.

Jazz Air Income Fund

2008 Annual Report

89

jazz air lp

Auditors’ Report
February 10, 2009

To the Directors of Jazz Air Holding GP Inc.
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Jazz Air LP as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the consolidated
statements of partners’ capital, income, comprehensive income and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Partnership as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Halifax, Nova Scotia

Management’s Report
February 10, 2009

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jazz Air LP are the responsibility of management and have been
approved by the Board of Directors of Jazz Air LP’s general partner, Jazz Air Holding GP Inc. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
The consolidated financial statements include some amounts and assumptions based on management’s best estimates
which have been derived with careful judgement.
In fulfilling its responsibilities, management has developed and maintains a system of internal accounting controls. These
controls are designed to ensure that the financial records are reliable for preparation of the financial statements. The Audit,
Finance and Risk Committee of the Board of Directors of Jazz Air Holding GP Inc. reviewed and approved the Partnership’s
consolidated financial statements, and recommend their approval by the Board of Directors.

Joseph D. Randell
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents		
Accounts receivable – trade and other (note 13)		
Spare parts, materials and supplies (note 2)		
Prepaid expenses		

131,685		
71,618		
46,150		
12,905		

122,781
83,348
37,587
8,560

Total current assets		
Property and equipment (note 3)		
Intangible assets (note 4)
Other assets (note 5)		

262,358		
219,028		
6,300		
29,072		

252,276
225,387
7,083
33,756

		

516,758		

518,502

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 13)		
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (note 8)		

207,342		
2,837		

212,959
2,119

Total current liabilities 		
Long-term debt (note 7)		
Obligations under capital leases (note 8)
Other long-term liabilities (note 9)

210,179		
114,729		
20,581		
55,672		

215,078
113,475
19,069
58,838

			
Partners’ Capital 		

401,161		
115,597		

406,460
112,042

			

516,758		

518,502

Economic dependence (note 13)
Commitments (note 14)
Contingencies (note 21)
Subsequent event (note 22)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of Jazz Air LP by Jazz Air Holding GP Inc., its general partner

Katherine M. Lee	Richard H. McCoy
Director
Director
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Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Capital
					 Accumulated
Retained earnings (deficit)
		
			
other
		
Partners’
Accumulated		
Contributed comprehensive
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
capital
earnings
Distributions
surplus
income
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
$
$
$
$
$

Balance – December 31, 2006
Adjusted opening balance due to new
accounting policies adopted regarding
financial instruments

422,075

192,518

(530,928)

–

–

83,665

–

–

–

–

(409)

(409)

Balance – December 31, 2006, restated
Change in fair value during the year
Priority distributions to the
Jazz Air Income Fund (“Fund”)
Distributions
Units held by unit based
compensation plans (note 16)
Accretion related to the initial
long-term incentive plan
Accretion related to the ongoing
long-term incentive plan
Net income for the year

422,075
–

192,518
–

(530,928)
–

–
–

(409)
251

83,256
251

–
–

–
–

(913)
(123,552)

–
–

–
–

(913)
(123,552)

(6,200)

–

–

4,505

–

(1,695)

–

–

–

3,494

–

3,494

–
–

–
150,654

–
–

547
–

–
–

547
150,654

Balance – December 31, 2007
Change in fair value during the year
Distributions
Units held by unit based
compensation plans (note 16)
Accretion related to the initial
long-term incentive plan (note 16)
Accretion related to the ongoing
long-term incentive plan (note 16)
Adjustment to opening balance (note 20)
Net income for the year

415,875
–
–

343,172
–
–

(655,393)
–
(123,552)

8,546
–
–

(158)
(3,028)
–

112,042
(3,028)
(123,552)

(205)

–

–

(1,626)

–

(1,831)

–

–

–

1,850

–

1,850

–
–
–

–
–
134,838

–
–
–

1,224
(5,946)
–

–
–
–

1,224
(5,946)
134,838

Balance – December 31, 2008

415,670

478,010

(778,945)

4,048

(3,186)

115,597

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except units and earnings per unit)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Operating revenue (note 13)
Passenger		
Other		

1,622,850		
13,439		

1,487,087
8,302

			

1,636,289		

1,495,389

Operating expenses (note 13)
Salaries and wages		
Benefits		
Aircraft fuel		
Depreciation and amortization 		
Food, beverage and supplies		
Aircraft maintenance materials, supplies and services		
Airport and navigation fees		
Aircraft rent 		
Terminal handling services		
Other

292,647		
52,563		
430,216		
30,409		
14,795		
129,533		
199,419		
127,758		
107,345		
103,333		

284,041
51,121
320,463
24,307
16,221
119,486
198,249
126,999
99,403
101,940

			

1,488,018		

1,342,230

Operating income 		

148,271		

153,159

Non-operating income (expenses)
Interest revenue		
Interest expense		
Gain on disposal of property and equipment		
Foreign exchange loss 		
Unrealized loss on asset backed commercial paper (note 6)		

4,138		
(8,505)		
182		
(6,263)		
(2,985)		

7,035
(8,389)
16
(300)
(867)

			

(13,433)		

(2,505)

(note 10)		

134,838		

150,654

Net income for the years

Weighted average number of units
122,075,475		 122,288,242
Earnings per unit, basic and diluted		
$1.10		
$1.23
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

Net income for the years		
Other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges		
Reclassification of net realizable (gains) losses on derivatives
designed as cash flow hedges to income

134,838		

150,654

(2,408)		

64

(620)		

187

Comprehensive income		

131,810		

150,905

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007		
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)		

2008		
$		

2007
$

134,838		

150,654

30,409		
1,928		
(182)		
3,074		
4,090		
2,985		
(1,383)		
(1,831)		

24,307
1,820
(16)
2,156
(947)
867
(1,849)
(1,695)

			
Net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations (note 12)		

173,928		
(18,025)		

175,297
(31,530)

			

155,903		

143,767

Financing activities
Decrease in obligations under capital leases (note 8)		
Priority distributions to the Jazz Air Income Fund		
Distributions

(2,265)		
(913)		
(123,552)		

(706)
(80)
(125,796)

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating activities
Net income for the years		
Charges (credits) to operations not involving cash
Depreciation and amortization 		
Amortization of prepaid aircraft rent and related fees		
Gain on disposal of property and equipment		
Unit based compensation		
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 		
Unrealized loss on asset backed commercial paper
Other 		
Funding of unit based compensation plan, net of forfeitures		

			

(126,730)		

(126,582)

Investing activities
Additions to property and equipment
Decrease in long-term receivables		
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment		
Cash equivalents reclassified to other assets, net of fair value adjustment (note 6)		

(20,661)		
210		
182		
–		

(23,679)
210
16
(5,816)

		

(20,269)		

(29,269)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents during the years		
Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of years		

8,904		
122,781		

(12,084)
134,865

Cash and cash equivalents – End of years		

131,685		

122,781

Cash payments of interest		
Cash receipts of interest		
Cash and cash equivalents comprise
Cash		
Term deposits and fixed income securities		

10,747		
4,481		

10,350
7,018

28,851		
102,834		

122,781
–

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except units and per unit amounts)

1.

Nature of operations and economic dependence
Jazz Air LP (“Jazz” or the “Partnership”) is a limited liability partnership registered in the province of Québec.
Jazz operates a regional airline in Canada and the United States. Effective January 1, 2006, the Partnership entered into
a Capacity Purchase Agreement (“CPA”) with Air Canada whereby Air Canada purchases the aircraft capacity flown under
the tradename “Air Canada Jazz” on the routes specified by Air Canada. Air Canada receives all passenger and cargo
revenue related to passenger seats and cargo services sold on scheduled flights operated by the Partnership pursuant
to the CPA and Air Canada pays for the capacity. The Partnership is economically and commercially dependent upon
Air Canada and certain of its subsidiaries, as, in addition to being the primary source of revenue, these entities currently
provide significant services to the Partnership. In addition, Air Canada and its subsidiaries provide a substantial portion
of the aircraft financing for the Partnership.
The general partner of Jazz is Jazz Air Holding GP Inc. (“Jazz GP”), which holds an economic interest of 0.000000814%,
or one Partnership Unit.
These financial statements are those of a partnership and do not include all the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
of its partners. The Partnership is not subject to income taxes as its income is allocated for tax purposes to its partners.
Accordingly, no recognition has been given to income taxes in these financial statements. The tax attributes of the
Partnership’s net assets flow directly to the partners.
Jazz has historically experienced greater demand for its services in the second and third quarters of the calendar year and
lower demand in the first and fourth quarters of the calendar year. This demand pattern is principally a result of the high
number of leisure travelers and their preference for travel during the spring and summer months, thereby increasing the
flying hour requirements of Air Canada. Jazz has substantial fixed costs that do not meaningfully fluctuate with passenger
demand in the short-term. Jazz revenues under the CPA do not fluctuate significantly with passenger load factors.

2.

Significant accounting policies
a)	Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements of the Partnership are expressed in Canadian dollars and are prepared
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

b) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Partnership include the accounts of its subsidiary, Airwest Airlines Ltd.
The subsidiary is inactive.
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For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except units and per unit amounts)

c)	Variable Interest Entities
At its inception, Jazz adopted Accounting Guideline 15 (“AcG 15”) – Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“VIE”).
AcG 15 defines a VIE as an entity that either does not have sufficient equity at risk to finance its activities without
subordinated financial support from other parties, or where the equity investors lack the characteristic of a controlling
financial interest, or that do not absorb the expected losses or receive the expected returns of the entity. VIEs are
subject to consolidation by an entity if that entity is deemed the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary
is the party that is either exposed to a majority of the losses from the VIE’s activities or is entitled to receive a majority
of the VIE’s residual returns or both.
Management has reviewed its ownership, contractual and financial interests in other entities and determined that,
other than the consolidation of the Jazz unit based compensation plans referred to in note 2(g), this guideline does
not impact the financial statements of Jazz.

d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of current operating bank accounts, term deposits and fixed income securities
with an original term to maturity of 90 days or less. The weighted average interest rate on investments as at
December 31, 2008 is 1.62% (2007 – nil).

e)	Operating revenue
Under the CPA, the Partnership is paid to provide services to Air Canada as explained in notes 1 and 13. The related
fees payable by Air Canada are recognized in revenue as the capacity is provided. Incentive payments and margin
adjustments as described in note 13 are recognized, respectively, as increases in, and reductions of, passenger
revenue based on management estimates during the year.
Other revenues include charter flights, maintenance, repair and overhaul (“MRO”) operation and other sources of
revenue such as third-party ground handling services and flight simulator revenue, all of which are recognized when
the service is provided.
The CPA provides for a monthly payment for an amount per aircraft designed to reimburse the Partnership for
certain aircraft ownership costs. In accordance with Emerging Issues Committee No. 150, Determining Whether an
Arrangement Contains a Lease, the Partnership has concluded that a component of its revenue under the CPA is
rental income since the CPA identifies the “right of use” of a specific type and number of aircraft over a stated period
of time otherwise known as the Covered Aircraft. The amount deemed to be rental income is $159,647 for the year
ended December 31, 2008 (2007 – $156,500). This amount was recorded in passenger revenue of the Partnership’s
consolidated statements of income.

f)	Employee future benefits
The significant policies related to employee future benefits, consistent with Section 3461, “Employee Future Benefits”
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook relating to Jazz’s defined benefit pension plan
for its pilots, the supplemental executive retirement plan for Jazz executives, and the Other Employee Future Benefits
are as follows:
• The cost of pensions earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated
on service, market interest rates, and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance,
salary escalation and retirement ages of employees. Obligations are attributed to the period beginning on the
employee’s date of joining the plan and ending on the earlier of the date of termination, death or retirement.
• The cost of the Other Employee Future Benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method
prorated on service (where applicable), market interest rates, and management’s best estimate of retirement
ages of employees, health care cost inflation, salary escalation and general inflation.
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(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except units and per unit amounts)

• The expected return on plan assets is based on the long-term expected rate of return on plan assets and the fair
value of the plan assets. It is reasonably possible that management’s estimate of the long-term rate of return may
change as management continues to assess future investments and strategies and as a result of changes in
financial markets.
• Past service costs arising from plan amendments of the defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service period of
employees active at the date of the amendment. This period is currently 19 years for the pension plan and
14 years for the supplemental executive retirement plan.
• Cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit pension plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan in excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligation and the market value
of plan assets at the beginning of the year are amortized over the average remaining service periods of active
members expected to receive benefits under the plan (currently 19 years for the pension plan and 14 years for
the supplemental executive retirement plan).
• The fiscal year-end date is December 31 and the measurement date of the plan’s assets and obligations is
December 31, in prior years the measurement date was November 30. Pension obligations are attributed to the
period beginning on the employee’s date of joining the plan and ending on the earlier of the date of termination,
death or retirement. The obligations for the Other Employee Future Benefits plans are attributed to the period
beginning on the employee’s date of joining the plan or disablement (whichever applicable) and ending on the
earlier of retirement or end of disablement or age 65 (whichever applicable).

g)	Unit based compensation plans
Initial long-term incentive plan
Jazz has made certain commitments in connection with the granting of units of the Fund (“Fund Units”) to key
executives as a one-time special award to recognize their efforts in connection with the completion of the initial public
offering of the Jazz Air Income Fund (“Offering”) and to provide them with incentive compensation under an Initial
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“Initial LTIP”). On February 9, 2007, ACE Aviation Holdings Inc. (“ACE”) transferred 638,223
Fund Units to a trust for the purpose of funding the Initial LTIP. Under the terms of the Initial LTIP, 50% of the Fund
Units granted are subject to vesting conditions based on performance and the remaining 50% are time based and
vested on December 31, 2008. Vesting is conditional on the approval of the board of directors. Performance based
Fund Units vest (1/3 per year) if the distributable cash target established by the board of directors, on behalf of Jazz
GP, for the year is met. The Distributable cash targets were met in each of the years, including the year ended
December 31, 2008 and the related units vested.
Compensation costs related to the Fund Units contributed by ACE are charged to compensation expense over the
vesting period, as vesting conditions are met and based on the estimated annual performance, with the
corresponding equity contribution being accreted to contributed surplus. Distributions declared by the Fund on the
Fund Units granted ultimately accrue to the employees. Forfeited Fund Units, to the extent they were contributed by
ACE, and accumulated distributions thereon, accrue to ACE. The trust is a VIE with respect to Jazz, and as such it is
consolidated with Jazz’s financial statements. Fund Units contributed by ACE are credited to contributed surplus at
their aggregate value on February 9, 2007, the contribution date, with an equivalent reduction of partners’ capital.
Compensation expense under this plan is charged to earnings over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase
to equity.
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For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except units and per unit amounts)

Ongoing long-term incentive plan
Under the terms of the Jazz Ongoing Long-term Incentive Plan (“Ongoing LTIP”), eligible employees are entitled to
yearly Fund Unit grants determined on the basis of a percentage of their annual base salary. The Fund Units, which
are held in a trust for the benefit of the eligible employees, vest at the end of a three year period (the “Performance
Cycle”), commencing January 1 of the year in respect of which they are granted, subject to achieving distributable
cash targets, established by the board of directors, on behalf of Jazz GP, for the Performance Cycle. Jazz will
purchase the Fund Units on the secondary market. Distributions declared by the Fund on any Fund Units granted
under this plan, may be invested in additional Fund Units, which will vest concurrently and proportionately with the
Fund Units granted. Forfeited Fund Units and accumulated distributions thereon accrue to Jazz. The trust is a VIE
entity with respect to Jazz, and as such, it is consolidated with Jazz’s financial statements. The fair value of the
Fund’s Units, which approximates their cost under this plan, is charged to earnings as compensation expense over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to equity. Jazz’s cost of the Fund Units held is presented as a
reduction of partners’ capital. Estimated compensation costs relative to this plan are accrued on the basis of actual
performance relative to targets.

h)	Financial instruments
Financial instruments are classified as follows:
• Cash and cash equivalents are classified as “Financial Assets Held for Trading”. These financial assets are
marked-to-market through net income at each period end.
• Accounts receivable are classified as “Loans and Receivables”. After their initial fair value measurement, they are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. For Jazz, the measured amount generally
corresponds to cost. Allowances for doubtful accounts are established by management, on an account-byaccount basis, based on, among other factors, prior experience and knowledge of the specific debtor and its
assessment of the current economic environment.
• Accounts payable, credit facilities, and bank loans are classified as “Other Financial Liabilities”. After their initial fair
value measurement, they are measured at amortized cost, net of transaction costs, using the effective interest rate
method. For Jazz, the measured amount generally corresponds to cost.

i)	Hedges
Jazz applies hedge accounting to its interest rate swaps and treats them as cash flow hedges. These derivatives are
marked-to-market at each period end and resulting gains/losses are recognized in comprehensive income to the
extent the hedging relationship is effective.

j) Property and equipment
Property and equipment are depreciated to estimated residual values based on the straight-line method over their
estimated service lives. Aircraft and flight equipment are depreciated over 20 to 30 years, with 5 – 20% estimated
average residual values.
Buildings are depreciated over their useful lives not exceeding 40 years on a straight-line basis. An exception to this
is where the useful life of the building is greater than the term of the land lease. In these circumstances, the building
is depreciated over the life of the lease.
Depreciation on other property and equipment is provided on a straight-line basis from the date assets are placed
in service, to their estimated residual values, over the following estimated useful lives.
Leaseholds
Ground and other equipment

Over the term of the related lease
5 years

Property under capital leases and the related obligation for future lease payments are initially recorded at an amount
equal to the lesser of fair value of the property or equipment and the present value of those lease payments.
Property and equipment under capital leases are depreciated to estimated residual values over the life of the lease.
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Property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be used is measured by
comparing the net book value of the asset to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by
the asset. An impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset.

k)	Intangible assets
As a result of the application of fresh start reporting, intangible assets are carried at their established estimated fair
values as at September 30, 2004. Indefinite life assets are not amortized, while assets with finite lives are amortized
over their estimated useful lives of four years.

l)	Impairment of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. When events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets, other than
indefinite life intangibles, are not recoverable, the long-lived assets are tested for impairment by comparing the
estimate of future expected cash flows to the carrying amount of the assets or groups of assets. If the carrying value
is not recoverable from future expected cash flows, any loss is measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying
value exceeds fair value and recorded in the period. Recoverability is assessed relative to undiscounted cash flows
from the direct use and disposition of the asset or group of assets.
Indefinite life assets are subject to annual impairment tests under GAAP or when events or circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. Any impairment would be recognized as an expense in the period of impairment.

m)	Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at rates of
exchange in effect at the date of the balance sheet. Non-monetary assets, liabilities and other items recorded in
income are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange losses of
$6,263 for the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007 – $300) were included in non-operating income/expense.

n)	Aircraft lease payments
Total aircraft rentals under operating leases and the related lease inducement received and fees paid over the lease
term are amortized to operating expense on a straight-line basis. Prepaid aircraft rentals and related fees is the
difference between the straight-line aircraft rent and the payments stipulated under the lease agreements and legal
and related transaction fees associated with the leases. Current and non-current unamortized lease inducements are
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities, respectively.

o)	Maintenance and repairs
Maintenance and repair costs are charged to operating expenses as incurred. Significant modification costs
considered to be betterments are capitalized and amortized over the remaining service lives of the applicable assets.
Jazz uses the direct expense method of accounting for its airframe overhauls where the expense is recorded when
the overhaul event occurs. Jazz has most of its aircraft engines under long-term engine service agreements that cover
the scheduled and unscheduled repairs for the covered engines. Under the terms of the agreement, the Partnership
pays a set dollar amount per engine hour flown on a monthly basis and the third party vendor will assume the
responsibility to repair the engines at no additional cost to the Partnership, subject to certain specified exclusions.
Maintenance costs under these contracts are recognized when a contractual obligation exists. For those engines not
covered under a long-term engine services agreement, the overhaul events are expensed in the time period when the
event occurs. The costs of maintenance for airframe and avionics components, landing gear and normal recurring
maintenance are expensed as incurred.
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p)	Income taxes
The Partnership is not subject to income taxes. Additionally, the subsidiary of the Partnership, Airwest Airlines Ltd.,
is inactive. Accordingly, no recognition is given to income taxes in these financial statements because the income or
loss of the Partnership is included in the tax returns of its partners. The tax attributes of the Partnership’s net assets
flow directly to each partner, accordingly, these financial statements do not reflect any future income taxes related to
any temporary differences between the carrying values and tax basis of assets and liabilities of the Partnership.

q)	Earnings per unit
Earnings per unit are calculated on a weighted average number of units outstanding basis. Fund Units held under the
various unit based compensation plans reduce the weighted average number of outstanding Partnership Units from
the date they are contributed to the plan.

Changes in accounting policies
In the first quarter of 2008, Jazz adopted four new Handbook Sections issued by CICA. The adoption of these
Handbook Sections has had no material impact on the financial statements of Jazz.
Financial instruments
Section 3862, Financial instruments – Disclosures, modifies the disclosure requirements for financial instruments that were
included in Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. Where the disclosure requirements of this
new standard have not been changed from the previous standard and have already been included in the annual financial
statements, no additional disclosure has been provided.
Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation, carries forward unchanged the presentation requirements of the
previous Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation.
These new standards require disclosures related to the significance of financial instruments on Jazz’s financial position and
performance and the nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments to which Jazz is exposed and how Jazz
manages these risks. Disclosure recommended by the new handbook sections have been included in note 19 of these
consolidated financial statements.
Capital disclosures
Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, establishes disclosure requirements regarding Jazz’s capital and how it is managed.
The purpose is to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate Jazz’s objectives, policies and processes for
managing capital. Disclosures recommended by the new handbook section have been included in note 18 of these
consolidated financial statements.
Inventories – Spare parts, material and supplies
Section 3031, Inventories, replaces the existing standard for inventories, Section 3030, and provides more extensive
guidance on measurement, and expands disclosure requirements to increase transparency. Jazz’s accounting policy for
inventories is consistent with measurement requirements, as Jazz values spare parts, materials and supplies at the lower
of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and net realizable value. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the cost
of inventories recognized as expense was $37,277 (2007 – $34,357).

Changes in accounting estimates
In the second quarter of 2008, Jazz changed its estimate of both the useful life and the expected residual values of aircraft
and certain flight equipment to coincide with the term of the CPA. The revised estimates better reflect the expected useful
life of these assets to Jazz and update the residual value to reflect both the changed useful life and current and expected
market conditions for such aircraft. The changes have been applied prospectively. The change in the basis of depreciation
had the effect of increasing depreciation expense by $436 for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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Future accounting changes
Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
In January 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) announced its decision to replace Canadian GAAP
with IFRS. On February 13, 2008 the AcSB confirmed January 1, 2011 as the mandatory changeover date to IFRS for all
Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. This means that Jazz will be required to prepare IFRS financial statements for
the interim periods and fiscal year ends beginning in 2011. Jazz has created an implementation team, which consists of
internal resources and an external consultant. A changeover plan is being established to convert to the new standards
within the allotted timeline and consist of the following phases:
• Raise awareness and initial assessment – this phase involves performing a high level impact assessment to identify
key IFRS areas that are likely to affect Jazz. Each accounting standard is reviewed under IFRS and is ranked as high,
medium or low priority based on the differences from Canadian GAAP. Also, all relevant employees and board members
are made aware of the changeover and the relevant timelines. Jazz completed this phase in the third quarter of 2008.
• Detailed assessment – each section is reviewed and analyzed for accounting or disclosure differences between
Canadian GAAP and IFRS. Once differences have been identified they are reviewed for potential impacts to existing
accounting policies, information systems and business processes. An action plan is then developed for each impact
area. This phase is currently underway.
• Implementation and review – the action plan developed in the detailed assessment phase is implemented to create,
as necessary, new accounts, system changes, process changes and financial statement models. Accounting policies
are approved, including transition elections in IFRS 1 (First time adoption of IFRS).
Based on initial review, the major differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS that are likely to impact Jazz include, but
are not limited to:
• IFRS 1 – provides entities with a number of optional and mandatory exemptions upon initial adoption of the standards.
The exemption choices are being analyzed and Jazz will implement those determined to be most appropriate.
• Property, plant and equipment – International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 16 requires an entity to break an asset
down to its significant parts upon initial measurement and depreciate assets based on the useful life of the significant
individual components as opposed to the assets as a whole. This could have an impact on the way significant parts of
the aircraft are tracked and depreciated. Also, significant maintenance events must be broken out as a component of
the initial cost and depreciated over the life of the maintenance event. The cost of the maintenance event will then be
re-capitalized and this cycle will continue over the life of the asset.
• Impairment of assets – IAS 36 uses a one step approach for both testing and measurement of impairment, with assets’
carrying values compared directly with the higher of fair value less costs to sell or value in use (which uses discounted
cash flows). This may potentially result in more write-downs where carrying values of assets under Canadian GAAP
were tested for impairment on an undiscounted cash flow basis.
• Recognition of leases – unlike Canadian GAAP, IAS 17 does not provide prescriptive measurements on lease contracts.
As a result all lease contracts will need to be reviewed to determine if they are operating or capital leases based
on whether or not management feels substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership have
been transferred.
• Accounting for defined benefit pension plans and other future employee benefits – IAS 19 requires the past service
costs of defined benefit plans to be recognized on an accelerated basis with vested past service costs expensed
immediately and unvested past service costs recognized on a straight line basis until the benefits become vested.
Under Canadian GAAP, past service costs are generally amortized on a straight line basis over the average remaining
service period. In addition, actuarial gains and losses are permitted to be recognized directly through equity under
IAS 19 rather than through the income statement. For other future employee benefits, all actuarial gains and losses,
as well as all past service costs, must be recognized immediately with no amortization option.
In addition to the sections noted above, there are generally more extensive presentation and disclosure requirements
under IFRS compared to Canadian GAAP. These will be noted in the detailed analysis and will result in additional data
collection where required.
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3.

Property and equipment
			Accumulated
		
Cost amortization	Net
As at December 31, 2008 		
$
$
$

Flight equipment
Facilities
Equipment
Leaseholds		
Assets under capital leases		

188,899
15,815
31,177
37,699
23,201

42,199
2,662
14,490
14,561
3,851

146,700
13,153
16,687
23,138
19,350

		

296,791

77,763

219,028

			
		
Cost
As at December 31, 2007		
$

Accumulated
amortization
$

Net
$

Flight equipment		
Facilities		
Equipment		
Leaseholds		
Assets under capital leases		

181,815
15,647
25,248
36,268
23,201

35,206
2,024
9,538
9,020
1,004

146,609
13,623
15,710
27,248
22,197

			

282,179

56,792

225,387

The net book value of the property and equipment pledged as collateral related to the credit facility at December 31, 2008
was $199,678 (2007 – $203,190). Amortization expense related to property and equipment of $28,926, was recorded for
the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007 – $22,019).
Property and equipment were acquired at an aggregate cost of $nil for the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007 –
$23,201) by means of capital leases.
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4.	Intangible assets
			Accumulated
		
Cost amortization	Net
As at December 31, 2008 		
$
$
$

Indefinite life assets
Jazz tradename		
Operating license
Finite life assets
Employee contracts		

1,700
4,600

–
–

1,700
4,600

6,028

6,028

–

12,328

6,028

6,300

			
		
Cost
As at December 31, 2007		
$

Accumulated
amortization
$

Net
$

1,700
4,600

–
–

1,700
4,600

6,028

5,245

783

12,328

5,245

7,083

			

Indefinite life assets
Jazz tradename		
Operating license		
Finite life assets
Employee contracts		
			

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Partnership recorded amortization of $783 (2007 – $1,588).

5.

Other assets
			

As at December 31,

			
			

2008
$

2007
$

Promissory note receivable, non-interest bearing, repayable
in equal annual instalments over 10 years			
Prepaid aircraft rent and related fees, net of accumulated amortization			
Asset backed commercial paper (NOTE 6)			

419
26,644
2,009

628
28,539
4,589

				

29,072

33,756
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6.

Asset backed commercial paper
As at December 31, 2008, included in other assets is US dollar denominated, third-party sponsored, asset backed
commercial paper (“ABCP”) with an original cost of $5,816 CDN. The ABCP had been classified as Held for Trading
on initial recognition and is measured at fair value at each reporting date. The asset, which was set to mature on
August 16, 2007, was not paid out due to liquidity problems experienced in the ABCP market.
Given the disruption in the third party sponsored ABCP market, a quoted market value of the investment is not available.
Based on the Restructuring of the Canadian Third-Party Structured ABCP (the “Plan”), which was initially approved
June 5, 2008 by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and subsequently the Ontario Court of Appeal, it has been
determined that Jazz’s ABCP investment will be exchanged for Master Asset Vehicle 3 (“MAV3”) Ineligible Asset (“IA”)
tracking notes. The MAV3 IA notes will have a maturity date equal to one year plus the longest maturity of the related
ineligible asset and will maintain exposure to the existing underlying assets. On December 24, 2008, the investors
committee issued a press release confirming an agreement had been finalized with all key stakeholders regarding the
funding of the margin facilities for ABCP. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the governments, together with certain
participants in the restructuring plan will provide, in aggregate, $4,450,000 of additional margin facilities to support the
Plan. Subsequent to December 31, 2008, a motion was brought forward to the Ontario Superior Court of Justice and
the closing process was approved. Thereafter, Jazz received its MAV3 IA notes. Jazz does not believe the fair value
of these notes is materially different than the current carrying value of the ABCP.
Management has reviewed available investment reports and found that 69% of the portfolio’s notional amount is rated
’investment grade’ and there has been one default of the underlying assets since inception of the trust, which represents
0.27% of the total trust value. Accordingly, management has used current market information and other factors at
December 31, 2008 to estimate the fair value of the investment. This was done by analyzing potential outcomes and
discounting the expected future cash flows according to the probability of recovery of principal and interest based on a
maturity date that is in line with the expected conversion of the ABCP into the floating rate notes. Based on management’s
assessment of the value of its investment in ABCP, a fair value loss of $3,852 has been recorded to date. This amount has
been recorded in other non-operating expenses. This estimate is subject to measurement uncertainty and is dependent
on the performance of the underlying assets as well as the market value once trading of the new notes begins. There is
no assurance that the value of the investment will not decline further; therefore, the estimated value of the investment in
ABCP may change in subsequent periods. It has been determined that no additional adjustment to fair value is required
at this time as there has been no change in the expected recovery of the underlying assets and in the discount rates used
in the present value calculation. This situation has had no impact on Jazz’s operations, financial covenants or ability to
meet obligations as they come due. Jazz is not accruing interest on this investment.
The carrying value of this investment of $2,009 is included in other assets.
The net foreign exchange gain recorded on the investment since inception, up to the period ended December 31, 2008,
was $45.
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7.

Long-term debt
The following provides a breakdown of Jazz’s authorized and outstanding credit facilities:
			
Drawn at
			 December 31,
		
Authorized
2008
		
$
$

Drawn at
December 31,
2007
$

Revolving term facility (a)		
Term facility (b)		
Prepaid interest (c)		
Unamortized commitment fee (c)		

35,000
115,000
–
–

–
115,000
(213)
(58)

–
115,000
(767)
(758)

			

150,000

114,729

113,475

(a) The revolving term facility matures on February 2, 2010 and bears interest at rates ranging from Canadian prime rate and US base rate plus 1.75% to
2.75% and the bankers’ acceptance rate and LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.75%. As at December 31, 2008, there were no borrowings under the revolving term
facility, however, the available credit, after deducting letters of credit, bears interest at 0.50%.
Letters of credit
Jazz has issued irrevocable letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $3,382. This amount reduces the available credit under the revolving term facility
and bears interest at 2.875%.
(b) The term facility matures on February 2, 2010 and bears interest at rates ranging from Canadian prime rate and US base rate plus 1.75% to 2.75% and the
bankers’ acceptance rate and LIBOR plus 2.75% to 3.75%. As at December 31, 2008, of borrowings under the term facility, $114,400 were in the form of
bankers’ acceptances with a 90 day term and an effective interest rate of 5.45%. A further $600 was in the form of prime rate advances bearing interest at
5.50%. As at December 31, 2008 Jazz had entered into interest rate swap agreements with third parties in respect of $115,000 of debt which has
effectively resulted in a fixed interest rate of 7.09% until February 2, 2009 and 5.98% until February 2, 2010.
(c) Long term debt is presented net of prepaid interest and unamortized financing charges.

Borrowings under the credit facilities are secured by substantially all the present and future assets of Partnership. The
continued availability of the credit facilities is subject to the Partnership’s ability to maintain certain leverage, debt service
and interest coverage covenants, as well as other affirmative and negative covenants.

8.

Obligations under capital leases
Jazz has entered into capital leases related to aircraft and ground equipment. The obligations are as follows:
			
			

2008
$

2007
$

2008			
2009			
2010			
2011			
2012			
2013			
Thereafter			

–
4,796
4,796
4,764
4,367
4,341
8,008

3,910
3,910
3,910
3,884
3,554
–
10,039

Total minimum lease payments			
Less: Amount representing interest (at rates ranging from 8.755% to 9.450%)			

31,072
7,654

29,207
8,019

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments			
Less: Current portion			

23,418
2,837

21,188
2,119

Obligations under capital leases			

20,581

19,069

Year ended December 31,

A significant portion of the lease payments is payable in US dollars. Interest of $1,895 (2007 – $791) relating to capital
lease obligations has been included in aircraft rent.
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9.

Other long-term liabilities
			
			
			

As at December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

Accrued pension benefit liability (note 17)			
Accrued other future employee benefit liability (note 17)			
Accrued termination benefits, non-current portion 			
Deferred operating lease inducements, non-current portion			

(396)
6,991
–
49,077

4,810
–
59
53,969

				

55,672

58,838

10. Future income taxes
The net deductible temporary difference represented by the differences between the tax bases and carrying values of the
Partnership’s assets and liabilities at December 31, 2008 approximated $482,717 (2007 – $494,718).

11. Partnership Units
Partnership Units
The Partnership may issue an unlimited number of units.
Each unit is issued at a subscription price determined by Jazz GP.
Each unit issued and outstanding shall be of equal rank with any other unit in respect of any manner, no unit having any
preference or any priority of privilege or right whatsoever on any other unit.
A unit may not be divided or split into fractions and the Partnership shall not accept any subscription for, record an
assignment of, or otherwise recognize any interest in less than a whole unit, except as necessary to implement a
subdivision of units.
No partner shall have pre-emptive rights with respect to the issuance of units.
Distribution of units to the public is prohibited.

Allocation of income
Any amount that is allocated to or to be distributed amongst the partners shall be apportioned amongst the holders on the
basis of their respective pro-rata share.
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Distributions
No partner shall have any right to withdraw any amount or receive any distribution from the Partnership unless authorized
by applicable law and agreed to by Jazz GP. Jazz GP shall determine the amount and timing of any distributions. As at
December 31, 2008, Jazz had distributions payable to the Fund of $10,296 (2007 – $10,296).
Units issued and fully paid
			
			

December 31,
2008

December 31,
2007

General Partner
Jazz Air Holding GP Inc.
Units outstanding 		

1

1

Limited Partners
Jazz Air Trust (the “Trust”)
Units outstanding – Beginning of year
Exchanged by ACE for Fund Units under shareholder liquidity agreement		
Exchanged by ACE for Fund Units and contributed to a trust to fund Initial LTIP		

122,865,143
–
–

25,000,000
97,226,920
638,223

Units outstanding – End of year		

122,865,143

122,865,143

ACE Aviation Holdings Inc.
Units outstanding – Beginning of year		
Exchanged by ACE for Fund Units under shareholder liquidity agreement		
Exchanged by ACE for Fund Units and contributed to a trust to fund Initial LTIP		

–
–
–

97,865,143
(97,226,920)
(638,223)

Units outstanding – End of year		
Fund Units held to fund unit based compensation plans

–

–

(749,882)

(728,290)

122,115,261

122,136,854

(NOTE 16)		

Total units outstanding – End of year

On February 9, 2007, ACE exchanged 638,223 of its Partnership Units for 638,223 Fund Units. The 638,223 Fund Units
were contributed to a trust in order to fund grants to employees under Jazz’s Initial LTIP.
On March 14, 2007, pursuant to a statutory plan of arrangement approved in October 2006, ACE exchanged
25,000,000 Partnership Units for an equivalent number of Fund Units. These Fund Units were distributed to ACE’s
shareholders as part of a special distribution. On March 14, 2007, ACE also exchanged an additional 25,000,000
Partnership Units for 25,000,000 of Fund Units in accordance with terms of the Investor Liquidity Agreement.
On March 30, 2007, ACE exchanged 47,226,920 Partnership Units for an equivalent amount of Fund Units.

12. Statement of cash flows – supplementary information
Net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations.
			
			

2008
$

2007
$

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable – trade and other			
Decrease (increase) in spare parts, materials and supplies			
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses			
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities			
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities			

11,730
(8,563)
(4,345)
(7,732)
(9,115)

(12,007)
(10,177)
210
1,414
(10,970)

				

(18,025)

(31,530)
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13. Economic dependence
The transactions between Air Canada and its subsidiaries and the Partnership are summarized in the table below.
			
			

Operating revenue
Air Canada			
Operating expenses
Air Canada			
Air Canada Capital Ltd.			
ACGHS Limited Partnership			

2008
$

2007
$

1,622,589

1,485,963

46,425
92,583
64,870

49,197
91,413
59,534

The following balances with Air Canada and its subsidiaries are included in the financial statements:
			
			
			

Accounts receivable
Air Canada		
ACGHS Limited Partnership			
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Air Canada			
Air Canada Capital Ltd.			
ACGHS Limited Partnership			
ACE Aviation Holdings Inc.			

As at December 31,
2008
$

2007
$

58,353
169

71,173
55

58,752
9,405
14,777
528

63,604
7,584
13,461
557

Capacity Purchase Agreement
The Partnership is party to the CPA with Air Canada, whereby Air Canada purchases the capacity of certain specified
aircraft crewed and operated by the Partnership under the tradename of “Air Canada Jazz” on routes specified by Air
Canada. The CPA has a term of ten years and is renewable for two additional periods of five years. Under this agreement,
the Partnership is required to provide Air Canada with the capacity of the specified aircraft, all crews and applicable
personnel, aircraft maintenance, and airport operations for such flights. Air Canada determines routes and controls
scheduling, sets ticket prices, determines seat inventories, and performs marketing and advertising for these flights.
Air Canada retains all revenue derived from the sale of seats to passengers and cargo services and pays the Partnership
for the capacity provided.
The Partnership is paid fees, on a monthly basis, for the capacity provided. These fees consist of a number of variable
components based on different metrics, including block hours flown, cycles (which are number of take-offs and landings),
number of passengers and number of aircraft covered by the CPA. The rates for these metrics are fixed for annual periods
and vary by aircraft type with current rates in effect until December 31, 2008. In addition, Air Canada is required to
reimburse the Partnership for certain pass-through costs, including fuel, de-icing, navigation, landing and terminal fees,
station provisioning costs, station termination costs, passenger liability insurance and certain employee relocation costs.
As these costs are required to operate the aircraft provided under the CPA, the reimbursement of these costs are included
in revenue. Pass-through costs amounted to $668,557 for the year ended December 31, 2008 (2007 – $556,740).
The fees which are related to controllable costs are paid on the first day of each month based on estimates for that
month which are reconciled at the end of the month for actual amounts and which are paid no later than the 30th day
of the following month. Pass-through costs are reimbursed by Air Canada 30 days following the month in which they
were incurred.
Pursuant to the terms of the CPA, the Partnership and Air Canada agreed to re-set detailed rates (subject to the
terms of the contract, including the controllable target margin requirements) applicable to the period commencing
on January 1, 2009 and ending on December 31, 2011.
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The Partnership is also paid certain performance incentive payments on a quarterly basis related to on-time performance,
controllable flight completion, baggage handling performance and other customer satisfaction criteria. Rates under the
CPA have been established so as to achieve a controllable target margin of 14.09% for the Partnership, excluding
incentive and pass-through revenue, and before the deduction of profit sharing expenses paid to employees as a result
of performance achievements on the CPA services provided to Air Canada.

Margin adjustment
With respect to each calendar year subsequent to January 1, 2006, during the remaining term of the CPA, if the annual
margin for flights provided under the CPA is greater than 14.09%, after deducting employee profit sharing expenses,
Jazz will pay Air Canada an amount equal to 50% of the margin exceeding 14.09%. Margin represents the total operating
revenue from scheduled flights under the CPA less expenses incurred related to such flights, including employee profit
sharing expenses; however, it excludes incentive and pass-through revenue. This margin adjustment for the year ended
December 31, 2008 of $nil (2007 – $4,574) is accounted for as a reduction of revenue.

Master Services Agreement
Under the Master Services Agreement dated September 24, 2004, between the Partnership and Air Canada, Air Canada
provides certain services to the Partnership for a fee. These services include Insurance and Tax Services, Corporate Real
Estate Services, Environmental Affairs Services and Legal Services.
The Master Services Agreement will continue in effect until the termination or expiration of the CPA, but individual services
can be terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the Master Services Agreement.

Other
Air Canada provides certain supplies from third parties, primarily fuel, to the Partnership and subsequently collects
payment from the Partnership. As these transactions and balances merely represent a method of settlement for
transactions in the normal course of business, they have not been separately disclosed. ACGHS Limited Partnership,
which is wholly owned by Air Canada, provides ground handling services to the Partnership.
Substantially all of the trade receivable from Air Canada relates to outstanding balances under the CPA.
The balances in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are payable on normal trade terms and have arisen from the
services provided by the named party.

14. Commitments
The Partnership is committed to the following future minimum lease payments under operating leases for flight equipment
and base facilities that have initial or remaining non-cancellable terms in excess of one year.
			

As at December 31, 2008

				Air Canada
			Other third
and its
			
parties
subsidiaries
			
$
$

Year ending December 31,

2009			
2010			
2011			
2012			
2013			
Thereafter				

13,451
11,839
9,090
5,658
5,095
37,096
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A significant portion of the lease payments is payable in US dollars.
Certain of the aircraft lease agreements have been entered into by Air Canada Capital Ltd. or Air Canada with head lessors
and subleased to the Partnership. Future minimum lease payments that will arise under these leases are listed in the
above table under the heading “Air Canada and its subsidiaries”.

15. Post-employment expenses
The Partnership has recorded pension and other future employee benefit expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008
of $18,049 (2007 – $16,884).

16.	Unit based compensation
The details of Fund Units held under unit based compensation plans discussed in note 2 are as follows:
December 31, 2007

December 31, 2008
Initial LTIP	Ongoing LTIP

Initial LTIP

Ongoing LTIP

Number of Fund Units granted
Number of Fund Units forfeited

638,223
(64,201)

472,542
(59,259)

638,223
(6,000)

201,438
–

		
Number of Fund Units vested

574,022
(237,423)

413,283
–

632,223
(105,371)

201,438
–

Number of Fund Units outstanding, end of year

336,599

413,283

526,852

201,438

Nil

1.55

1.00

2.00

$–
$8.55
$1,850

$2,178
$8.14
$1,224

$–
$8.55
$1,609

$1,695
$8.42
$547

Weighted average remaining life (years)
Cost of units purchased during the year(1)
Weighted average fair value per Fund Unit on date of grant
Compensation expense for the year

(1) The cost of Fund Units purchased under the Ongoing LTIP is not materially different from their fair value at the date they were granted.

Pursuant to the terms of the Ongoing LTIP, Fund Units are purchased on the open market of the Toronto Stock Exchange
and are held by a trustee for the benefit of the eligible employees until their vesting.
During the year, the Fund granted 271,104 Units under the Ongoing LTIP. The weighted average fair value of these Units
was $8.03.

17. Pension and other future employee benefits
The Partnership maintains several registered defined contributions pension plans for eligible employees and a registered
defined benefit plan for Pilots. The Partnership is the plan sponsor for these plans under the Pension Benefits Standard
Act, 1985 (Canada). In addition, the Partnership maintains an unregistered supplementary defined benefit pension plan
which is partially funded for certain employees. Contributions to the supplementary pension plan started being made in
December 2007. The registered and supplementary defined benefit pension plans provide benefits upon retirement,
termination or death based on the member’s years of service and the final average earnings for a specified period.
The Partnership also maintains Other (non-pension) Employee Future Benefits. The Other Employee Future Benefits
include medical and dental benefits provided to Jazz employees on long-term disability and Workplace Safety Insurance
Board (“WSIB”). These benefits cease to be provided when the employee reaches age 65. The sick leave gratuity benefits
represent the payout of sick leave accruals upon or just prior to retirement for eligible employees. The self-insured WSIB
benefits are in respect of self-insured benefits provided to Ontario Jazz employees.
The total expense for the Partnership’s defined contribution plans including two pension plans sponsored by an employee
group and a union respectively, for which the Partnership is obligated to make defined contributions only, for the year
ended December 31, 2008 is $7,097, and for the year ended December 31, 2007 is $6,474.
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Total cash payments made in 2008 for registered pension plans were $18,797, which includes cash payments for the
Registered Defined Benefit Plan of $11,962 (year ended December 31, 2007 – $16,607; $10,345 for the Registered
Defined Benefit Plan). Total cash payments made in 2008 for the Other Employee Future Benefits were $733.
The most recent actuarial valuations of the defined pension benefit plans for funding purposes were as of January 1, 2008
and the next funding valuation will be as of January 1, 2009.
Information about the Partnership’s defined benefit plans and other future employee benefits in aggregate, is as follows:
		
		
Pension Benefits
		
		

2008(1)
$

2007(2)
$

Other Future
Employee
Benefits
2008(3)
$

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year(3)		
Current service cost		
Interest cost		
Plan participants’ contributions		
Benefits paid		
Actuarial (gain) loss 		

105,308
8,963
6,712
6,284
(2,297)
(25,965)

95,541
9,978
5,383
5,549
(3,106)
(8,037)

5,946
1,410
368
–
(733)
995

Benefit obligation, end of year		

99,005

105,308

7,986

Change in plan assets
Fair market value of plan assets, beginning of year		
Actual return on plan assets		
Employer contribution		
Plan participants’ contributions		
Benefits paid		

90,147
(21,317)
19,427
6,283
(2,297)

76,526
953
10,225
5,549
(3,106)

–
–
733
–
(733)

Fair market value of plan assets, end of year		

92,243

90,147

–

Funded status, end of year		
Employer contributions after measurement date		
Unamortized net actuarial loss 		

(6,762)
–
7,158

(15,161)
4,969
5,382

(7,986)
–
995

Accrued benefit asset (liability)		

396

(4,810)

(6,991)

(1) 2008 – Based on a measurement date of December 31, 2008.
(2) 2007 – Based on a measurement date of November 30, 2007.
(3) 2007 – The initial obligation of $5,946 as at December 31, 2007 has been recognized retrospectively as an adjustment to Partners Capital – see NOTE 20.

The accrued benefit liability is included in other long-term liabilities.
Plan assets consist of the following:
			

Pension Benefits

			

2008

2007

Canadian equity			
Debt securities			
International equity			
Short-term and other			

35%
33%
28%
4%

35%
38%
24%
3%

				

100%

100%
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The plan’s assets are invested in a balanced fund and include no significant investment in the Fund, if any, at the
measurement date, December 31, 2008 or November 30, 2007.
Weighted average assumptions used to determine the accrued benefit liability:
		
		
Pension
			

Other Future
Employee
Benefits

2008

2007

2008

Discount rate to determine accrued benefit obligations		
7.10%
Discount rate to determine the pension and benefit cost		
5.75%
Rate of compensation increase
4.00 – 5.00%
Expected return on plan assets		
6.40%
Health care inflation – Select to determine accrued benefit obligation		
n/a
Health care inflation – Select to determine pension and benefit cost		
n/a

5.75%
5.00%
4.00 – 5.00%
6.00%
n/a
n/a

7.10%
5.60%
4.00 – 5.00%
n/a
6.5%
7.1%

The health care inflation assumption was graded down in and after 2012 to 4.5% per annum.
The Partnership’s net defined benefit pension plan and other future employee benefits expense is as follows:
		
		
Pension
			
			

Components of expense
Current service cost (including provision for plan expenses)		
Interest cost		
Actual return on plan assets		
Actuarial (gain) loss 		

Other Future
Employee
Benefits
2007
$

2008
$

8,963
6,712
21,317
(25,965)

9,978
5,383
(953)
(8,037)

1,410
368
–
995

2008
$

Costs arising in the period		
Differences between costs arising in the period and costs recognized
in the period in respect of:
Return on plan assets		
Actuarial (gain) loss		

11,027

6,371

2,773

(27,772)
25,996

(4,050)
8,074

–
(995)

Net periodic pension and benefit cost recognized		

9,251

10,395

1,778

18. Capital disclosures
Jazz’s capital consists of cash, cash equivalents, long-term debt, and Partners’ Capital (excluding accumulated other
comprehensive income).
Jazz’s objective when managing capital is to maximize long-term Unitholder value by:
• maintaining a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital at acceptable risk and preserves the ability to
meet financial obligations; and
• providing a return to Unitholders by delivering monthly cash distributions.
In managing its capital structure, Jazz monitors performance throughout the year to ensure anticipated cash distributions,
working capital requirements and maintenance capital expenditures are funded from operations, available cash on deposit
and, where applicable, bank borrowings. Jazz will make adjustments to its capital structure to meet the objectives of the
broader corporate strategy or in response to changes in economic conditions and risk. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, Jazz may adjust the amount of cash distributions to the Fund, borrow funds and/or issue debt.
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The amount of cash distributions is determined by reference to available operating cash flows, net of property and
equipment acquisition costs and adjustments made with reference to the definition of distributable cash in the limited
partnership agreement of Jazz.
Jazz monitors capital using a number of financial metrics, including (but not limited to):
• The Leverage Ratio defined as long-term debt(1) to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and other
non-operating income and expense (EBITDA);
• The Coverage Ratio defined as EBITDA to interest expense (defined as interest on capital leases, security deposits
and the credit facility); and
• Minimum Cash Balance.
Jazz’s measure of distributable cash and EBITDA may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
The following table illustrates the financial ratios calculated on a trailing twelve-month basis:
		Measure Targets

Leverage Ratio		
Coverage Ratio		
Minimum Cash Balance(2)		

<2.0x
>3.5x
$60,000

2008

2007

0.79
15.72
$131,685

0.78
17.09
$122,781

(1) Debt includes amounts related to term facility, letters of credit and capital leases.
(2) This is a continuous measurement covenant. Jazz has been in compliance since the related agreement was entered into during the fourth quarter of 2007.

19. Financial instruments
Jazz’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, promissory note receivable, ABCP,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, obligations under capital leases and long-term debt.
Jazz, through its financial assets and liabilities, has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and currency risk. Senior management monitors risk levels and reviews risk
management activities as they determine to be necessary.
Interest rate risk
Investments included in Jazz’s cash and cash equivalents earn interest at prevailing and fluctuating market rates, as
Jazz’s objective is to maintain these balances in highly liquid investments. As at December 31, 2008, Jazz’s investments
consisted of bankers’ acceptances and bank deposit notes issued by five Schedule 1 banks. Jazz is exposed to interest
rate fluctuation risk as a result of variable interest rate on long-term debt. Jazz uses interest rate swaps to hedge its
exposure to changes in interest rates, swapping its credit facility variable interest rate payments for fixed interest rate
payments. Jazz has elected to designate its interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges and has no intention of settling these
contracts early. Jazz entered into an interest rate swap agreement with third parties in respect of $115,000 of debt which
has effectively resulted in a fixed interest rate of 7.09% until February 2, 2009. If Jazz had settled these contracts at
December 31, 2008, a payment of $472 by Jazz would have resulted.
In the first quarter of 2008, Jazz entered into a second interest swap agreement with a third party in respect of $57,500
of debt. This swap becomes effective February 2, 2009 and effectively results in a fixed interest rate of 6.23% for the
related portion of the credit facility extension, maturing on February 1, 2010. If Jazz had settled these contracts at
December 31, 2008, a payment of $1,500 by Jazz would have resulted.
In the third quarter of 2008, Jazz entered into a third interest swap agreement with a third party in respect of $57,500
of debt. This swap becomes effective February 2, 2009 and effectively results in a fixed interest rate of 5.73% for the
related portion of the credit facility extension, maturing on February 1, 2010. If Jazz had settled these contracts at
December 31, 2008, a payment of $1,214 by Jazz would have resulted.
A 1% change in the interest rate would not have a significant impact on the net income of Jazz.
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Credit risk
In accordance with its investment policy, Jazz invests excess cash in Government of Canada treasury bills, short-term
Canadian and provincial government debt, bankers’ acceptance notes, term deposits of Schedule 1 banks and
commercial paper rated R-1 high. Jazz manages the credit risk on cash and cash equivalents by ensuring that the
counter-parties are governments, banks and corporations with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. Given the disruption in the third party sponsored ABCP market, Jazz amended its investment policy during the
third quarter of 2007 to prohibit investment in all third party and bank sponsored ABCP, despite any changes on the credit
rating on such issues. With respect to investments in ABCP, refer to note 6.
The amount of accounts receivable disclosed in the balance sheet of $71,618 is net of allowances for bad debts of $4,
estimated by management based on prior experience and its assessment of the current economic environment and the
specific debtor. Approximately 82% of receivables are with one company, Air Canada. Accordingly, Jazz is directly affected
by the financial and operational strength of Air Canada. Jazz does not believe it is subject to any significant concentration
of credit risk other than with Air Canada.
Liquidity risk
Jazz’s objective is to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, as well as to demonstrate compliance with
liquidity covenants on financing contracts. Jazz monitors its cash balances and cash flows generated from operations to
meet requirements. For discussion on timing of cash flows under the CPA with Air Canada refer to note 13 – Economic
Dependence. As at December 31, 2008, the Partnership had $31,168 in unutilized balance of the credit facilities available
and cash and cash equivalents of $131,685. As at December 31, 2008, the Partnership had authorized credit facilities of
$150,000 and drawings of $115,000, against the facilities. Letters of credit totalling approximately $3,382 (2007 – $2,708)
have been issued as security for groundhandling and airport fee contracts, lease payments on rental space and certain
employee benefits. The letters of credit are drawn against the unutilized balance of the credit facilities.
Credit facilities are in place until February 2, 2010 and are provided by a syndicate that consists of seven institutional
lenders, including two US financial institutions which are currently subject to US government relief under the Troubled
Assets Relief Program. Jazz will have to refinance its available credit facilities, and given current market conditions, it is
anticipated that such financing may occur at terms that are less favorable than current terms. Such financing may cause
Jazz to reduce or suspend cash distributions or reduce cash available for planned capital expenditures. Jazz is evaluating
options to raise cash to refinance all or part of its existing debt. These include, but are not limited to, establishing a
replacement bank credit facility, sale and leaseback of owned aircraft which have current market value in excess of
carrying value, application of current cash balances, and potential reduction of cash distributions paid.
Currency risk
Jazz receives revenue and incurs expenses in US and Canadian currency, and as such, is subject to fluctuations as a
result of foreign exchange rate variations. Jazz manages its exposure to currency risk by billing for its services within the
CPA in the underlying currency related to the expenditure. Accordingly, the primary exposure results from balance sheet
fluctuations of US denominated cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and in particular, obligations under capital
leases, which are long-term and so are subject to larger unrealized gains or losses. Jazz minimizes its currency risk by
maintaining a balance of US dollars which is used to pay down US denominated liabilities and replenishes the balance
through US denominated revenues. The amount of US dollar denominated assets was $41,890 and US denominated
liabilities was $56,491 at December 31, 2008. A 1¢ change in the US exchange rate would result in a change in the
unrealized gain or loss of approximately $146.

Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values based on the immediate or short-term maturities of these financial
instruments. Due to current market conditions and related increases in risk premiums on credit facilities, management has
estimated the fair value of the credit facilities at December 31, 2008 to be $110,000. Financial assets included in the
balance sheet include ABCP with an estimated fair value of $2,009 (see note 6 for discussion on determination of fair
value of ABCP).
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Carrying amounts and fair values
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts included in the consolidated balance
sheets, are as follows:
December 31, 2008
Carrying		
Amount	Fair Value
$
$

Financial assets
Held for trading
Cash and cash equivalents
Asset backed commercial paper
Loans and receivables
Accounts receivable
Promissory note
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (includes current portion
of obligations under capital leases)
Distributions payable
Long-term debt
Obligations under capital leases

December 31, 2007
Carrying
Amount
$

Fair Value
$

131,685
2,009

131,685
2,009

122,781
4,589

122,781
4,589

71,618
419

71,618
419

83,348
628

83,348
628

199,883
10,296
114,729
20,581

199,883
10,296
110,000
20,581

203,922
11,208
113,475
19,017

203,922
11,208
113,475
19,017

20. Adjustment to Partners’ Capital
Partners’ capital has been adjusted to reflect previously unrecorded long-term liabilities related to non-pension future
employee benefits in the amount of $5,946 which were assumed on inception of the Partnership, but only recorded in the
second quarter of 2008.

21. Contingencies
In February 2006, Jazz commenced proceedings before the Ontario Superior Court of Justice against Porter Airlines Inc.
(“Porter”) and other defendants (collectively the “Porter Defendants”) after Jazz became aware that it would be excluded
from operating flights from Toronto City Centre (Island) Airport (the “TCCA”). On October 26, 2007, the defendants
counter-claimed against Jazz and Air Canada alleging various violations of competition law, including that Jazz and
Air Canada’s commercial relationship contravenes Canadian competition laws, and claiming $850,000 in damages.
Concurrently with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice proceedings, Jazz commenced judicial review proceedings
against the Toronto Port Authority (“TPA”) before the Federal Court of Canada relating to Jazz’ access to the TCCA.
The Porter Defendants were granted intervener and party status in these proceedings. In January of 2008, Porter filed a
defence and counterclaim against Jazz and Air Canada making allegations and seeking conclusions similar to those in the
Ontario Superior Court counterclaim. Jazz maintains that Porter’s counterclaims in both jurisdictions are without merit.
These counterclaims are being vigorously contested by Jazz in court.
Various other lawsuits and claims that have arisen in the normal course of business are pending by and against the
Partnership and provisions have been recorded where appropriate. It is the opinion of management that final determination
of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or the results of the Partnership.
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Jazz has agreed to indemnify its directors and officers, to the extent permitted under corporate law, against costs and
damages incurred by the directors and officers as a result of lawsuits or any other judicial, administrative or investigative
proceeding in which the directors and officers are sued as a result of their service. Jazz’s directors and officers are covered
by directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. No amount has been recorded in these financial statements with respect to
the indemnification agreements.
Jazz enters into real estate leases or operating agreements, which grant a license to Jazz to use certain premises and/or
operate at certain airports, in essentially all cities that it serves. It is common in such commercial lease transactions for
Jazz as the lessee to agree to indemnify the lessor and other related third parties for tort liabilities that arise out of or relate
to Jazz’s use or occupancy of the leased or licensed premises. Exceptionally, this indemnity extends to related liabilities
arising from the negligence of the indemnified parties, but usually excludes any liabilities caused by their gross negligence
or willful misconduct. Additionally, Jazz typically indemnifies such parties for any environmental liability that arises out of or
relates to its use or occupancy of the leased or licensed premises.
In aircraft and engine financing or leasing agreements, Jazz typically indemnifies the financing parties, trustees acting on
their behalf and other related parties and/or lessors against liabilities that arise from the manufacture, design, ownership,
financing, use, operation and maintenance of the aircraft and engines and for tort liability, whether or not these liabilities
arise out of or relate to the negligence of these indemnified parties, but usually excludes any liabilities caused by their
gross negligence or willful misconduct. In addition, in aircraft and engine financing or leasing transactions, including those
structured as leveraged leases, Jazz typically provides indemnities in respect of certain tax consequences. Jazz carries or
is otherwise the beneficiary of various insurance policies in respect of various risks applicable to the business (including in
respect of tort liability and certain contractual indemnities).
When Jazz, as a customer, enters into technical service agreements with service providers, primarily service providers
who operate an airline as their main business, Jazz has from time to time agreed to indemnify the service provider
against liabilities that arise from third party claims, whether or not these liabilities arise out of or relate to the
negligence of the service provider, but usually excluding liabilities that arise from the service provider’s gross
negligence or willful misconduct.
The maximum amount payable, if any, under the foregoing indemnities cannot be reasonably estimated. The Partnership
carries or is otherwise the beneficiary of various insurance policies in respect of various risks applicable to the business
(including in respect of tort liability and certain contractual indemnities).

22. Subsequent event
Jazz has successfully reached an agreement with Air Canada regarding the establishment of new rates for controllable
costs that will become payable by Air Canada under the CPA in the next three-year period (2009 to 2011, inclusive).
The new rates are retroactive to January 1, 2009.
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